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Front cover image 
The Stone Towers project in Cairo presents architecture of both scale and complexity. The development comprises state-of-the-art business facilities 
with 18 commercial buildings together with landscaped ‘delta’ and basement car parking and servicing. The buildings are configured in two rows 
and vary in height, rising up to a maximum of 12 storeys.  AKT, part of the WYG Group, are the structural engineers for the project. 
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Chairman’s Letter

We have been through 
profound change in the last 
12 months which has seen 
the Company restructure its 
finances, operations, processes 
and senior leadership team to 
ensure it is focused on building 
a sustainable, strong and 
resilient long-term business that 
is better positioned to face the 
opportunities and challenges 
ahead. All of this being 
undertaken against the backdrop 
of a global recession.

The support services sector has seen a major decline 
in valuations, driven by the dramatic reduction in 
demand for services across infrastructure, private 
and residential investment and major publicly funded 
schemes. We, like our peers, have been heavily 
impacted by this market decline. In particular, the 
Group’s overexposure and reliance on certain markets 
in the Republic of Ireland and its diversified Great 
Britain Engineering offering has markedly affected 
trading.

In early 2009 we developed a new strategy for 
the Group which focuses on creating a more 
efficient business structure that is fit for purpose, 
internationalising White Young Green plc core 
capabilities, and creating ’peaks of excellence’ across 
critical and sustainable sectors.

Significant progress has been made in implementing 
this strategy although there remains much still to be 
done to build a stable operating platform to deliver 
predictable and sustainable results for the future and 
create future value for our stakeholders.

To create a fit for purpose business, we continue to 
restructure our business operations and balance sheet. 
We have addressed legacy issues and have acted to 
strengthen the underlying business infrastructure. 
During this process we have incurred very significant 
exceptional costs relating to redundancies, office 
closures, the write down of work in progress and 
trade receivables balances, provisions for professional 
indemnity claims, professional fees, the impairment of 
goodwill, and other related costs.

I am delighted to report that we have now signed 
heads of terms with our Lenders regarding the terms 
of a three year financing facility. These heads of 
terms are not legally binding but have been approved 
by the credit committee of each bank. The level 
of debt on the balance sheet would be reduced 
significantly and the Lenders would subscribe for new 
ordinary shares and new preference shares in White 
Young Green plc. The completion of the proposed 
restructuring is conditional, inter alia, upon execution 
of documentation satisfactory to White Young Green 
plc and its Lenders and on the approval of White Young 
Green plc’s shareholders at an Extraordinary General 
Meeting. It is expected that a shareholder circular 
containing further details of the restructuring and 

“I am 
delighted to 
report that we 
have now signed 
heads of terms with 
our Lenders regarding 
the terms of a three 
year financing facility.”

Mike McTighe
Chairman
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convening the EGM will be sent to shareholders in due 
course. Upon completion of the refinancing the Lenders 
would in aggregate own approximately 60.5 per cent of 
the issued ordinary share capital of White Young Green 
plc and we expect to move the Company’s share listing 
to the Alternative Investment Market.

All of our stakeholders recognise the importance of our 
employees and as part of the refinancing, we propose 
introducing additional equity incentives for directors 
and key employees. The ongoing support of our 
lenders and shareholders is welcome and the Board 
is pleased to have agreed, in principle, a long term 
financing facility that would include committed bonding 
facilities to support our international operations and 
that is appropriate for the Group as a whole.

During the year White Young Green plc has made 
progress in diversifying its geographical presence and 
has also broadened its international service offering 
into core technical areas of expertise including 
engineering, project management, and environmental 
and planning consultancy services. In the last 12 
months, we have developed in countries where we 
already have a strong project based foothold and 
reputation with clients. The Company registered and 
opened a new office in Kazakhstan and plans for 
opening an office in Ukraine are underway. The Middle 
East and Africa continued to show good growth and a 
new office in Pretoria is planned to be followed by one 
in Cairo in the next 12-18 months.

Despite some challenging issues, our commitment 
to quality was recognised by the industry. White 
Young Green plc were awarded a RoSPA Occupational 
Health and Safety Gold Medal Award for 2009 and 
named Consultant of the Year in the Contract Journal 
Construction Industry Awards 2008. We have also 
picked up numerous accolades and project awards 
this year throughout the business including the 
Building Awards Housing Project of the Year (Adelaide 
Wharf), British Construction Industry Award (BCIA) 
Best Building Award (The Yellow Building) and Royal 
Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Award (Curve 
Theatre, Highcross, Pond Meadow, Yellow Building, 
Tyneside Cinema).

To strengthen the executive team, the Board appointed 
David Wilton, Group Finance Director and Graham 
Olver, Group Services Director and Company Secretary. 

“With 
a refreshed 

Board, a new senior 
executive team, and 

proposals for a restructured 
balance sheet, White Young 
Green plc is in the process 

of putting in place the 
fundamental building 

blocks for the 
future.”

Lastly, I took over as Non Executive Chairman of White 
Young Green plc in August this year.

The Board has concluded that the Company should 
change its name from White Young Green plc to WYG 
plc to align the name and branding of the Company 
with the other companies in the Group. A resolution 
to approve the change of name will be put to 
shareholders at the AGM.

With a refreshed Board, a new senior executive team, 
and proposals for a restructured balance sheet, White 
Young Green plc is in the process of putting in place 
the fundamental building blocks for the future. It has 
been a very difficult year for your company. However, 
we are emerging from it better prepared to meet the 
challenges and opportunities of the future.

Mike McTighe
Non Executive Chairman
30 October 2009
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The Business Review has been prepared by the Board for the 
members of White Young Green plc to provide a summary of 
the performance and financial position of the Group in the 
year to 30 June 2009, together with the underlying trends and 
factors which are likely to affect future performance.  

INTRODUCTION
The global economic recession has impacted many 
of our markets with the UK private sector and 
Republic of Ireland experiencing greatest downturn 
in demand. Investment in the private development 
sector has dropped sharply with many schemes 
cancelled or suspended and this is also mirrored 
across house-building infrastructure and land 

regeneration.

The imbalance of the Group’s 
revenues between domestic and 
international markets has created 
severe trading impacts in Great 
Britain/Republic of Ireland and whilst 
swift management action has been 
taken to address this, we anticipate 
that some of the markets served will 
remain at depressed levels for the 
foreseeable future.

The year ended 30 June 2009 has been the most 

challenging in the recent history of White Young 

Green plc. We have implemented major changes 

to be fitter, stronger and better positioned to face 

the challenges ahead. Significant progress has 

been made in implementing our three-part forward 

strategy which is centred on creating a more 

focused and efficient business, internationalising 

our company and creating ‘peaks of excellence’ 

across critical and sustainable sectors. As previously 

announced, decisive action has been taken to  

re-structure our operations with significant 

reductions in headcount and the closure of offices as 

we concentrate on stronger, quality focused regional 

centres. 

We have incurred substantial exceptional costs 

arising from the change programme and we continue 

to focus on working capital management and cash 

generation. Selective but necessary investment 

is being made in strengthening our management 

team and in information systems. Furthermore, 

improvements are being made to our governance 

framework.

We are pleased to report that agreement in principle 

has been reached with our lenders regarding a new 

three-year financing structure which would provide a 

strong foundation on which the business can grow.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
In the year to 30 June 2009, gross revenue 

decreased by 7% to £261.6m (2008: £282.1m).  

Revenue attributable to third parties, on which we 

don’t make a margin, decreased to £47.7m (2008: 

£50.0m). Net revenue, which reflects the value 

of work done by our people, decreased by 8% to 

£213.9m (2008: £232.1m).

The profit performance reflects both the challenging 

market conditions and the major restructuring of 

the Group. Operating profit before the amortisation 

Business Review

Paul Hamer
Chief Executive Officer

David Wilton
Group Finance Director
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of acquired intangibles and before exceptional costs 

(exceptional and other items), decreased by 36% to 

£17.0m (2008: £26.4m). There were no acquisitions 

completed during the year. Operating loss after 

exceptional and other items was £123.7m (2008: 

£22.2m profit). Operating margin on net revenue 

was 7.9% (2008: 11.4%). The profit before taxation 

and before exceptional and other items was £12.1m 

(2008: £21m) which is in line with the profit forecast 

announced in the Interim Management Statement 

on 18 May 2009. Exceptional and other items were 

£141m (2008: £4.2m).

Basic Earnings per share were 17.6p (2008: 31.6p) 

adjusted for the exceptional and other items referred 

to above.  

Cash generated from operations decreased to 

£12.5m (2008: £31.0m) and represents 74% (2008: 

117%) of operating profit before exceptional and 

other items. In May 2009, we converted €38 million 

of debt into Sterling to reduce exposure taken earlier 

in the financial year to Euro denominated debt.

Net debt at the year end was £85.3m (2008: 

£68.2m) which represented a significant reduction 

from the half year figure of £91.5m. The reduction 

in the second half is a creditable performance 

bearing in mind the payment of £3.1m of additional 

consideration in respect of the acquisition of PH 

McCarthy Consulting Engineers Limited and the 

payment of £7.6m of exceptional cash costs arising 

on the restructuring of the Group. These net 

debt figures are consistent with those previously 

disclosed and include both cash balances held 

within our captive insurance company and restricted 

cash balances held predominantly within the 

International business unit. The net debt excluding 

these two categories at the year end was £88.7m.  

The comparable figures for 30 June 2008 and 

31 December 2008 were £71.6m and £94.4m 

respectively. We believe that the revised definition 

presents a fairer view of the net debt position as 

it only reflects cash that is readily available to the 

Group.

Our Board is encouraged by the prospects for the 

future albeit in generally difficult markets. The order 

book now stands at £260m. We have changed the 

way we record and monitor our order book such that 

the disclosed figure reflects only secured contracts 

and approved purchases under framework orders.  

Within the order book are international orders of 

€153 million.  Comparable figures prepared on the 

same basis are not available for the previous year. 

  

DIvIDEND
As we continue to focus on the generation and 

preservation of cash, no final dividend is proposed.  

No interim dividend was paid. The terms of the 

proposed refinancing include a restriction prohibiting 

the payment of a dividend whilst the facilities remain 

outstanding and until the preference shares are 

redeemed in full.

“Our three-part 
strategy, adopted in 

January 2009, is to create 
a more focused and efficient 

business, internationalise 
our Company and create 

‘peaks of excellence’ across 
critical and sustainable 

sectors.”
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“Initiatives 
have been 

undertaken to mobilise 
our comprehensive 

strengths, which have 
historically been focused on the 

UK and Republic of Ireland, 
into selected overseas 

markets on a cost effective 
and low risk basis.”

sTRATEGY
Our three-part strategy, adopted in January 2009, 

is to create a more focused and efficient business, 

internationalise our company and create ‘peaks of 

excellence’ across critical and sustainable sectors.  

The first part of the strategy is to create a “fit for 

purpose” Group. This has involved right sizing the 

business against the changing marketplace and 

has been largely completed. We have undertaken 

a further review of the work in progress and trade 

receivable position and have taken a substantial 

exceptional charge in respect of a provision against 

these balances at the year end in addition to the 

provision taken at the half year. We have also taken 

swift and substantial measures to reduce costs.  

This process started in the first half of the financial 

year and has been substantially completed by the 

year end. These necessary steps will ensure we 

emerge from the current economic recession with 

a leaner and more competitive shape, which will 

provide a fundamental platform for future growth.  

All five of our business units and head office have 

been involved in this process, particularly the UK 

Engineering and Ireland business units. Across 

the Group there have been significant headcount 

reductions and office closures. There has also been 

a focus on cash management, the strengthening 

of the management teams and the introduction of 

new processes and procedures to strengthen the 

governance environment.

The second part of the strategy is to internationalise 

White Young Green plc and continue to build on our 

international business in five key geographic regions 

where we have established a strong position across 

growing and funded markets. Initiatives have been 

undertaken to mobilise our comprehensive strengths, 

which have historically been focused on the UK 

and Republic of Ireland, into selected overseas 

markets on a cost effective and low risk basis. These 

initiatives are ongoing and are predicated on building 

our existing relationships with major blue-chip 

clients.

The third part of the strategy 
is to focus on the creation 
of ‘peaks of excellence’ by 
identifying and building on 
core areas of strength in 
the UK and overseas, whilst 
instigating cultural change and 
the retrospective integration of 
past acquisitions. This part of 
the strategy is at a relatively 
early stage although the 
culture of focusing on quality is 
now firmly embedded into the 
Group.      

Business Review continued
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ACqUIsITIONs 
In the past White Young Green plc has been a highly 

acquisitive company. There were no acquisitions 

during this financial year, but there were payments 

of additional consideration in respect of past 

acquisitions totalling £8.0m.  

BOARD
There have been extensive changes at Board level 

during the year. Denis Connery, Commercial Director 

and Company Secretary, and Lawrie Haynes, Chief 

Executive, left the Group on 5 November 2008 

and 6 January 2009 respectively. Following Lawrie 

Haynes’ departure, Peter Wood, the then Chairman, 

agreed to increase his time in the business and 

Paul Hamer, previously Chief Operating Officer, was 

appointed Group Managing Director. On 10 February 

2009, David Wilton was appointed Group Finance 

Director and Robert Hartley, the previous Finance 

Director, took on the role of Group Services Director 

in addition to his role as Company Secretary. On 11 

March 2009, we unfortunately had to announce that 

Peter Wood would be stepping down as Chairman, 

and as a member of the Board, for personal and 

family reasons on 31 March 2009. At that time Brian 

Duckworth was appointed Non Executive Chairman 

until the Board made a long term appointment in 

due course. Paul Hamer became Chief Executive 

Officer. At the same time, Robert Hartley notified the 

Board of his intention to resign as Group Services 

Director and Company Secretary and to leave the 

Group which he subsequently did on 14 April 2009, 

when David Wilton took on the role of Company 

Secretary.  

On 31 July 2009 Mike McTighe’s appointment as 

Chairman was announced, as was Graham Olver’s 

appointment as Group Services Director and 

Company Secretary, with effect from 3 August 2009.  

Brian Duckworth stepped down as Chairman and left 

the Board on 3 August 2009. On 31 July 2009, the 

Company also announced that after 12 years as a 

Non Executive Director, John Richardson has decided 

to retire from the Board. John has, as a consequence 

of the proposed refinancing subsequently agreed 

to remain as a director of the Company until 31 

December 2009 and will be seeking re-election at 

the next Annual General Meeting. We thank Brian for 

his major contribution to the development of WYG.  

The Board has initiated a search for two new Non 

Executive Directors, one of whom will be appointed 

as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

EMPLOYEEs
We are a people business and our success is 

wholly dependent upon the commitment and 

professionalism of our staff. The financial year was 

marked by a significant reduction in headcount 

across the Group and the introduction of labour 

cost-saving arrangements in the face of the global 

economic recession. Difficult decisions have had to 

be taken in the interests of the Group, none of which 

have been taken lightly by the Board. We remain 

committed to the attraction, development and 

 
“We are a 

people business 
and our success is 

wholly dependent upon 
the commitment and 
professionalism of 

our staff.”



White Young Green plc Annual Report 20098

Business Review continued

• as part of the total reduction in borrowings 

of approximately £50m, the lenders will be issued 

£30m of preference shares for conversion of £30 

million of outstanding borrowings

• the proposed restructuring would require 

shareholder approval at an extraordinary general 

meeting, with the lenders having agreed to defer 

testing of covenants until after the Extraordinary 

General Meeting, or 14 December 2009, 

whichever is the earlier

• the purpose of the new employee benefit 

trust would be to provide share incentives for 

directors, key managers and employees

• once finalised, the precise details of the 

proposed restructuring will be set out in more 

detail in a circular, to be sent to shareholders in 

due course.

• the Directors intend, should the restructuring 

be approved by shareholders, to cancel the 

admission of the ordinary shares to the Official 

List and to trading on the London Stock 

Exchange’s market for listed securities and to 

apply for admission of the ordinary shares to 

trading on AIM.

At the date of this report certain uncertainties 

exist which are disclosed in note 1 to the financial 

statements.

ExCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMs
As previously announced, we have incurred 

substantial exceptional costs in the financial year.  

These exceptional costs arose predominantly 

from the restructuring of the Group, and relate 

to redundancies and office closure costs, the 

retention of professional staff to enable us to deliver 

high quality services into the markets in which we 

operate. 

THE REsTRUCTURING
The Company has been in extensive discussions 

with its Banks and has considered various means 

of re-balancing its capital structure and reducing 

the Company’s level of net borrowings. This follows 

a lengthy period of negotiations that started in 

February 2009, when we published our interim 

results for the six months to 31 December 2008 and 

announced a potential breach of a banking covenant. 

The proposed restructuring involves the conversion 

to equity of a significant proportion of the Group’s 

bank borrowings together with refinanced three year 

committed borrowing facilities. The Board believes 

that this proposed debt to equity exchange and 

the borrowing facilities would provide a material 

strengthening of the Company’s capital structure and 

financial position.

This proposed restructuring comprises the following 

outline terms:

• the proposed conversion of approximately 

£50m of the Group’s indebtedness into new 

ordinary shares and new preference shares in 

the Company. In addition, the Company has 

agreement in principle with the lenders to put 

in place approximately £58m of refinanced 

debt facilities and €38m of committed bonding 

facilities, each with a three-year term

• on completion of the restructuring, the 

lenders would own approximately 60.5% of 

the enlarged issued ordinary share capital, 

while a new employee benefit trust would own 

approximately 24.5% and existing shareholders 

approximately 15%
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                              Year to 30 June 
             2009                  
                £m

Employee termination costs         9.0

Office closure costs         20.6

Work in progress and trade receivables provisions       20.5

Professional indemnity claim provisions        5.7

Professional fees          3.4

Impairment of goodwill         77.2

Other restructuring costs         2.0

Finance costs         0.4

Exceptional items         138.8

Amortisation of acquired intangibles         2.2

Exceptional and other items         141.0

We have restructured to focus on areas of strength 

and opportunity to be well positioned to benefit 

when overall economic conditions improve.  We are 

investing, and will continue to invest to provide a 

strong platform for the future.  

OPERATING PERFORMANCE
The operating performance in the year to 30 

June 2009 reflected both the challenging market 

conditions, particularly in the second half of the 

financial year, and also the profound restructuring 

process across the Group.  Gross revenue decreased 

by 7% to £261.6m (2008: £282.1m). Conditions 

in the private sector have been challenging and 

there is likely to be strong pressure on public sector 

spending in the short to medium term. In direct 

contrast, our international markets continue to 

experience strong demand and present a major 

Group opportunity for selective and sustainable 

growth.

Table 1

writedown of work in progress and trade receivables 

balances, provisions for professional indemnity 

claims, professional fees arising in connection 

with a prospective offer and fees arising on the 

refinancing and the impairment of goodwill and 

other general restructuring costs. A significant 

element of the overall exceptional cost involves the 

creation of provisions and does not represent an 

immediate cash cost, and in the case of the goodwill 

impairment will not incur a cash cost in the future.  

Other items relate to the amortisation of customer 

relationship and order book intangible assets. The 

exceptional and other items are summarised below 

(see Table 1):

OUTLOOk
Trading conditions remain challenging, although 

there are variations across the differing markets 

served by the Group.  There remains a lack of 

confidence and liquidity in many areas in which we 

trade, but there are also some encouraging signs in 

respect of opportunities and new contract wins.

Trading for the financial year to date is in line with 

the Board’s expectations.  
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Burnley students Learn In style
We provided civil, structural and building 

services to the new £64 million Burnley College 
development. The former gasworks site was 
transformed to provide the highest quality 

educational facility with maximum flexibility to 
accommodate future expansion and potential 

changes to the curriculum 
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WYG ENGINEERING
WYG Engineering has experienced 

recessionary pressure in several of its 

markets which has resulted in an overall 

reduction of gross and net revenues. 

Against this backdrop, the management 

team has acted swiftly in restructuring 

the business unit into a more efficient 

operation, configured to align with client 

demand. Greater emphasis has been placed 

on reducing debtors and aged debtor levels 

and making efficiency improvements to its 

working practices.

 

Over the year, gross revenue reduced by 

20% to £76.2m (2008: £94.8m), net revenue 

reduced by 21% to £69.3m (2008: £88.2m) 

and operating profit before exceptional and 

other items reduced by 60% to £2.1m (2008: 

£5.3m).  Operating margin on net revenue 

decreased to 3% (2008: 6%) as a result of 

the reduction in revenue noted above.

In line with the Group’s 
three-part strategy, our focus 
has been on creating ‘peaks 
of excellence’ across critical 
and sustainable sectors 
where we have a strong 
reputation, good experience 
and there is evidence of 
continued spending. These 
are education, health care, 
defence, regeneration, rail 
and highways.  

We have taken decisive action to create a 

more efficient and streamlined business that 

is aligned to the changing demands of the 

market and, at the beginning of the financial 

year, we carried out a pre-planned operational 

re-structuring to create three primary divisions, 

Buildings, Rail and Highways. 

 

Our Buildings division continues to enjoy an 

award winning reputation in key regional 

centres across Great Britain which underpin 

and complement the high quality capability 

and reputation that is led by Adams Kara 

Taylor (AKT) in London. A combination of 

quality and innovation has resulted in AKT, 

a strategic acquisition made by White Young 

Green plc in 2006, becoming critical to the 

success of a truly enviable range of award 

Nuclear Industry Gets Centre Of Excellence, Workington, Cumbria
Energus Headquarters offers a wide range of training opportunities 
to promote world-class skills and career pathways in the nuclear 
industry. WYG provided project management, civil, structural and 
building services advice to the £19 million centre of excellence which 
includes lecture theatres, workshops and conference facilities.
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care, education and defence. NHS estates 

departments and local primary care have been 

significant sources of work particularly in acute 

hospitals. We have secured repeat and new 

business from this important sector through 

focus on client needs, delivery of service and 

deployment of key quality resources. We have 

developed long standing strategic corporate 

relationships, particularly with leading 

contractors, and have benefited from the 

Government’s ‘Building Schools for the Future’ 

(BSF) initiative which has seen large scale 

investment. Key reputation enhancing projects 

were delivered in Nailsea, Nottingham and 

Burnley and further schemes have been won 

in Cheltenham and Essex BSF. Furthermore, 

we are supply chain partners in four teams for 

the second wave of the National Academies 

Framework.

 

White Young Green plc is 
ranked by leading industry 
journal, New Civil Engineer, 
as a top five consultant as 
defined by turnover in the 
defence sector.   
 

By working with WYG Management Services 

we are able to enhance  our collective service 

offering. Although the location, mix and 

proportion of schemes will change as defence 

needs vary, we expect this work to continue. 

In our Rail division, Network Rail’s strategic 

winning and iconic structures. Demand for this 

service remains, albeit at reduced volumes. 

Examples of our work include the Stirling Prize 

winner Peckham Library in London, the Phaeno 

Building in Germany, the Yellow Building in 

London and Pond Meadow in Guildford.  

 

Across our other offices in Great Britain we 

continue to provide a high quality service and 

project delivery and to build our reputation for 

client care. We are recognised for this through 

award winning projects such as the Corby 

Rail Station Scheme which won the Institution 

of Highways and Transportation’s Effective 

Partnership award. 

 

Publicly funded development has also provided 

a sustainable income stream for us in health 

Business Review continued

All Aboard Corby’s New Rail Platform
Winner of the IHT “Effective Partnerships” Award 2009, the Corby 
Railway station project was commissioned to deliver the station 
ready for the arrival of the first train in December 2008.  WYG’s 
role included project management, feasibility, preliminary design, 
planning, detailed design and construction supervision.
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business plan for 2007 sets out ambitious  

levels of investment and growth. The 

implementation period was five years, and 

in 2008, it remained disappointingly slow 

with major opportunities slow to evolve into 

investigation and design stages. We are 

lead designer on a number of major projects 

including Edinburgh Waverley Station, 

Axminster, Tunbridge Wells, Edinburgh to 

Glasgow Improvement Programme (jointly 

with Transport for Scotland) and North London 

Lines. We are first tier suppliers on all of 

these significant schemes and, in accordance 

with National Rail’s strategic business plan, 

we expect levels of spending to increase from 

January 2010 onwards.  

 

Our revenues in our Highways division have 

remained stable in the context of a reducing 

market. We expect the market to continue 

to soften but, due to the long term nature of 

our commissions, we do not anticipate any 

reduction in demand for our services.

 

In summary, the trading 
conditions across our 
markets have, and continue 
to be, mixed and challenging.  
However, WYG Engineering 
has created a platform 
for future success that 

should enable it to deliver 
sustainable profit and growth 
in future years. 

Monsoon Hq Is Dressed To Impress
The £32 million flagship headquarters in London for Monsoon 
Accessorise was highly commended at the 2008 World Architecture 
Festival. AKT, part of the WYG Group, achieved an integrated design, 
with full height in-situ concrete columns forming an exoskeleton on 
the outside, complementing the sophisticated facade engineering.
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Business Review continued

WYG Drives McLaren To New Premises
Savell Bird & Axon, part of the WYG Group, helped 
to fast-track a planning application giving McLaren 
Automotive the go-ahead to build its new state-of-

the-art production centre in Woking



White Young Green plc Annual Report 2009 15

position as one of the leading retail planning teams 

in the country; our transport planning revenues 

have grown during 2008/9 suggesting that we 

have gained market share of a falling market in 

this field. Some of our environmental consulting 

services – notably those linked to strict regulation 

and government penalty or incentive regimes, such 

as asbestos management and renewable energy, 

have also experienced considerable growth during 

the year.  

Nearly 50% of our environmental work in 2007/08 

related to the clean-up of brownfield land. This 

sector has experienced a reduction in fee income 

as instructions on new sites dried up in the second 

half of 08/09 and as site owners deferred clean up 

programmes.  We have significantly reduced our 

headcount and introduced flexible working to align 

our resources and costs to the future demand for 

our services. 

WYG ENvIRONMENT PLANNING 
TRANsPORT
Our environmental, planning and transport planning 

activities were amalgamated in 2008 to form WYG 

Environment Planning Transport. These consulting 

services are largely focused on serving the early 

permission stages of site or project development.  

WYG Environment Planning Transport is one of the 

market leaders in the provision of these services and 

also provides one of the broadest ranges of services 

to this market.  

Over the year, gross revenue decreased by 3% to 

£53.8m (2008: £55.3m), net revenue decreased 

by 1% to £45.6m (2008: £46.0m) and operating 

profit before exceptional and other items reduced 

by 20% to £6.3m (2008: £7.9m). Operating margin 

on net revenue fell to 14% (2008: 17%) largely as 

a result of low utilisation in those disciplines that 

experienced down turns in work.

We faced a challenging 
market environment, as the 
industry of site acquisition and 
development shrank in the 
face of credit shortages, falling 
demand for residential units 
and falling commercial rents. 
Despite these factors we have 
broadly maintained revenues 
and operating profitability while 
undertaking, in some specific 
areas, necessary restructuring.

The majority of our planning and environmental 

planning businesses have largely succeeded in 

maintaining revenues as we continue to work on 

longstanding client schemes and to enhance our 

Bristol Royal Infirmary set To Benefit From specialist 
Helicopter Landing Platform
WYG Planning & Design helped the University Hospitals Bristol NHS 
Foundation Trust to secure planning permission to build a specialist 
helicopter landing platform on the roof of the Queen’s Building, Bristol 
Royal Infirmary
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Business Review continued

ENvIRONMENT
In Environment we have had a difficult and uneven 
year with volatile and unpredictable market conditions. 
However, our wide range of services and clients 
reduced the impact of the downturn across many 
parts of the business. Costs have been minimised and 
support services rationalised in order to maximise 
profitability. 

In some disciplines, such as ecology, asbestos, 
noise and air, the order book has held up well and 
we consider that we have gained market share 
of consulting revenues from the competition.
Other disciplines, which are heavily dependent on 
construction, such as geo-environmental services, 
have been restructured accordingly to manage a 
decreasing workload and, in addition to reduction 
in work volumes, pricing and profit margins have 
been affected. Against this backdrop, there appear 
to be signs for optimism; with visible pipelines in 
certain sectors and some large geo-environmental 
opportunities on the horizon. 

With a new and efficient business structure, we are 
ready to respond in areas where the market recovers 
quickest, including investing in sustainability services 
which brings together a strong team to build on our 
current track record. We believe that this sector will 
grow steadily despite any recessionary focus in the 
wider economy, due to the rising regulatory burden 
concerning carbon and other aspects of climate 
change.

PLANNING
Against a very challenging economic background, 

WYG Planning & Design achieved a marginal increase 

in business compared with 2008. Profitability was, 

however, reduced as a result of recognising and writing 

down trade debtor balances and work in progress. The 

order book is down on 12 months ago but still stands 

at 80% of budgeted net revenues. 

Our business has held up strongly in key sectors, 

notably retail, regeneration and public sector services. 

We continue to provide advice to retail developers on 

major schemes across the country. As regards public 

sector work, we have undertaken key projects for the 

Department for Communities and Local Government, 

providing research into and advising on improvements 

to the planning system; we have continued to provide 

support for many local authority clients in policy 

making, development control and master-planning. 

We provide services under a number of public sector 

framework agreements to central government in 

England and Wales and to the Regional Development 

Agencies. Towards the year end, the house building 

sector was beginning to show signs of recovery and 

our widely diversified portfolio of business activity has 

also held us in good stead with continuing demand for 

services in the health care, education, minerals, energy 

and private client sectors.

In line with the three-part strategy of creating a fit 

for purpose business, we made a limited number of 

redundancies mainly in our design teams, although our 

team in Milton Keynes, newly-established at the start 

Cleaning Carbon Footprints 
We were appointed by National Grid to quantity the carbon 
performance of its clean up activities on a number of sites, inform 
corporate reporting objectives and help the organisation achieve its 
commitment of 80% CO2 reduction by 2050.
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of the year, has created a momentum which appears to 

bode well for the year ahead.

A growing feature of our business is the value to 

clients of being able to package a stream of specialist 

WYG skills in support of development proposals so 

as to improve streamline delivery and coordinate 

management of project inputs.

TRANsPORT
During the year, orders and workload have remained 
steady although at a lower level than experienced 
in the previous year and the management team has 
taken speedy action to reduce costs through a small 
number of redundancies and removing non business 
critical expenditure.  

Demand from certain key clients has remained 
robust during the recession including Sainsburys, 
Land Securities and National Grid Property. Public 
Sector bodies including county councils, district 
councils and the Highways Agency also continue to 
supply a steady flow of work.  

As part of our strategy and in support of our existing 
client-base, a new transport planning operation was 
established in Edinburgh and this has a growing 
workload with a positive order book and provides 
advice for all Sainsburys’ projects in Scotland.

Elsewhere in the UK, we continue to be appointed 
to advise major land owners and developers on 
strategic, sustainable urban extensions. We have 
been appointed by Land Securities as strategic 
transport advisers on their proposals for between 
10,000 and 20,000 residential units at North Harlow.  
In Rugby, we have been appointed by a joint 
venture between BT, Arriva and Prologic to advise 
on development of a sustainable urban extension of 
over 6,000 residential units.

We have also been appointed by BT to advise 
on their site search for wind farm projects.  
Furthermore, we have advised McLaren on their 
proposals for a new production car factory of some 
37,000 sqm in Woking.  

Redeveloping swansea’s Waterfront
WYG acted as consultant engineer for the redevelopment of over 
50 hectares of industrial land at Swansea Waterfront. As well as 
providing environmental services, WYG created an outline strategy 
document for the reclamation of the Queens Dock.

On the international front, transport planning has 
made a senior appointment to service transport 
related work being commissioned by the European 
Commission. This is already bearing fruit with 
proposals submitted for a number of major projects 
and involvement of UK towns in demonstration 
schemes. We have also significantly enhanced our 
links with WYG International offices in Poland, the 
Gulf and Turkey.

Overall and against a mixed 
trading landscape, WYG 
Environment Planning Transport 
has continued to perform in its 
key markets and streamlined 
its wider operation to ensure 
it continues to provide a high-
quality, value-added service to 
its clients in an efficient and 
effective manner.
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New Research Complex For 
southampton University 

Trench Farrow, part of the WYG Group, provided 
project management expertise including coordinating           
design consultants and the construction management 
contractor on the £55 million Mountbatten research 

complex
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our public sector projects are in support of estate 
rationalisation and development driving cost savings 
for Government. We are therefore less exposed to 
possible cuts in public spending as much of the work 
is in committed programmes to deliver savings in 

budget. 

In line with the three-part strategy to create 

a fit for purpose business, we have introduced 

flexible working arrangements and implemented 

redundancies in areas where we are experiencing 

a slow order book and have rationalised our 

operating centres to retain critical mass in key 

office locations which match client demand. We 

have also successfully transferred work previously 

undertaken by third parties to our in-house teams 

and allocated employees to sectors that continue to 

show solid demand. This puts us in the best position 

to retain skilled employees, ready for the upturn 

in key sectors such as commercial and residential 

development.  

WYG MANAGEMENT sERvICEs
WYG Management Services is the project 

management, property management, cost 

consultancy and safety management division of 

the Group. We are known to our clients under 

three brands; WYG Management Services, Tweeds 

and Trench Farrow. The utilisation of these well 

established and highly regarded brands in the 

market has proved a successful strategy in the face 

of the challenging trading conditions. 

Over the year, gross revenue decreased by 18% to 

£28.5m (2008: £34.6m), net revenue decreased by 

20% to £24.3m (2008: £30.4m) and operating profit 

before exceptional and other items reduced by 24% 

to £3.2m (2008: £4.2m). Operating margin on net 

revenue fell to 13% (2008: 14%).

 

Market sectors and trading 
conditions continue to vary 
across our client base with cost 
consultancy most exposed to the 
challenging economic cycle and 
the downturn in commercial and 
residential development.  This has 
seen the proportion of revenue 
generated from the public sector 
increase to 64% from 46% last year.

Whilst the proportion of our public sector turnover 
has increased in response to market conditions, we 
have been successful in transferring this additional 
workload to improve the balance in offices more 
dependent on private sector clients. Our forward 
strategy is to retain our private sector capability 
which is vital for when the market cycle returns 
to support this client base. Furthermore, much of 

Easing Congestion On The M25
WYG Management Services was appointed by Connect Plus M25 Ltd 
to provide Construction Design Management Coordinator services 
on the Design, Build, Finance and Operate (DBFO) scheme for 
enhancement of Sections two, four and six of the M25 motorway.
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We have retained an involvement, albeit with a 

reduced input, in many of our major residential 

urban extension projects. It is pleasing to note 

that many of our residential development clients 

are now looking to re-engage on projects that 

have been delayed by market pressure over the 

last twelve months. We remain very active in the 

social and affordable housing market as many 

stock transfer and Residential Social Landlord 

projects have been unaffected by market 

downturn. We also continue to be successful in 

the Education sector having secured frameworks 

with Partnerships for Schools and more directly 

with Local Education Authorities. 

Whilst the corporate and end user office market 

remains slow, we have been appointed on  

re-planning projects as our existing clients look to 

make the most efficient use of their real estate. 

Some of the larger mixed use development 

schemes have been delayed in the current 

market; however we continue to provide services 

in this area. In the North West of England we are 

working closely with Neptune Developments and 

have ongoing appointment as Employers Agent, 

Quantity Surveyor and Construction Design 

Management (CDM) for the Mann Island and New 

Brighton Developments in Liverpool.

WYG Management Services is a high quality, high 

value provider of client support and advisory 

services with much of our historic and recent 

workload generated through repeat business 

based on referral, reputation and long term client 

relationships. 

During the course of the 
year we secured a number of 
awards including the British 
Council of Offices for the 
redevelopment of 55 Baker 
Street for London and Regional 
Developments, whilst the 
Mountbatten Project at the 
University of Southampton 
secured a Royal Institute of 
British Architects award. 

Our understanding of innovative procurement in 

challenging circumstances was proved in the delivery 

of the Mountbatten Project. The redevelopment of 

the complex followed a devastating fire and created 

cutting edge research facilities for computer and  

opto-electronic schools.

Business Review continued

Improving Health Care In The Caribbean 
Following successful delivery of independent certifier services for an 
orthopaedic hospital in Runcorn, WYG Management Services was 
appointed by Interhealth Canada in a similar role for two hospitals on 
the Turks and Caicos Islands.
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The University was an existing client and valued 

our forward thinking procurement proposals so 

much that our appointment was extended to 

include the installation and commissioning of the 

specialist research equipment. This expertise will 

stand us in good stead for the future.

We are building on this award winning track 

record to secure further business in new sectors 

and overseas markets to counteract the downturn 

in some of our clients’ activities in the UK. This 

focus has resulted in increased activity overseas, 

as we look to build on existing WYG International 

presence in Poland, Russia and Turkey. In 

addition we are actively targeting the Middle 

East and North Africa having provided executive 

project management services for the £300m retail 

and leisure development of Cairo Festival City 

in Egypt. Furthermore, we continue to support 

Interhealth Canada and the Government of Turks 

& Caicos Islands in the development of two 

modern $80m hospitals on the islands of Grand 

Turk and Providenciales. These hospitals will 

become the basis of a full health care service 

where we are providing independent adviser 

services during construction and commissioning.  

Our involvement on this project followed the 

successful completion of an orthopaedic hospital 

for Interhealth Canada in Runcorn.

As a result of our planned diversification into 

new sectors, we have also been successful in 

our appointment to provide construction safety 

management services for the £1.25bn PFI 

project to widen the M25 motorway.

WYG Management Services 
continues to sustain and 
secure work across its key 
markets and through its 
ongoing reputation for  
high-quality services, will look 
to build on its position in the 
public sector and align itself 
for the private sector upturn.

Double Developments In Liverpool
Tweeds, part of the WYG Group, is providing quantity surveying, 
construction design management co-ordinating and employers agent 
services on the Mann Island and New Brighton developments in 
Liverpool.
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Health Care At The Heart Of New Hospital
WYG Ireland was appointed by Health Estates 

and the South East Health & Social Care Trust to 
provide full mechanical and electrical engineering 
and quantity surveying/cost management services 

on the New Downe Hospital in Downpatrick
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WYG Ireland has seen a decline in its revenues 

and profitability. During this period the 

management team has taken the necessary 

restructuring steps to ensure the cost base is 

in line with the current needs of the business 

and resource levels are aligned to the present 

and future anticipated workload.

During the course of the year 
we initiated a programme to 
reduce our cost base to reflect 
the market conditions with 
every facet of the business 
scrutinised.

WYG IRELAND
The Irish economy has seen a severe and 

continued decline across all construction, 

development and infrastructure sectors over 

the last 12 months which has impacted WYG 

Ireland and the wider support services market.

Ernst & Young’s Economic Eye Forecast 

(May 2009) predicts that the economy in the 

Republic of Ireland will shrink by 8.9% in 2009 

with a modest contraction continuing into 2010 

before a recovery in 2011.

Over the year, gross revenue decreased by 

3% to £50.3m (2008: £52m), net revenue 

decreased by 8% to £43.1m (2008: £46.7m) 

and operating profit before exceptional and 

other items reduced by 45% to £3.8m (2008: 

£6.9m). Operating margin on net revenue fell 

to 9% (2008: 15%).

The impact of global recession on Northern 

Ireland’s economy is not expected to be as 

severe as in the Republic of Ireland or indeed 

the rest of the UK. Predictions are that the 

local economy will decline by 2.9% in 2009 - 

comparing favourably with other areas of the 

UK, where it is expected to be in the region of 

3.5%

In addition, employment levels figures in the 

Republic of Ireland will not return to their peak 

period (2007) until the year 2021 compared to 

2018 for a similar recovery in Northern Ireland.  

This means for many people throughout the 

whole of Ireland, the recession will have a 

significant impact on many individuals.

Ensuring High quality Water
WYG Ireland has been awarded a contract by the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) to provide groundwater quality data that will 
assist in the national assessment of Ireland’s groundwater. 
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Business Review continued

technical excellence at the core of everything we do. 

We are now committed to working together to truly 

deliver a multi-discipline service to meet the needs 

of our existing and future clients.

Following the introduction of 
WYG Group’s internationalising 
initiative, we have appointed 
an international director for 
Ireland and currently act as 
the Group sponsor for Poland. 
More recently, Ray Moore, the 
Managing Director of WYG 
Ireland has been appointed 
as the Group lead on the Gulf 
region. We have already placed 
a number of people from our 
business overseas and we will 
look to win contracts in those 
areas as well as establishing 
ourselves further in the 
countries in which we already 
have a presence.

Like most businesses throughout Ireland, the 

global recession has had an impact on us. 

However, we are continuing to hold our own, 

particularly in Northern Ireland thanks to a 

number of recent contract wins, including an 

appointment for our project managers from the 

Northern Ireland Prison Service to manage the 

design and building programme of a new £200m 

800-cell prison at the existing Magilligan site in 

Co. Londonderry. We have also secured some key 

This strident action required us to make some very 

tough decisions, particularly regarding employees, 

where we have reduced our total headcount by 

almost a third on the previous year. We also engaged 

in a rationalisation of our operational properties and 

this led to the closure of five offices.  

These steps have been taken to ensure the business 

remains competitive during the recession and quickly 

capitalises on opportunities when the markets return 

to growth.  

Within WYG Ireland, we have aligned ourselves 

very closely with the Group’s three-part strategy 

which seeks to re-shape the business. In July 2008, 

we entered a new phase in our evolution with the 

introduction of an all Ireland discipline-led business 

model. This model supports our strategy of having 

state Of The Art Opera House
Nolan Ryan Tweeds, part of the WYG Group, was appointed by 
Wexford Festival Opera to provide quantity surveying services on 
a new €30 million performance venue. Facilities include a 750 seat 
auditorium specifically designed for opera, a 150 seat second space/
cinema, bars, café, hospitality areas and enhanced backstage 
facilities.
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It has been a challenging year 
for the entire Irish economy 
and within that context, 
WYG Ireland has re-shaped 
itself significantly to meet 
the challenges ahead. The 
business is built on the quality 
of its people and it is this key 
factor which will create future 
success when the economy 
returns to growth.

New 800 Cell Prison
Nolan Ryan Tweeds, partnered with WYG Management Services, 
(both part of the WYG Group), have been appointed by the Northern 
Ireland Prison Service to manage the design and building programme 
of a new 800-cell prison at the existing Magilligan site in Co. 
Londonderry.

projects in areas such as health and education 

– namely the redevelopment of Whiteabbey 

hospital in Co. Antrim and more recently, a major 

contract to provide civil and structural engineering 

and environmental consultancy services for the 

new £150m Desertcreat Training College near 

Cookstown.  

There have also been some encouraging 

developments in the Republic of Ireland with the 

appointment of our mechanical and engineering, 

fire and sustainability consultants on the €350m 

redevelopment of the Electricity Supply Board 

headquarters in Dublin. Our environmental and 

planning team in Ireland continues to provide 

many sought after services. Statutory process 

requires environmental issues to become a 

core consideration for both development and 

operational businesses. As a result, there has 

been a strong retention of market interest 

in our services, particularly in environmental 

management systems and also due diligence 

services. 

Sustainability is a key pillar in development 

principles in Ireland and we are supporting our 

clients in addressing the challenges that they 

face in this area as well as influencing national 

approaches to the sustainability agenda. Notable 

project wins for the environmental and planning 

team this year have included the groundwater 

monitoring programme for the Environment 

Protection Agency, continued services on the 

Envirowise Programme, the regeneration of the 

former Maze Prison and Long Kesh security site, 

Co. Antrim, and a planning application including 

an Environmental Impact Statement for a 350 MW 

Powerplant for Lumcloon Energy, Ferbane, Co. 

Offaly.



White Young Green plc Annual Report 2009

Business Review continued

 socially Integrating Turkey
WYG International has secured an €8 million contract 
project within an EU Accession framework. This will 

support the solution of economic and social integration 
problems as major in-migrant destinations and mitigate 
socio-economic integration and environmental related 

problems in four main cities in Turkey
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WYG INTERNATIONAL
WYG International provides social and economic 

regeneration consultancy together with the core 

WYG technical skills of Engineering, Management 

Services and Environment, Planning and Transport.  

The business unit generated 20% of the gross 

revenue of the Group (2008: 16%). 

Over the year, gross revenue increased by 16% 

to £52.8m (2008: £45.5m), net revenue increased 

by 52% to £31.7m (2008: £20.8m) but operating 

profit before exceptional and other items reduced 

to £1.5m (2008: £2.1m). Operating margin on net 

revenue fell to 5% (2008: 10%) as we retained 

resource to ensure we were in the best possible 

position following transitions in Poland, Romania 

and Bulgaria. These transitions have now been 

successfully completed.

Our international order book 
has continued to grow in the 
year and now stands at £86m. 
New appointments in this period 
have included a migration 
project in Turkey, developing 
the economy in Serbia and a 
significant £8.3m project to 
improve the living conditions 
and rights of populations across 
Africa, the Caribbean and Pacific 
areas through management of 
migration.

We also prepared over the year for our move to a 

new Group regional structure which we implemented 

on 1 July 2009. In seeking to grow the international 

work of the Group significantly over the next few 

years we are focusing on our core areas of strength 

in Central and Eastern Europe, the Balkans and the 

Commonwealth of Independent States and putting 

investment into accelerating our growth in the 

Middle East and Africa and in the Gulf.

CENTRAL AND EAsTERN EUROPE
In Poland, diversification was a core requirement in 

response to a changing investment environment as 

the country mobilised EU Structural Funds to combat 

the economic downturn. As a result, we restructured 

the business to provide a more effective response 

to public and private sector clients in both the 

socio-economic and technical services sectors. This 

resulted in over 350 contract wins, with a total fee 

value of more than €21m. 

Bridging Poland’s Roads
We have secured 13 projects over the past 12 months specialising 
in the highways sector covering multi regions in Poland and totalling 
€4.7 million. The projects, from intricate design and complex 
construction of bridges to bypasses for major towns, are a testament 
of WYG’s credentials and deliverability of programmes in the 
infrastructure sector and region.
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Regionalisation was another important theme 

and business challenge. In a number of projects 

“Investment in People” advisory and training services 

were provided to Regional Labour Offices for the 

unemployed or those threatened by unemployment, 

as well as for staff and managers of enterprises 

seeking higher profitability and competitiveness. We 

also provided support to regional authorities in their 

efforts to accelerate badly needed investments in 

infrastructure, and especially in roads and transport 

and this work has included investment preparation 

(strategies, feasibility studies, Environmental Impact 

Assessments, financing plans), design (sections 

of regional and national road networks), and 

construction (supervision and project management 

services). 

In Romania and Bulgaria, the transition was 

successfully achieved from English language,  

pre-EU accession programmes to locally procured 

projects, bid in local languages and financed mainly 

through the EU Structural and Cohesion Funds and 

Operational Programmes. In Romania, the team 

was strengthened significantly over the course of 

the year, particularly in respect of the business 

development and finance functions, making it largely 

self-sufficient. This team has established itself as one 

of the most successful in the area of socio-economic 

technical assistance projects in the country and at 

the end of the year was implementing a portfolio of 

projects with a combined value of €114.4m. 

In Bulgaria the first half of the year was relatively 

difficult, with a scarcity of suitable projects.  

However, the second half of the year was more 

encouraging and a number of major proposals in 

the field of municipal infrastructure were submitted 

before the end of the year. A vocational training 

centre was established and while it has already 

successfully delivered a number of training courses, 

it will deliver the greatest benefit when the relevant 

measures under the National Rural Development 

Programme are launched.

New, high-profile private sector clients included Coca 

Cola, CEZ (the country’s largest electrical supplier) 

and Petrol, related to preparation and management 

of projects for financing through the Human 

Resources Development Operation Programme. WYG 

Bulgaria was approved as Operational Programmes’ 

Adviser for several municipalities, including the 

largest - Sofia Regional municipality.

BALkANs
In Turkey and northern Cyprus there were several 

project wins, including four major projects with 

a total project value of €14.6m, involving the 

deployment of more than 100 consultants over 

the next four years and the establishment of 14 

project offices within clients’ premises. In addition, 

we secured a contract to assist the municipalities 

Business Review continued

stimulating south Africa’s Economy
We are supporting the progress of Local Economic Development 
(LED) in a municipality in South Africa. The €1.2 million initiative, 
following our previously successful LED project in the region, is 
targeted at strengthening capacity building through training and 
other measures to enable local people and businesses to stimulate 
the local economy and create jobs.
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of Istanbul, Izmir, Ankara and Bursa to effectively 

manage the socio-economic and environmental 

problems resulting from migration and to rehabilitate 

and reintegrate street children. This is one of the 

largest EU-funded technical assistance projects in 

Turkey with a value of €8.1m.

Furthermore, we secured a €2.7m contract to 

establish Reception Centres for Asylum Seekers 

and Refugees and Removal Centres for Illegal 

Immigrants in seven Turkish cities. This is one of 

the larger EU-funded architectural design projects 

in the country. In northern Cyprus, the year saw the 

start of a four-year, €2m assignment to support rural 

development and a project to provide publicity and 

promote awareness of the European Union amongst 

the Turkish Cypriot community. 

The Western Balkans remains a core market with 

the region receiving extensive allocations of financial 

support under the EU Instrument for Pre Accession 

Assistance (IPA). In late 2008 the first allocations for 

IPA 2007 and 2008 came on-stream for four of the 

seven Western Balkans territories (Croatia, Serbia, 

Kosovo, Bosnia and Herzegovina) and the remaining 

three (Albania, Macedonia, Montenegro) were 

released in late 2009.

Substantial pipelines of projects have been identified 

for the next 12-18 months, with strong prospects 

for continuation over the next 3-5 years. Whilst to 

date the focus of active procurement has been in the 

socio-economic sector, there are also many technical 

projects in the pipeline which we will be pursuing. 

New wins include a €5m project to support Regional 

Development Agencies in Serbia and a €1.3m 

education project in Montenegro to set up a national 

qualifications framework. New investments include 

the establishment of a WYGI representative office 

in Serbia, and the appointment of an additional 

two country representatives to support business 

development across the region. 

Energising The Congo
We are leading a multi-national consortium on a €2.3 million three-
year project funded by the European Commission, which is providing 
technical assistance and capacity Building over 36 months to the 
Central Africa Energy Power Pool (PEAC). 

supporting self Governance In kazakhstan
Working closely with parliament, central and regional governments 
in Kazakhstan, WYG implemented a project to develop a transparent 
and effective system of local self-governance. The €1.25 million EU 
funded project contributed to the new Law on Local Self-governance 
in Kazakhstan introduced in January 2009.
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Joining Forces To support Georgia
Providing professional and management services, we are leading a 
consortium of international and local partners under a 42-month, 
US $1.75 million services contract on the $200 million road project 
in Georgia, funded by the United States of America, acting through 
the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC), under a Compact 
agreement with the Georgian Government. 

COMMONWEALTH OF INDEPENDENT 
sTATEs (CIs - FORMER sOvIET 
UNION)
The CIS remained a core business region for us and 

in the period saw several new projects secured with 

a total value of €13.4m, including two of around €5m 

each in Ukraine covering assistance with the World 

Trade Organisation (WTO) accession and reform of 

the judiciary. Additional wins included a prestigious 

regional Water Governance project in Central Asia 

and the organisation of a business registration “One 

Stop Shop” in Tajikistan.

Diversification away from the EU was achieved by 

winning a World Bank financial reform project in 

Tajikistan and a project in Uzbekistan for preparation 

and preliminary design of a major water and 

wastewater sector loan for the Asian Development 

Bank. 

Further diversification into technical services will 

be actively pursued in the coming year, particularly 

in Kazakhstan, where WYG Kazakhstan has been 

registered as a legal entity and a company office 

opened staffed by an experienced Associate Director. 

Plans for the formal registration of WYG Ukraine 

were commenced and will be completed next year.

MIDDLE EAsT AND AFRICA (MEA)
The Middle East and Africa region continued to 

grow with total revenues close to €10m. In the 

technical services field these projects included a 

€10m integrated transport policy and implementation 

project in Algeria, a project to strengthen the 

capacity of the energy and power sector in the 

Congo (generating revenues of €660k pa), and 

a €3.75m project management services contract 

with EIB to manage the design, procurement and 

implementation of a €90m water and sanitation 

project in Damascus, Syria.

Socio-economic projects included a new €9.7m 

assignment providing advice and support to 

regional institutions in the Africa-Pacific-Caribbean 

(ACP) on migration, a project to support provincial 

development plans in the Eastern Cape province in 

South Africa (generating €1.47m revenues/pa) and 

a €20m programme aimed at improving the business 

environment / climate in ACP countries.   

Our new MEA team was assembled to target a 

significant (€189m) pipeline of opportunities in the 

next year and beyond.

GULF
In the Gulf, WYG Engineering opened during 

the year, a branch office in Abu Dhabi which the 

Company is using as its spearhead into this region. 
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PEOPLE
At the end of June 2009 we employed 2,768 people 
compared to 3,468 people 12 months ago.

In the face of global economic recession and the 
changing needs of our clients, during the past year 
we have stated our three-part strategy. This involves 
the streamlining of our business operations and 
creating ‘centres of excellence’. As a result, we have 
undergone extensive restructuring which regrettably 
has meant the loss of around 700 people across the 
Group and around a further 100 full time equivalent 
reductions by introducing part-time working 
opportunities. The job losses were undertaken only 
as a last resort when all other actions had been 
considered or instigated in mitigation of redundancy. 
In some areas of the Group, where it was 
commercially feasible to do so, we have been able 
to save jobs by accommodating increased flexible 
working practices, operating recruitment restrictions 
and reducing basic salaries. We thank our people for 
working with our business leaders in this regard. 

None of the above actions alter our commitment to 
retain, engage and develop our people - the lifeblood 
of our business. During the year we continued to 
deliver on this promise by embedding our ‘People 
First’ approach and equipping our people with a 
range of best practice tools to ensure that they can 
flourish, whilst continuing to deliver quality services 
to our clients. 

The People First approach involves the Group wide 
implementation of: 

• defined job families for consulting, business 
services and leadership

• career ladders within each defined job family 
showing a clear path for progression 

• generic job profiles to underpin the career 
ladders and personal development plans of our 
people

• the WYG Competency Framework which 
identifies the critical skills and behaviours needed 
to deliver the corporate brand values of being 
dependable, imaginative and purposeful

• new staff appraisal formats incorporating the 
WYG Competency Framework

A key concept of ‘Quality Partner’ has also been 
introduced across the Group, which utilises the 
‘People First’ toolkit and links it to the ongoing 
transformation of White Young Green plc as a 
discipline-led business. It is the Quality Partner’s 
remit to ensure that consistency of high quality 
service continues to be delivered across all our 
offerings aimed at securing even more repeat 
business and building on the already strong 
reputation of the Group. The link between consistent 
‘best in class’ service delivery leading to high 
levels of client satisfaction and improved employee 
motivation underpins our rationale to promote the 
‘Quality Partner’ concept.

Protecting the intellectual property that our people 
bring to our clients and their projects continues 
to be the focus of all our people strategies as 
we remain alert to the existence of the war for 
talent. Continuing with this analogy, our defences 
remain strong. In the interest of modernising our 
people management approach and in order to deal 
compassionately with the challenges flowing out of 
our restructuring programme, our operational HR 
team was bolstered in the year by the recruitment 
of two additional, professionally qualified HR people. 
The new recruits joined their operational colleagues 
to assist our business leaders in the delivery of 
our people management interventions, harnessing 
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“The 
Leadership 

Programme was 
very useful and timely, 

it helped me move 
from management into 

leadership.” 

Dave Burton, Director,  
WYG International
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Business Review continued

complete dedication and support from all our areas 
of the business to ensure that our people feel 
engaged and supported in the face of widespread 
change.   

In the graduate market place, whilst our intake 
for new graduates has reduced since last year, 
we have taken the decision to continue with our 
formal Graduate Development Programme (GDP) in 
order to maintain the excellent reputation we have 
created as a graduate employer in our sector. This 
includes enhancements to our existing programmes 
encompassing organised networking and CPD 
events, Executive Director work-shadowing days 
and investment of both time and resources in the 
development of the Graduate Forum – a web-based 
communication tool accessed by our graduates at 
any given time from any White Young Green plc 
location.  Graduates continue to be supported by 

rotation programmes on a bespoke basis enabling 
them to trial a range of disciplines to ensure the 
right long term career choices are made. Throughout 
the programme, advice and guidance is provided 
by mentors, coaches and a dedicated graduate 
support team. In addition there is a range of 
self-directed learning opportunities together with 
structured, on the job training to equip our trainees 
with the technical, interpersonal, organisational and 
leadership skills needed for future careers success 
in White Young Green plc.  We are pleased that 
candidates from ‘the Big Idea’ programme have been 
able to secure positions in the Group. One of these 
graduates is currently experiencing life in Abu Dhabi 
and forging her international career in the process.

The Company has accredited learning and 
development agreements with the following 
professional bodies: the Institution of Civil 

Glyn Utting, 
Graduate Engineer
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Engineers, Chartered Institution of Building Services 
Engineers, Institution of Engineers’ Ireland, Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors and Chartered 
Institution of Water and Environmental Management. 
WYG is also a recognised learning partner of the 
Royal Town Planning Institute and continues working 
towards accreditation with many others.

We continue to invest appropriately 
in the development of our leaders 
and provide professional development 
support by modular and personal 
leadership development programmes 
to meet the succession needs of the 
business. 

Following successful evaluation of 2008/09 
programmes, we have committed to continue the 
support for our business leaders for the coming year, 
incorporating the need to deliver our three-part 
business strategy for the coming period and to take 
our people with us on that journey. 

Learning and development has always played an 
important role across the business and continues to 
play a high profile this year as part of the ongoing 
commitment to helping our people fulfil their 
potential and improve job satisfaction. Our learning 
and development team has been extremely active 
in developing as many internal training solutions as 
possible in the prevailing economic climate and has 
played a key role in promoting knowledge sharing 
and knowledge management across the Group. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
(KPIs)

Measuring performance, identifying suitable key 
performance indicators (‘KPIs’) and benchmarking 
are an inherent part of the WYG culture and ethos. 
The KPIs for which performance measures have 
been established are as follows:

Technical excellence
KPIs are set to measure profile in the technical press 
and to improve the technical quality of solutions and 
services provided to WYG clients.

Financial performance
KPIs are collected to measure profitability, cash 
generation and working capital, and include 
productivity statistics, order intake, EBITA and 
working capital ratios.

Customer satisfaction
KPIs are set to measure and help improve the 
relationships and quality of service provided to all 
WYG clients.

Staff satisfaction
KPIs are established to measure labour turnover 
and the effectiveness of training and development 
initiatives.

Leadership
KPIs measure the performance of directors and 
managers to guide, direct and influence people 
based on a competency framework set in the context 
of business planning objectives.

Innovation
KPIs are agreed to measure the client satisfaction 
relative to the delivery of innovative solutions.

Corporate social responsibility (CSR)
KPIs are set to measure CSR performance against 
the annual improvement plan for the Integrated 
Management Systems and the level of involvement 
in local community projects.

 
“WYG is a 

forward thinking 
organisation and modern 

in their approach. The 
opportunities are there if you 

take the initiative to drive 
yourself forward.” 

Glyn Utting, 
Graduate Engineer
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£25m after redundancy costs of £9m. These headcount 
reductions have been across the entire Group, but 
concentrated in the Engineering and Irish business units.

WYG has announced the closure of 17 regional offices 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland. A provision of £17.2m 
has been made as an exceptional cost in respect of 
vacant leasehold charges primarily made up of rent, 
rates and service charges payable by the Group over 
the remaining lease terms on vacated properties. The 
Group is actively seeking to sub-let these properties. In 
addition, the Group has provided £0.7m in respect of 
on-going cost obligations in closed locations and asset 
write offs of £2.7m.  

When the half year results were announced on 25 
February 2009, the Group reported an exceptional 
charge of £8m in respect of a provision against work 
in progress and trade receivables following a review of 
such balances. At the year end a further review was 
undertaken as part of the overall review of the business 
unit balance sheets and the Board now considers 
it necessary to provide a further £12.5m in respect 
of such balances. This review covered all receivable 
balances and was undertaken in the context of current 
market conditions and the Group restructuring. Where 
appropriate, efforts will be made to recover as much of 
these balances as possible. 

The Board has reviewed the arrangements regarding 
the Group’s professional indemnity insurance (PII) 
and the management of claims arising. The year end 
balance sheet includes a provision in respect of claims 
notified to the Group based on the Board’s assessment 

FINANCIAL REvIEW
REvENUE
The value of work earned in the financial year decreased 
by 7% to £261.6m (2008: £282.1m).

MARGINs
The margin performance of the businesses may be 
measured by reference to either gross revenue, which 
includes revenue attributable to third parties on which 
the Group does not make a margin, or net revenue 
which excludes such revenue. The Group has focused 
on margin assessment by reference to net revenue. The 
margin is calculated before exceptional charges. The 
relevant statistics are as follows (Table 2):

OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit before the amortisation of acquired 
intangibles and before exceptional items, decreased by 
36% to £17.0m (2008: £26.4m). Operating loss was 
£123.7m (2008: £22.2m profit).

ExCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMs
As previously announced, WYG has incurred significant 
exceptional costs in the financial year. These exceptional 
costs arose predominantly from the restructuring of the 
Group, and relate to redundancies, office closures, the 
writedown of work in progress and trade receivables 
balances, provisions for professional indemnity claims, 
professional fees, the impairment of goodwill and other 
general restructuring costs.  

The Board has implemented measures to reduce 
headcount in the financial year by around 700, which 
has resulted in annualised cost savings in excess of 

                              Margin on                                 Margin on 
                       Gross Revenue                        Net Revenue

      2009 2008  2009 2008

Engineering   3% 6%  3% 6% 

Management Services   11% 12%  13% 14%

Environment, Planning and Transport   12% 14%  14% 17%

Ireland   7% 13%  9% 15%

International   3% 5%  5% 10%

Total Group   6% 9%  8% 11%

Business Review continued

Table  2
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of the likely scale of settlement payable by the Group.  
This assessment is inevitably subjective and can only 
be based on a current view and hence may be revised. 
All of the provision (excluding the provision held in the 
Captive Insurance Company) made during the financial 
year has been treated as exceptional.

The Group has incurred significant professional costs 
in connection with the prospective offer and with the 
refinancing. These costs are treated as exceptional.

The Group has reviewed the value of the goodwill 
arising upon past acquisitions carried on its balance 
sheets. Following this review, the Group has reduced the 
value of goodwill carried on the balance sheet in respect 
of all the business units by a total of £77.2m. This 
impairment charge is an accounting matter and does not 
represent a cash cost.  

The exceptional and other items are summarised below 
(Table 3):

There will be further exceptional costs, albeit at a 
substantially reduced amount, in the year ending 30 
June 2010 in respect of ongoing restructuring and the 
refinancing.

FINANCE COsTs
Finance costs in the Consolidated Income Statement 
reflect both the cost of borrowing and financing items 
relative to the defined benefit pension schemes.

The finance cost of borrowing has reduced to £4.9m 
(2008: £5.0m). This decrease is a reflection of the 
reduction in the cost of borrowing during the financial 
year offset by an increase in net debt. The Group issued 
its pre-close statement on 30 June 2009 in which it 
reported that the margin on the banking facilities had 
been increased to 3.0% above LIBOR. This increased 
margin took effect from 29 June 2009. Prior to that 
date the headline cost of borrowing for the Group was 
at a level between 0.45% and 0.9% above LIBOR and 
EURIBOR. Finance costs were covered 3.5 times (2008: 
4.9 times) by operating profit before exceptional and 
other items.

Finance cost charges relating to the defined benefit 
pension schemes have stayed the same at £0.4m (2008: 
£0.4m).

ACqUIsITIONs
For the first time since the formation of WYG in its 
current form in May 1997, there were no acquisitions 
completed during the financial year. There were 
payments of additional consideration in respect of prior 
year acquisitions amounting to £8.0m in aggregate.  
These payments were made in cash.

TAxATION
The Corporation Tax charge in the year on profit before 
the exceptional and other items is £2.9m (2008: £5.0m) 
representing an effective rate of 24% (2008: 23.6%).  
The tax credit on adjusted loss is £0.6m (2008: £2.4m 
charge).

Table 3

                              Year to 30 June 
             2009                  
                £m

Employee termination costs         9.0

Office closure costs         20.6

Work in progress and trade receivables provisions       20.5

Professional indemnity claim provisions        5.7

Professional fees          3.4

Impairment of goodwill         77.2

Other restructuring costs         2.0

Finance costs         0.4

Exceptional items         138.8

Amortisation of acquired intangibles        2.2

Exceptional and other items         141.0
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The tax charge has benefited from tax relief in the 
UK on research and development expenditure. In 
2008, agreement was reached with HM Revenue and 
Customs on the eligibility of the Group claim for tax 
relief for such expenditure. This has reduced the 
charge to taxation by £0.4m (2008: £1.3m).

In addition to this the Group continues to benefit 
from the profit of certain of its overseas subsidiaries 
being taxed at a lower rate than the UK Corporation 
Tax rate of 28%. It is expected that there will 
continue to be a positive differential between the 
Group Tax charge and the headline rate of UK 
Corporation Tax.

DIvIDEND
No interim or final dividend will be paid for the 
financial year to 30 June 2009. In the previous year 
the interim and final dividends were 3.2p and 6.3p 
respectively.

The terms of the proposed refinancing include a 
restriction prohibiting the payment of a dividend 
during the three year term of the new facilities and 
until the preference shares are redeemed in full.

sHAREHOLDERs EqUITY
Shareholders equity decreased by £137.1m in the year 

to £16.7m deficit (2008: £120.4m equity). The decrease 

comprised the following elements: (Table 4):

The proposed restructuring arrangement will eliminate 

the net liabilities position.

The share price on 30 June 2009 was 24.0p having 

started the financial year at 330.0p. Group market 

capitalisation at 30 June 2009 was £12.7m (2008: 

£170.5m).

CAsH FLOW
Table 5 on page 37 explains the movement in WYG’s 
net debt.

Key points to note with regard to cash flow are as 
follows:

Cash flow from operations reduced significantly in 
the year as a result of a decrease in the operating 
cashflows partly offset by improvements in working 
capital.

The value reflected for consideration on businesses 
purchased in 2009 represents deferred consideration 
on prior year acquisitions. 

Capital expenditure in the year decreased to £7.4m 
(2008: £7.9m) and was £0.5m higher than the 
annual charge for depreciation. The major areas 
of expenditure for the Group continue to be IT 
equipment and office fixtures and fittings. It is 
expected that capital expenditure in the coming year 
will be between £6m and £7m and will continue to 
run ahead of the annual depreciation charge.

 
shareholders’ equity        £m

Loss attributable to equity shareholders (128.3)

Equity dividend paid  (3.3) 

Actuarial loss on pension schemes (1.5) 

New shares issued  0.8 

Share based payments  (2.4) 

Exchange differences  (2.1) 

Gains on cash flow hedges  (0.5) 

Tax on items taken direct to equity       0.2

Decrease in shareholders equity       (137.1)

Business Review continued

Table  4
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    2009 2008   

Cash flow    £m £m  

Cash flow from operations   12.5 31.0  

Interest and tax    (5.7) (10.1)  

Net capital expenditure    (7.4)  (7.9)  

Free cash flow    (0.6)  13.0  

Consideration on businesses purchased   (8.0) (29.5)  

Dividends    (3.3)  (4.4) 

Purchase of own shares    (0.8)  (0.6)  

Issue of shares    0.8   0.2 

Other    (5.2)  (2.3) 

Movement in net debt    (17.1) (23.6) 

Opening net debt    (68.2) (44.6)

Closing net debt    (85.3) (68.2)

PENsION sCHEMEs
The Group has two defined benefit pension schemes 
which have been closed to new members for a 
number of years. WYG contributed £0.6m (2008: 
£1.6m) into these schemes during the year. The 
WYG Scheme received a contribution of £0.6m 
and has seen its closing net liability increase to 
£2.3m (2008: £1.4m). The 1986 Scheme received a 
payment of £nil (2008: £1m) and is in the process of 
being wound up.

TREAsURY OPERATIONs 
WYG’s policy on treasury and financial risk is set 

by the Board and reviewed on a regular basis. The 

treasury risk faced by the Group includes interest 

rate risk, credit risk and foreign exchange risk.

It is the policy of WYG that the Group does not 

speculate in financial instruments or enter into 

speculative transactions. The types of financial 

instruments used by the Group include internal cash 

resources, borrowings, advance payment bonds, 

interest rate caps and debtor and creditor balances 

arising directly from Group operations.

Group policy on interest rate risk is to minimise 

interest cost while at the same time reducing 

exposure, where possible, to interest rate 

fluctuation.

A proportion of WYG’s assets are funded using fixed 

rate finance lease contracts. During the previous 

financial year the Group refinanced its car fleet 

moving from a finance lease basis to a contract 

hire basis. At 30 June 2009 outstanding liabilities 

in respect of such contracts totalled £1.3m (2008: 

£2.4m).

At 30 June 2009 the Group had five interest rate 

caps, one covering Sterling borrowings of £10m and 

four covering Euro borrowings of €45m. As a result 

the proportion of borrowings covered by fixed or 

capped interest rates totals 44% (2008: 61%).  

As previously reported the rapid devaluation of 

Sterling in the final weeks of December 2008 

exacerbated the net debt position at the half year.  

The adverse impact of the exchange rate movement 

was mitigated by the modest recovery in Sterling 

after the half year and the Board took the decision 

to convert €38m of debt into Sterling on 27 May 

2009 at an effective rate of £1 = €1.15.

Table 5
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At 30 June 2009, WYG had undrawn committed 

borrowing facilities from its debt providers of £13.5m 

(2008: £43.8m) under its banking facilities. The 

testing of the covenants will be tested next on the 

date of the EGM in connection with the restructuring 

with a backstop date of 14 December 2009.

The majority of revenue and expenditure from 

operations is denominated in the same currency 

giving an effective hedge to relevant transactions. A 

proportion of the Group’s net assets is denominated 

in Euros and in the year the Group formalised its net 

investment hedging strategy. As a result the Group 

converted a proportion of its Sterling borrowings 

to Euro to mitigate the exposure to exchange rate 

movements on these Euro assets.

RIsk MANAGEMENT 
Specific risk areas which may have an impact on the 

business are as follows:                       

strength of key markets

The Group is well positioned to benefit from the 

provision of white collar consulting and infrastructure 

services to the public and private sectors in the UK 

and overseas. A further substantial downturn in a 

number of key markets at the same time could have 

a material adverse impact on the business of the 

Group.

WYG mitigates this risk by building up and 

maintaining a diverse sector penetration and 

by avoiding any disproportionate client, skill or 

sector dependence. The Group now has valuable 

experience from its recent restructuring in response 

to deteriorating market conditions.

Fluctuations in foreign currency

The Group derives a significant proportion of 

its revenues from overseas and hence has an 

exposure to foreign currency fluctuations, most 

notably the Euro. Whilst the Group will continue to 

seek to reduce this risk through formal contracts 

and borrowings, adverse movements in foreign 

currencies, particularly the Euro relative to 

Sterling, could lead to material adverse movements 

in reported earnings. This risk is mitigated by 

the majority of revenue and expenditure from 

international operations being denominated in the 

same currency.

Competition

The directors believe that WYG is well positioned in 

its chosen markets. It is recognised, however, that 

the Group operates in a competitive environment 

and therefore the actions of current or potential 

competitors could aversely impact the Group’s 

business. WYG mitigates this risk by continually 

seeking to improve its competitive position. The new 

WYG Quality Partner developments will focus on 

staff committing to the highest standards of business 

excellence, and it will be underpinned by pro-active 

business development processes and procedures, 

Business Review continued

“The 
Group is well 

positioned to benefit 
from the provision of 
white collar consulting 

and infrastructure services 
to the public and private 

sectors in the UK and 
overseas.”
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implementing wider-ranging client care policies, and 

maintaining systems for the structured review and 

approval of commercial and financial proposals on all 

major projects.

key personnel

The future success of the Group is dependent on the 

continued services of key personnel. The loss of the 

services of the executive directors of the Group and 

other key employees could have a material adverse 

effect on the business. 

WYG, therefore, invests heavily 
in staff development and 
training through a process of 
annual appraisals and reviews.  
A positive working environment 
is also encouraged through 
diversity and dignity policies 
and through appropriate 
investment in infrastructure, 
resources and community 
engagement.    

Staff are also encouraged to share in the success of 

the business through share ownership schemes and 

suitably incentivised contracts for key personnel.  

The Remuneration Committee is currently 

considering the introduction of suitable long-term 

incentive schemes.

Litigation

In the environment in which WYG operates, there is 

the risk of claims for alleged professional negligence 

relative to the service provided.  This risk will 

again be mitigated by new ‘Quality Partners’ being 

developed within the business to ensure there are 

robust internal review procedures and a programme 

of insurance which is designed to respond quickly to 

any such claims in order to limit the exposure of the 

Group. 

Other risks

Specific financial risks are referred to in Note 22 of 

the Notes to the accounts. The risks surrounding the 

Group’s refinancing arrangements are disclosed in 

Note 1 of the Notes to the accounts.

Significant judgements and key sources of estimation 

uncertainty are described in Note 1 of the Notes to 

the accounts.

 

Paul Hamer

Chief Executive Officer

30 October 2009

David Wilton
Group Finance Director
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PROFILEs

Mike McTighe
Non Executive Chairman (56)
Mike McTighe was appointed to the Board in August 
2009.  He is currently Chairman of Pace plc and Volex 
Group plc, a member of the Board of Ofcom and 
Chairman of a number of private companies.  Previously 
he was Chairman and CEO of Carrier I International S.A. 
and before that Executive Director and Chief Executive, 
Global Operations of Cable & Wireless plc.    

Paul Hamer
Chief Executive Officer (40)
Paul Hamer joined WYG in July 2008 as Chief Operating 
Officer and was promoted to Chief Executive Officer in 
March 2009.  He was Managing Director of VT Nuclear 
Services, part of the VT Group Plc, and brings with him 
over 20 years experience in business management, 
leadership and project delivery.  He has also held several 
senior executive positions in the contracting, nuclear, oil, 
chemical and petrochemical sectors.

David Wilton
Group Finance Director (47)
David Wilton joined WYG in February 2009 as Group 
Finance Director.  He was Group Finance Director of 
Adler and Allan Holdings Limited, a private equity 
backed oil and environmental services group.  David has 
over 25 years experience in financial management and 
business leadership and was a director in the investment 
banking division of NM Rothschild. He is a chartered 
accountant and spent the early part of his career at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Graham Olver
Group Services Director and Company Secretary (48)
Graham Olver joined the Board in August 2009 as Group 
Services Director and Company Secretary. Previously he 
was Commercial and Operations Director with Skanska 
Infrastructure Development, a division of Skanska AB. He 
has over 20 years business and project experience and 
has held senior commercial and legal positions at Thames 
Water, Thames Water International and ALSTOM.

John Richardson
Non Executive Director (61) 
John Richardson was appointed to the Board in July 1997.   
He is currently Non Executive Chairman of Yorkshire Bank 
Financial Solutions Centre, following a career in financial 
services as a director, first of County NatWest Limited and 
subsequently of Lloyds Merchant Bank Limited, a period 
as director of Corporate Financial Services with Eversheds 
and as a Senior Banker with Coutts & Co. He retires from 
the Board at the end of December 2009.

Robert Barr
Senior Independent Non Executive Director (53)
Robert Barr was appointed to the Board on 1 January 
2007. Since 1 June 2004 he has been Chief Executive 
of Heywood Williams Group PLC, prior to which he 
was Chief Operating Officer of Kingspan Group plc.  
Previously, Robert was Managing Director (Europe) and 
a main board director of Bespak plc having spent his 
early career in various international management roles at 
Diageo plc.
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Corporate social Responsibility

Water Aid
A team from engineering and environmental 

climbed Ingleborough to raise money for this charity 
that seeks to give access to safe water for the 

world’s poorest people
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ABOUT CORPORATE sOCIAL 
REsPONsIBILITY

BEING sOCIALLY REsPONsIBLE
There is no getting away from the fact that it has been 
an extremely challenging year for us but one thing 
that has remained consistent is our dedication and 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR).

Being a socially responsible employer is integral in 
everything we do. We have achieved practically all 
our CSR annual objectives but, due to the challenging 
business environment and the company restructure, we 
were not as active as we would have liked.

Our commitment to CSR continues following the 
appointment of our new Group Services Director, 
Graham Olver, who is tasked with leading our CSR 
strategy through 2010 and beyond. Graham has already 
started creating a delivery programme looking at an 
integrated approach to CSR for all internal and client 
facing support services. During next year we will also be 
restating our corporate governance and policies so CSR 
becomes even more part of our day-to-day business.

OUR CsR PROGREss:

Health and safety
We are committed to high standards of safety, health 
and welfare for employees and others who may be 
affected by our work activities. Health and safety 
arrangements for our UK and Ireland operations have 
been certified to OHSAS 18001 since 2004. The health 
and safety arrangements were integrated into the 
quality and environmental management system in 2007 
and they are now part of our new SHEQ (safety, health, 
environment and quality) management system. Our 
achievements this year include:

• The WYG Group was awarded a Gold Medal for 
five consecutive years of achieving the RoSPA Gold 
award. This award was for commitment to the well 
being of staff and clients.

•  Each of the WYG operating companies have 
developed and implemented their own SHEQ 
management system to meet ISO certification 
criteria. 

• The induction and training process for new staff 
was revisited during 2009 and with a clear route 
of awareness and training defined within a newly 
created WYG Passport. The WYG Passport will ensure 
all new staff obtain a consistent exposure to training 
in relation to Health and Safety. 

The next phase of developments will include:

• The introduction of a health and safety 
committee reporting into the plc Board which will be 
chaired by the Chief Executive Officer. The committee 
will operate at a strategic level to determine the 
overreaching health and safety policy for the 
Company.

• The improvement of our accident and incident 
reporting (see Table a). The quality of the current 
reporting will be reviewed to analyse causes and 
establishment of trends. In addition, we will seek to 
ensure an improved level of office health and safety 
compliance through the introduction of more robust 
office health and safety checks. 

“The 
WYG Group 

was awarded a 
Gold Medal for five 

consecutive years of 
achieving the RoSPA Gold 
award. This award was for 
commitment to the well 

being of staff and 
clients.”
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Corporate social Responsibility continued

Community engagement
In response to the strong desire amongst a large section 
of our staff to make a positive social contribution to 
the local communities in which we operate. In 2006 we 
introduced a formal process to allow staff to engage 
with the community. 

We have community engagement 
champions at our main offices allow 
three days’ paid leave for community 
engagement initiatives and provide 
matched charitable contributions. 
The restructuring programme has 
impacted on the level of involvement 
but the Group remains strongly 
committed to being involved in the 
community. 

This past year we have:
 

• Monitored contribution to initiatives (below 
are examples) but the planned improvements to 
the processes have not taken place. They have 
been carried over to this year’s objectives together 
with the aim to increase the uptake of community 
engagement.

• Not increased the amount of matched 
charitable donations as expected, which is due to the 
loss of staff.   

• From 2009 we have introduced a staff award 
for ‘Best Individual or Team Contribution Towards 
Community Engagement’ and the award entitles the 
winner to a £1,000 donation to a charity of their 
choice.

Next years commitments include: 

• The review of the community engagement 
policy and processes.

• Improving communications throughout the 
Group to engage colleagues at all levels and 
promote the involvement in community engagement 
initiatives.

Community engagement highlights:

• Harris House Project – WYG in Moseley, 
Birmingham has been involved in a project aimed at 
giving disabled children a new playground.

• Leeds spring Clean – staff collected clothing 
as part of a world record challenge to collect as 
much as possible in one day.

• Leeds Half Marathon Corporate Challenge – 

staff raised over £800 for Pancreatic Cancer UK and 
Andrea’s Gift. We matched the amount raised.

• shire Oak Primary school – staff took part in 
a one-to-one reading project.

shire Oak Primary school
Staff took part in a one to one reading project. Matt Shillito, deputy 
head teacher commented that “ WYG staff from Leeds built very 
good relationships with the children. They read, talked about 
the book, talked about their own experiences linked to the book 
and, during this time, saw reading as a fun, relaxed, enjoyable 
experience. The focused amount of time spent with each child has 
really benefited the pupils- their confidence has risen, their interest 
in reading has grown and many have made accelerated progress this 
year.
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• Water Aid – a team climbed Ingleborough to 
raise money for a charity that seeks to give access to 
safe water for the world’s poorest people.

• Blood Transfusion service Award – 
WYG Ireland received an award from the Irish 
Blood Transfusion Service for their dedication and 
commitment to giving blood.

Trading in sustainable services and products

We continue to conduct our business ethically and with 
integrity and to encourage the purchasing of goods 
and services from sustainable sources. We always aim 
to meet and exceed our clients’ expectations while 
ensuring that they are fully informed of the possibilities 
for increasing the sustainability of their operations and 
projects. 

• We continue to engage with our key suppliers to 

provide products and services that have a minimum 

adverse environmental impact.

• In support of our sustainable procurement 

guidelines, we have identified the mechanisms that 

we intend to use to incorporate environmental and 

social factors into our key procurement processes. 

• We have joined the Carbon Disclosure Project 

(CDP) and completed their 2009 questionnaire so 

that our corporate performance can be objectively 

and independently assessed. We have committed to 

take part in the CDP process annually.

• Invested in a unique footprinting tool 

Bottomline3. This tool allows an organisation’s 

total Greenhouse Gas (GHG) consumption to 

be measured.  We have engaged in a strategic 

partnership with Bottomline3’s developer in order to 

accurately analyse our total carbon and to contribute 

to the ongoing development of this tool. We are 

committed to being experts in operating best practice 

in sustainability as well as advising on it. 

We are going to:
• adopt a standard process 
throughout the organisations 
for selecting and purchasing 
from suppliers who consider 
sustainability.

• adopt a standard process for 
the specification of marketing 
materials and the purchasing 
of paper which states our 
environmental priorities. 

• rationalise office printing 
equipment to reduce the amount 
of equipment used and the volume 
of printing.

Blood Transfusion service Award
WYG Ireland received an award from the Irish blood transfusion 
service for their dedication and commitment to giving blood.
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Corporate social Responsibility continued

International initiatives

We continue to work alongside the international 

development agencies in addressing some of the major 

challenges facing societies across the world. 

• We are working with the European Union, The 

European Investment Bank, the Asian Development 

Bank and local authorities to deliver access to safe 

water resources and sanitation to improve the well-

being of people across Eastern Europe, North Africa, 

the Middle East and Central Asia. 

• In Ethiopia we are helping to develop a stable 

and democratic political environment through 

the integration of all sections of society into the 

mainstream of political, economic and social life. 

• In Turkey and northern Cyprus we are raising 

the awareness of the challenges and opportunities 

facing civil society during preparations for EU 

accession. 

• Our projects in Nepal and Ukraine are 

strengthening the role of the judiciary and citizens’ 

access to justice.

• We are working with countries in Africa, the 

Caribbean and Pacific to improve the management of 

migration between them, thereby helping combat the 

exploitation of migrant workers. 

Looking after our environment

Our environmental management 
system (EMS) was certified 
to ISO 14001 in 2006 and 
since then we have undergone 
a journey of change and 
improvement to the system 
and to our environmental 
impacts. We now operate an 
integrated SHEQ (safety, health, 
environment and quality) 
management system. 

This last year:

• we have moved from one group-led 

management system to one which is tailored 

to specific business needs. All WYG operating 

companies fit into an overall strategy but have 

specific policies and processes according to the 

needs of their disciplines.

• we have also been driving our environmental 

improvement programmes to focus on climate 

change. Our two main environmental objectives 

now focus on contributing to a decrease in CO2 

emissions.

Deleeuw International Workshop
Training materials prepared in Braille at a workshop held by Deleeuw 
International, part of WYG Group.
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• a scheme has been introduced to allow 

employees to hire a cycle and safety equipment up 

to the value of £1,000 as a tax free benefit.

• we have introduced a central train booking 

system to encourage travel by train.

•  the driver safety handbook which includes 

information on environmentally economical driving is 

being finalised.  

• we have reviewed our car fleet and 

related business travel arrangements to identify 

opportunities for reducing environmental impact and 

have responded quickly to improving the collection 

of data in this area. As a result we are now able to 

monitor carbon emissions from our business travel 

in a more accurate way (see Table b). The review 

produced a number of recommendations which we 

are considering. 

• we now use the internationally recognised 

greenhouse gas protocol tools by the World’s 

Resources Institute (WRI) to calculate our carbon 

footprint for Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions (see 

Table c).

As a result of a particularly volatile energy market for 

much of the year, coupled with the re-structure of the 

business, progress in the area of purchasing renewable 

energy was not as planned. 

Plans for the next period include:

• the introduction of a system for recording, 

monitoring and reporting information in relation to 

the CRC Energy Efficiency scheme which is being 

introduced by the Government. 

• the undertaking of a minimum of one significant 

initiative at each office to reduce the environmental 

impact of business travel.

• the undertaking of at least one significant 

initiative at each office to reduce energy.

Taking care of our staff
Full details of our approach is outlined on page 31 of 
this report. This past year via the Learning Academy we 
have achieved:  

• an on-line course booking and reporting 
capability (launched November 2008).

• a Continous Professional Development events 
calendar and booking capability.

• a library of in-house e-learning solutions 
(currently with six internally developed e-learning 
modules).

• access to a learning resource library and 
ordering capability.

• continued development of our catalogue of 
bespoke internal training solutions.

“We 
continue 

to work alongside 
the international 

development agencies in 
addressing some of the 
major challenges facing 

societies across the 
world.” 
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  2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09

RIDDOR reportable  1 1 6 3 2
accidents in the UK   

Reportable accidents in the  0 0 0 0 0
Republic of Ireland 

Minor recorded injuries 37 37 41 46 53

Average number of employees ~1800 ~2500 ~2700 ~3000 ~2700

Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) 0.03 0.02 0.13 0.08 0.04

AFR = Total number of reportable injuries x 100,000

                          Man hours worked

Table A - Accident and enforcement record

Corporate social Responsibility continued

 
  % of offices % of employees  
  using covered within     CO2      CO2 equiv p   CO2 equiv p 
Energy Type  commodity reporting offices Totals        equivalent employee 08/09 employee 07/08

              kWh            tonnes kg kg

Electricity 100%               100% 4,532,880             2308  1,020 630 

Gas 61%                63% 1,256,672  254           112  70

Oil 5%                   2% 9068 litres    24     11   4
 

Notes: The figures do not include operations outside UK & Ireland or some of the offices which are not certified to ISO 14001 
(16% of offices)

Table B - Energy use emissions 

  
Total     
quantity Unit   Quantity                  Unit         Breakdown Categories  

 4817            tonnes of CO2   2308  tonnes of CO2   Electricity purchased (48% of emissions)

     278  tonnes of CO2   Combustion of fuel in stationary equipment 

          (i.e. gas and oil) (6% of emissions)

     2069  tonnes of CO2   Vehicles used for business (43% of emissions)

     162  tonnes of CO2   Public Transport (3% of emissions)

The above figures  do not include:        a. Operations outside UK & Ireland

        b. Offices not certified to 14001 (16%)

Table C - Overall CO2 emissions (Scope 1 and 2) 
Carbon emissions calculated using the World Resources Institute’s GHG Protocol Tools
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The directors present their Annual Report and the audited accounts for the year ended 30 June 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIvITY AND REvIEW OF OPERATIONs
WYG plc is incorporated and domiciled in England, the address of its registered office is Arndale Court, Headingley, 
Leeds, LS6 2UJ.

The principal activity of the Group in the period under review was that of consultant to the built, natural and social 
environment. The Group’s revenue derives from activities in Great Britain, Ireland and the Group’s International division.

As required by the Companies Act 2006, a review of the business of the Group, together with an indication of future 
prospects and a description of the principal risks facing the Group, is provided in the Chairman’s Statement and 
Business Review on pages 2 to 39.

Since the balance sheet date, the Group has agreed terms for a proposed capital restructuring with its lenders, the 
details of which are set out in Note 1 in the Notes to the Accounts. There have been no other significant events since 
the balance sheet date.

REsULTs AND DIvIDENDs
The Group’s operating loss was £123,654,000 (2008: £22,202,000 profit). Loss before tax was £128,896,000 (2008: 
£16,848,000 profit). Given the need within the business to generate and preserve cash in the current economic climate, 
no interim dividend payment was made (2008: 3.2p). The directors will not be recommending the payment of a final 
dividend at the AGM on 11 December 2009 (2008: 6.3p). With regards to future dividends, the Board continues to 
target a position where any dividend is covered at least three times by underlying earnings per share. The terms of the 
proposed refinancing include a restriction prohibiting the payment of a dividend while the facilities remain outstanding 
and until the preference shares are redeemed in full.

Details of financial risk management policies and objectives can be found in Note 22 of the Notes to the accounts.  
Details of post balance sheet events can be found in Note 32 of the Notes to the accounts.

ACqUIsITIONs
No acquisitions were made by the Group in the year under review.

sHARE CAPITAL 
Movements in the authorised, allotted and fully paid share capital are set out in Note 23 to the accounts.
 
DIRECTORs AND THEIR INTEREsTs
The directors who served during the year and subsequently are noted on page 7 and in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 52 to 55. Paul Hamer was appointed as Chief Operating Officer on 1 July 2008 and became Group 
Managing Director on 5 January 2009 and Chief Executive Officer on 11 March 2009. David Wilton was appointed as 
Group Finance Director on 10 February 2009. Mike McTighe and Graham Olver were appointed on 3 August 2009. 

The Company’s Articles of Association require that any director appointed during the year shall hold office only until the 
next AGM and shall then be eligible for election. In accordance with these rules, Michael McTighe, David Wilton and 
Graham Olver will seek election at the AGM.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Robert Barr and John Richardson will retire by rotation and being eligible 
will offer themselves for re-election.

The directors have not been involved in any significant contract between any Group Company and themselves during 
the year under review or subsequently.

CORPORATE GOvERNANCE
The company’s statement on Corporate Governance is included in the Corporate Governance report on pages 52 to 55 
of this report.

TAkEOvER DIRECTIvE
Pursuant to s992 of the Companies Act 2006, which implements the EU Takeovers Directive, the company is required to 
disclose certain additional information. Such disclosures, which are not covered elsewhere in this Annual Report, include 
the following:

Directors’ Report
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The company’s Articles of Association (the ‘Articles’) give a power to the Board to appoint directors, but may also 
require directors to retire and submit themselves for election at the first Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment and for re-election once they have held office for more than 30 months thereafter. The Articles themselves 
may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the management of the business of the company and may exercise all the 
powers of the company subject to the provisions of relevant statutes, the Company’s Memorandum of Association 
and the Articles. The Articles, for instance, contain specific provisions and restrictions regarding the Company’s power 
to borrow money. Powers relating to the issuing and buying back of shares are also included in the Articles and such 
authorities are renewed by shareholders each year at the AGM.

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company 
following a takeover bid, such as commercial contracts, bank loan agreements, property lease agreements. None of 
these are deemed to be significant in terms of their potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole. 

sIGNIFICANT sHAREHOLDINGs
At 30 October 2009 the Company had been notified of the following interests in 3% or more of its issued share capital:

           
         Percentage   
         of issued  
        Number of share  
        shares held capital

 BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited    6,221,379 11.75

 AXA Framlington Investment Management Limited    4,902,572 9.26

 Barclays plc       3,172,513 5.99

 Foreign & Colonial Asset Management plc     2,526,414 4.77

REsEARCH AND DEvELOPMENT
The Group conducts research to enable it to develop the best technical solutions for its clients. The amount charged 
during the year to 30 June 2009 was £5,092,000 (2008: £5,189,000).

TRADE CREDITORs
The Group’s policy is to settle invoices promptly according to terms and conditions as far as is practicable. At 30 June 
2009 the amount due to trade creditors for the Group represented 56 days (2008: 42 days) purchases received from 
those creditors. The Company does not have any trade creditors.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
The Group’s policy is to ensure the adequate provision for the health, safety and welfare of its employees and of other 
people who may be affected by its activities.

The Group treats applications for employment from disabled persons equally with those of other applicants having 
regard to their ability, experience and the requirements of the job. Where existing employees of the Group become 
disabled every effort is made to provide them with continuing suitable work within the Group.

The success of the Group depends upon the skill and motivation of its workforce and it is the Group’s policy that 
employees are kept informed of matters affecting their employment and of the financial results of the Group on 
a regular basis. There were a significant number of employee communications during the year were in relation to 
redundancies within the Group and there have been a number of collective redundancy consultations. Where required 
appropriate employee representatives have been elected and the consultation has been in line with appropriate 
legislation. 

Communication has taken place around the People First programme and further information can be found on page 31. 
In addition, all staff emails are circulated to inform employees about any significant events and contract wins across the 
Group and a comprehensive employee intranet is kept up to date.

Directors’ ReportDirectors’ Report continued
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DONATIONs
The Group made charitable donations amounting to £38,000 (2008: £48,000) during the year. No political donations 
were made in either year.

sTATEMENT OF DIRECTORs’ REsPONsIBILITIEs
In accordance with Rule 4.1.12 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the following responsibility statement is given 
by each of the directors: namely Michael McTighe, Non Executive Chairman; Paul Hamer, Chief Executive Officer; David 
Wilton, Group Finance Director; Graham Olver, Group Services Director and Company Secretary;  Robert Barr, Non 
Executive Director and John Richardson, Non Executive Director. The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the accounts in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
prepared the Group and Parent Company accounts in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. Under Company law the directors must not approve the accounts unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the 
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those accounts, the directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable IFRS’s as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any   
 material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts and
• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will   
 continue in business. 

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed above, confirm that to the best of their knowledge, the 
Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and the Directors’ Report includes a fair review 
of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and 
the Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group accounts, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Annual Report and Accounts will be published on the Group’s website. The maintenance and integrity of 
the Group’s website is the responsibility of the directors. The work carried out by the auditors does not include 
consideration of these matters. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of accounts may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

sTATEMENT ON DIsCLOsURE OF INFORMATION TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORs
So far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware.

Each director has taken all reasonable steps to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORs
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed its willingness to be re-appointed. A resolution to re-appoint them as 
independent auditors will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Graham Olver
Secretary
30 October 2009
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WYG is committed to high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group. This statement sets out how the 
principles identified in the 2008 FRC Combined Code on Corporate Governance have been applied by the Group in the 
current financial year.

A copy of the Combined Code is publically available on www.frc.org.

sTATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH COMBINED CODE
The Group has complied with the provisions of the main and supporting principles set out in Section 1 of the 
Combined Code published by the Financial Reporting Council in 2008 as laid down in the Listing Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority throughout the year under review subject to the following:

• John Richardson, the outgoing senior independent director, has served on the Board for a period of twelve 
years since the date of his first election in 1997. The requirements of the Combined Code require that he stand 
for re-election as a director on an annual basis. The Board has seen a number of changes in its composition 
in the year under review and careful consideration was given to the balance of the Board. The Nominations 
Committee also undertakes an annual review of directors’ interests in which all potential and perceived conflicts 
are considered. Based on the outcome of this review, the Board was of the view that John Richardson continued 
to demonstrate strong independence of management in the manner in which he discharged his responsibilities 
as a director of the Company. His experience and knowledge was especially valuable due to the changes in Board 
composition during the year under review. 

THE BOARD AND ITs COMMITTEEs
The Board currently comprises the Non Executive Chairman, two Non Executive Directors who are considered to be 
independent, and three Executive Directors. In accordance with Provision A3.1 of the Combined Code, the Board 
considers Michael McTighe, Robert Barr and John Richardson to be independent Non Executive Directors. Robert Barr 
is the Senior Independent Non Executive Director and is available to shareholders if they have concerns which cannot 
be resolved through normal channels. John Richardson will remain as a director of the Company until 31 December 
2009 and will be seeking re-election at the next Annual General Meeting. The changes to the Board composition 
during the year under review are outlined on page 7.

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the directors are obliged to retire each year and each 
director must offer himself for election every three years. After nine years a director must offer himself for re-election 
annually. A director who is initially appointed by the Board is subject to election at the AGM following his appointment. 
Details of the directors seeking election at the AGM on 11 December 2009 are set out in the Notice of Meeting on 
page 102.

Executive director Graham Olver, Group Services Director, also holds the office of Company Secretary. The Board holds 
the view that  there is no conflict between Graham Olver’s governance responsibilities to the Board as the nature of 
his executive role itself is one of prudence, overview and assurance. The Board continues to keep the position under 
review and should it be required, the roles will be separated. 

Biographies of Board members are set out on page 41. These indicate a balance and range of skills and experience 
appropriate to the requirements of the business at the current time. None of the Executive Directors have external 
appointments. 

The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for the overall strategy and direction of the Group within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. It has a regular schedule 
of meetings and a formal schedule of matters reserved to it for decision, including decisions on strategy and direction, 
approval of budgets, acquisitions and disposals, major capital expenditure and risk assessment and assurance. In 
certain areas, specific responsibility is delegated to committees of the Board within clearly defined terms of reference. 

Corporate Governance



White Young Green plc Annual Report 2009 53

The Board has developed a strategic plan for the business and this is reviewed regularly.

Management provides detailed reports ahead of each Board and Committee meeting to ensure there is time for the 
Board to seek any clarification on the information provided.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined in writing. The Chief Executive is 
responsible for the executive management of the Group’s business. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of 
the Board, setting the agenda, monitoring the effectiveness of the Board, taking account of the concerns of all Board 
members and ensuring that the directors receive accurate, timely and clear information.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that 
Board procedures and applicable rules and regulations are observed. There is an agreed procedure for directors to 
take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in the performance of their duties. 
Where it is considered appropriate, training is made available to the directors. The Company has appropriate insurance 
cover in respect of legal action against its Directors.

The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each of the directors during the year was as follows:

     Full Audit Remuneration Nomination 
     Board  committee committee committee 
Name    10  2  13  5

Paul Hamer    10 — 3 4

David Wilton 1    4 — 2 —

Brian Duckworth    10 1 13 5

John Richardson    10 2 13 4

Robert Barr    9 2 11 5

Peter Wood 2    7 — 7 3

Lawrie Haynes 3    5 — 3 —

Robert Hartley 4    8 — 1 —

Denis Connery 5    4 — — —

1. David Wilton was appointed as a director on 10 February 2009 and as such was eligible to attend four Board  
 meetings.
2. Peter Wood resigned on 31 March 2009 and as such was eligible to attend seven Board meetings.
3. Lawrie Haynes resigned on 5 January 2009 and as such was eligible to attend five Board meetings.
4. Robert Hartley resigned on 14 April 2009 and as such was eligible to attend eight Board meetings.
5. Denis Connery resigned on 5 November 2008 and as such was eligible to attend four Board meetings.

BOARD EFFECTIvENEss
During the year, the Board continued its ongoing evaluation process to assess its performance and that of its 
committees and to identify areas in which its effectiveness, policies and processes might be enhanced. A formal 
Board appraisal was undertaken in the financial year 2007/8. Due to the number of changes in the Board composition 
during the financial year, a formal appraisal of the Board, each Board committee, and the performance of each 
individual director will be carried out in the next financial year. The Nominations Committee considered the balance 
of skills, knowledge, experience and performance of the current members of the Board when considering new Board 
appointments.
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The purpose of the formal appraisal process will be to help to identify any areas which need attention, develop and 
identify what should be included in the directors’ future training programme and to suggest any procedures and 
improvements which may improve the workings of the Board. Any training provided is tailored to individual needs and 
includes environmental, social and governance issues as appropriate. It continues to be the Board intention to conduct 
evaluations on an annual basis going forward. The Non Executive Directors, chaired by the Senior Independent 
Director, meet once a year without the Chairman present to assess his performance, having obtained feedback from 
each of the Executive Directors.

On appointment, the directors’ take part in an induction programme where they receive information about the Group, 
the role of the Board and the latest financial information. All the directors are encouraged to attend conferences and 
seminars on relevant issues as appropriate.

COMMITTEEs OF THE BOARD
The Board delegates certain specific responsibilities to committees. These committees have been formally constituted 
and have clearly defined terms of reference which are reviewed annually by the Board. The terms of reference for the 
Board and each of its committees are available on the WYG website at www.wyg.com. In addition, following formal 
decision making, the Board may, on occasion, delegate authority to a standing committee consisting of any two 
directors to facilitate sign off on an agreed course of action within strict parameters. Other than the Audit Committee, 
during the year under review, the Board considers it to be appropriate for the Non Executive Chairman to sit on its 
committees.

The role of the Board’s committees is outlined below:

Remuneration Committee
The composition and role of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 
58 to 63. Full details of directors’ remuneration and a statement on remuneration policy is included in the report.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises all Non Executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer and is chaired by 
Michael McTighe.

It has clearly defined terms of reference which include regular reviews of the structure, size and composition of the 
Board and the identification and nomination of candidates for appointment to the Board. The Committee considered 
succession planning within the business in detail during the year and the Graduate and Leadership Development 
Programmes which are outlined on page 32 are in place to develop the talent pool within the business. During the 
year the Committee oversaw the recruitment of David Wilton as Group Finance Director due to the resignation of 
Robert Hartley. The selection was made against objective criteria and following extensive scrutiny by the Committee 
and the main Board. 

The Committee also managed the review of the composition of the Board following the departure of the Chief 
Executive, Lawrie Haynes and Commercial Director, Denis Connery and thereafter Peter Wood and Brian Duckworth 
as Chairmen. The Board was unanimous in the view that Paul Hamer, as Chief Executive Officer, and Michael McTighe 
as Chairman, were the most appropriate appointments to lead the Company in the current economic climate. Michael 
McTighe met the independence criteria. The Chairman’s other significant commitments are disclosed in the directors’ 
biographies on page 41. 

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises all Non Executive Directors and is chaired by John Richardson. The report of the Audit 
Committee is on pages 56 and 57.

The role of the committee is clearly defined in its terms of reference. It includes understanding the areas of greatest 
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financial risk for the Group, evaluating whether management is managing this risk effectively and reviewing interim 
and annual accounts in conjunction with management and auditors.

INvEsTOR RELATIONs 
The Group places a great deal of importance on communication with its shareholders.

Formal communication with shareholders is mainly through the Interim and Annual Report and all shareholders are 
invited to attend the AGM, which is attended by the full Board. Feedback from analysts and brokers is collated by a 
third party and presented to the Board. There is a comprehensive investors section on the website, www.wyg.com, 
which is constantly under review to ensure that all shareholders have access to the most up to date information.

There is a regular dialogue with institutional investors, fund managers, brokers, analysts and the media. These 
meetings are generally conducted by the Chief Executive Officer and Group Finance Director. The Chairman has 
attended meetings with institutional investors and brokers. Feedback on these meetings and copies of any analyst 
reports are provided to the Board.

The Chairman and Senior Independent Director are available to shareholders at any time to discuss strategy and 
governance matters.

Non Executive Directors do not ordinarily attend meetings with major shareholders but would do so if this was 
requested.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
At the AGM, separate resolutions are proposed for each substantially different issue to enable each to receive proper 
consideration. Where the Company proposes changes to the Articles of Association, a full explanation of those 
changes will be given. Proxy votes are disclosed by means of an announcement to the London Stock Exchange and by 
the Company’s website.

At the AGM held on 10 December 2008 a special resolution was approved to authorise the Company to make market 
purchases of up to 10% of its own share capital. The authority was not used in the period to 30 June 2009.

Also at the AGM held on 10 December 2008, an ordinary resolution was approved to renew the directors’ authority 
to allot relevant securities pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985, up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£861,074. Additionally, a special resolution was approved to authorise the directors to dis-apply the statutory pre-
emption provisions of Section 89 of the Companies Act 1985 in respect of any rights issue and for cash issues up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £129,161. In addition, and in line with best practice, the Company has not issued more 
than 7.5% of its issued share capital on this basis over any three year period.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Graham Olver
Secretary
30 October 2009
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee comprises all independent Non Executive directors and is chaired by John Richardson. 

All the committee members have relevant financial experience and biographies of the members of the committee are included on 
page 41. John Richardson will remain as a director of the Company until 31 December 2009 and will be seeking re-election at the 
next Annual General Meeting.

The role and key duties of the committee are defined in its terms of reference. It includes understanding the areas of greatest 
financial risk for the Group, evaluating whether management is managing this risk effectively and reviewing interim and annual 
accounts in conjunction with management and auditors. Other key responsibilities include the review of internal controls and the 
consideration of the effectiveness of the external and internal audit functions  

The current terms of reference are available at www.wyg.com. 

In line with the terms of reference, the committee met twice during the year under review. In addition two meetings were held by 
the committee chairman with the external audit partner from PricewaterhouseCoopers and two meetings were held between the 
Head of Group Internal Audit and the chairman of the committee. Going forward the committee will meet a minimum of four times 
a year in line with best practice recommendations. 

Since 30 June 2009, three Audit Committee meetings have been held reflecting the activity surrounding the refinancing exercise.

The Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the Finance Director, the Head of Group Internal Audit, the Group Services Director and 
representatives of the external auditor attend at the invitation of the committee.  

Overview of the year
The recessionary pressures facing the business over the past year have increased pressure on working capital within the business, 
on borrowing facilities and on management and employees in coping with contraction rather than growth in the business.
In these circumstances, the financial priorities for the management have focused on improving working capital, reviewing the 
balance sheets of the individual businesses, the need for increased provisioning and the strengthening of the internal financial 
management and internal controls.  At the same time, management over the course of the year has implemented a redundancy 
and office closure programme which has resulted in some very significant savings to the cost base of the business to match its 
reduced and re-aligned operational focus.  In addition, a comprehensive impairment review of all goodwill in the business has 
resulted in its very significant reduction for the future.

As these pressures on the business have intensified in recent months, the business as a going concern has been at the heart of 
much of the constructive planning that has taken place.  Intensive scrutiny of forecasts and budgets, of the borrowing requirements 
of the business, of financial risk management assessments and of liability management (contingent or otherwise) has been 
undertaken to the satisfaction of this committee.

Activities
In discharging its responsibilities as outlined in the terms of reference, activities during the year included:

Financial reporting
- The review of the financial statements of the company including its annual and interim financial statements and the clarity 
     of the disclosures in those statements prior to submission to the board. This review considered whether the company had 
followed appropriate accounting standards and made appropriate estimates and judgements.
- The review of preliminary and interim announcements and compliance of other regulatory requirements.  
- In addition, the committee reviewed the Board’s assessment of going concern. 

Going concern
As set out more fully in the business review, the directors have formed the conclusion that the Company and Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have, therefore, been prepared 
on the going concern basis.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management. The system of controls is designed to facilitate the efficient 
and effective operation of the group. The internal control processes and procedures are designed to manage rather than absolutely 
eliminate the risk of material misstatement or loss.  

The Board delegate to the Audit Committee the review of effectiveness of internal controls and risk management systems. During 
the year the framework of the Group’s system of internal control, which was in place for the whole of the financial year and up to 
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the date of signing the accounts, included:
- an annual review of all business risks affecting the Group which also identifies procedures to manage and mitigate such 
risks. These risks are monitored and updated on a regular basis
- a Group organisational structure with designated responsibilities and levels of authority
- a comprehensive budgeting and financial reporting system with an annual budget approved by the Board. Operating 
results, cash flow, working capital levels and future workload are reported monthly. This data is reviewed and assessed by 
reference to KPIs and internal targets
- financial and management information systems utilised throughout the Group to maximise efficiency and control and
- a process for the monitoring of submissions of offers on major projects. This includes detailed appraisal and specific levels 
of authority to ensure all significant proposals are approved at the highest levels.    

In particular the committee considered the effectiveness of the finance function at all levels of the Group.  Measures have been put 
in place and are ongoing to strengthen the team and its management processes where required.  
 
Whistleblowing
The formal procedures in place to allow staff, in confidence, to raise any concerns about possible improprieties in matters of 
financial reporting and other matters were considered to be effective and working appropriately. No significant concerns have been 
raised. 

Information management systems.
The committee keeps under review the planned implementation of the new information systems designed to provide the platform 
for future operational focus and efficiency. The Head of Group Internal Audit assisted in this activity and the implementation will 
continue to be monitored closely by the committee.

Internal audit 
The Head of Group Internal Audit reports directly to the Audit Committee and attends all Audit Committee meetings. The function 
has clear terms of reference agreed by the Audit Committee, with the main focus being to provide an independent mechanism 
for monitoring and reviewing internal control effectiveness across the Group. It also provides assurance on the effectiveness of 
risk management already in place. Audit Committee approval is required for any change in the appointment of the Head of Group 
Internal Audit. The audit plan was developed and agreed with the Audit Committee. The committee continues to keep under review 
the need for an internal audit function and the effectiveness of the work undertaken. 

External audit
The committee reviews the independence and objectivity of the external auditor annually and the provision of any non-audit 
services. The scope of the audit was considered and included a review of the auditors quality control procedures. In addition, the 
remuneration of the external auditors and the terms of engagement were considered. The independent auditors report to the Audit 
Committee on actions they take to comply with the professional and regulatory requirements and best practice designed to ensure 
their independence, including the rotation of key members of the audit team. 

The committee has recommended to the Board that a resolution re-appointing PricewaterhouseCoopers as external auditors be put 
to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.  

Non-Audit services 
The independent auditors are not permitted to provide internal audit, risk management, litigation support, remuneration advice and 
information technology services. The provision of other non-audit services, including tax services, is assessed on a case by case 
basis depending on which professional services firm is best suited to perform the work.

The above policy is monitored by the Audit Committee and is regularly reviewed and updated to ensure it remains appropriate. The 
appointment of the independent auditors to provide non-audit services requires Board approval for any assignment with fees above 
£50,000.

Details of the fees paid to the external auditors can be found in Note 3 to the accounts. The split between audit and non-audit fees 
for the year to 30 June 2009 and the information on the nature of the non-audit fee is included in Note 3 to the accounts. The non-
audit fees that were paid in respect of assurance work and international regulatory requirements were not considered by the Audit 
Committee to affect the independence of the auditors.

John Richardson
Non Executive Director
30 October 2009 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report provides information on directors’ remuneration and has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report Regulations 2002 (the Regulations). A resolution will be put to shareholders at the Company’s AGM inviting them to approve 
this report.

The Regulations require that the auditors’ report to the members of the Company on the ‘auditable’ part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and state whether, in their opinion, that part of the report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006 (as amended by the Regulations). This report has therefore been split into separate sections for unaudited and 
audited information.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all Non Executive Directors and was chaired by Brian Duckworth until he became Chairman 
of White Young Green plc. Robert Barr became Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 1 April 2009. It has clearly defined 
terms of reference to determine, on behalf of the Board, all aspects of remuneration of the executive directors. These terms 
of reference are reviewed annually by the Board. It is also kept advised of and consulted on all aspects of senior management 
remuneration across the Group. The Group Chief Executive Officer is invited to attend meetings of the committee but not when his 
own arrangements are being considered. The Group HR Director and Group Finance Director attend and advise the committee as 
required by invitation.

Copies of the committee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s website www.wyg.com.

During the year the committee continued to retain Hewitt New Bridge Street (HNBS) to provide advice on the remuneration of 
executive directors and other senior executives. HNBS’s terms of reference are available from the Company Secretary upon request. 
HNBS provides no other service to the Group. 

Remuneration policy 

The overall policy of the Board is to:

• attract, develop, motivate and retain talented people at all levels across the Group
• provide competitive salary and benefit packages and
•  encourage the holding of shares in the Company as an effective way of aligning the interests of employees with those of 

shareholders.

The policy with regard to executive remuneration is to:

• pay a basic salary which is competitive with other companies of similar size and complexity
•  provide the opportunity to increase remuneration by meeting and outperforming short term and long term measures, 

thereby linking executive reward to Group performance and shareholder interest and
• encourage executives to hold shares in the Company.

In line with the Association of British Insurers’ Guidelines on Responsible Investment Disclosure, the committee will ensure that the 
incentive structure for executive directors and senior management will not raise environmental, social or governance (ESG) risks 
by inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour. More generally, with regard to the overall remuneration structure, there is no 
restriction on the committee which prevents it from taking into account corporate governance on ESG matters.

Basic salary
Basic salaries are reviewed by the committee each year taking into account individual and Group performance. It uses, as a 
comparator, the salaries of other companies of a similar size and complexity and the level of base salary of other senior staff in the 
Group.

During the year, HNBS provided benchmark data on all aspects of the remuneration of the executive directors, including salaries. 
Following this review the salaries of the executive directors for the coming year are as follows:

David Wilton was appointed to the Board on 10 February 2009 and Graham Olver was appointed to the Board on 3 August 2009.  
Paul Hamer was promoted to Group Managing Director reporting to the Chairman on 5 January 2009 and was further promoted to 

         2009/10  2008/9 

         £  £

Paul Hamer        325,000 225,000

David Wilton        225,000 205,000

Graham Olver        225,000 -



White Young Green plc Annual Report 2009 59

Chief Executive Officer on 11 March 2009. The increase in Paul Hamer’s salary reflects these promotions. 

Each of the three executive directors has volunteered to surrender part of his salary for the year ending June 2010. The details are 
as follows:

    Pre-surrender salary Amount surrendered Post-surrender salary
           £’000s         £’000s         £’000s
Paul Hamer             325            32.5           292.5
David Wilton             225            25          200
Graham Olver             225            25                       200

Benefits
Benefits include a car allowance or a car and payment of its operating expenses and fuel, life assurance and entitlement to a non 
contributory private healthcare scheme.

Pensions
Executive directors are members of a defined contribution pension scheme. Annual contributions are calculated by reference to a 
percentage of base salary, with Lawrie Haynes having received prior to resignation a contribution of 20% of salary and the other 
executive directors each receiving contributions of 17.5% of salary.

Performance related annual bonus
Executive directors participate in a performance related annual bonus scheme, the maximum bonus payable is 60% of salary.
Bonuses can only be earned if challenging performance targets determined by the committee at the start of the financial year are 
achieved. Bonus targets consist of Group annual profit growth targets and personal targets. 

For the year ended 30th June 2009, Paul Hamer received a bonus of 25% of salary based on over achievement of significant 
operational cost improvement targets.  The Remuneration Committee has considered the extent to which the performance criteria 
have been met and has recommended to the Board that the maximum bonus of 25% of basic salary is payable to Paul Hamer.  The 
payment will be made in October 2009.

For the year ending 30 June 2010, there will be three performance-related potential cash bonus elements which could be earned by 
the executive directors. Of the total potential bonus, 30% is based on delivery of the budgeted Group operating profit, 30% is based 
on cash generated from operations targets and 15% is based on the successful conclusion of the revised banking arrangements with 
the Group’s banking syndicate. There is no tapering of payment for below budget performance nor is there additional payment for 
over budget performance. The three elements of the potential award are measured separately and can be earned separately. 

Long term incentives
Executive directors are eligible to receive annual awards under the terms of the WYG plc Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) with an 
initial value of up to a maximum of 100% of salary. Benefits under the LTIP are not pensionable.

LTIP awards were linked to the long term earnings per the share growth of the Company and aligned the interests of the executives 
with those of shareholders prior to April 2009 award. Participants would receive 100% of any award if the Group’s earnings per 
share, over a fixed three year period, had increased by at least the equivalent increase in the Retail Price Index (RPI) plus 40.5%, 
which represents 12.0% of annual compound growth. No award would vest unless the Group’s earnings per share over the same 
period had the equivalent increase in RPI plus 12.5%, which represents 4.0% of annual compound growth. At this level the 
participant would receive 25.0% of any award. There were no opportunities to retest any targets not met.

The Company regularly reviews the extent to which the Group’s share-based incentive arrangements remain appropriate to the 
Group’s circumstances and prospects.

During the year ended 30 June 2009 awards were made to Paul Hamer and David Wilton which, if vested, would lead to those 
directors becoming entitled to maximum of 900,000 shares. The target performance condition under this award is based on the 
Company reaching a share price target of 60p over a three year period from 17 April 2009 to 16 April 2012. The Remuneration 
Committee believes that the three year share price target selected was the most appropriate metric in the current circumstances. 

Performance related remuneration 
It is the view of the Remuneration committee that the performance related elements of the remuneration package for executive 
directors should be significant as this serves to align the interests of the directors with shareholders. Assuming full payment of all 
elements of salary, bonus and share awards, then over 50% of total directors’ remuneration (excluding pension contributions) would 
be performance related.

share ownership guidelines
The Company operates share ownership guidelines which require executive directors to build-up and maintain a holding of ordinary 
shares in the Company at least equal to one times salary and also require that until such time as this level of shareholding has been 
reached they must retain at least 30% of the pre-tax shares vesting under the LTIP. The executive directors current shareholdings 
are shown in the table on page 61.
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service Contracts
The policy of the Group is to offer service agreements to executive directors with notice periods of not more than twelve months. 
The executive directors’ service contracts may be summarised as follows:
      Contract  Unexpired  Notice 
Director      date   term   period

Lawrie Haynes (resigned 5 January 2009)    18.06.2007  -  -

Robert Hartley (resigned 14 April 2009)    02.05.1999  -  -

Paul Hamer     11.03.2009  12 months   12 months

David Wilton     17.04.2009  12 months  12 months

Denis Connery (resigned 5 November 2008)    03.11.2003  -  -

Graham Olver     03.08.2009  12 months  12 months

Lawrie Haynes resigned on 5 January 2009. Denis Connery  resigned on 5 November 2008. David Wilton was appointed to the Board 
on 10 February 2009 and Robert Hartley resigned on 14 April 2009.  

No service contract provides for payment of predetermined amounts of compensation in the event of early termination. The 
Company will have regard to the general duty to mitigate when agreeing any termination packages. Copies of each executive 
director’s service agreement will be available for inspection prior to and during the AGM.

Lawrie Haynes resigned from the Board on 5 January 2009 and was not paid any sum by way of compensation. Denis Connery 
resigned from the Board on 5 November 2008, compensation of £245,000 was paid for loss of office. Robert Hartley resigned from 
the Board on 14 April 2009, £253,881 was paid for loss of office.  No other directors left office during the year.

None of the Executive Directors hold Non Executive Directorships outside of the Group.

Non Executive Directors
The Chairman and the Non Executive Directors do not have contracts of service but are appointed by letter of appointment. Such 
appointments are initially for a three year term, which may be terminated by three months’ notice by either party at any time. The 
remuneration of the non-executives is determined by the Board within the limits set out in the Articles of Association. Non Executives 
are not eligible for pensions, share incentives or bonus.

Performance graph
The committee also monitors the shareholder return of the Group against other external parameters. The graph below sets out the 
performance over a five year period of WYG compared with the support services sector (primary comparator) and also the FTSE 
Small Cap Index. The committee believes that these two indices give the most appropriate comparatives with which to assess the 
performance of the Group as they contain companies in the same sector and of a similar size to WYG.

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
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AUDITED INFORMATION 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The beneficial, family and contingent interests of the directors in the share capital of the Company were as follows: 

         share 
       Beneficial    incentive Total 
       shares  LTIP  plan shares 
At 30 June 2009 or at date of resignation     Number Number Number Number

Lawrie Haynes (resigned 5 January 2009)     8,482  1,452 9,934

Robert Hartley (resigned 14 April 2009)     70,063  4,253 74,316

David Wilton      75,000 400,000 848 475,848

Paul Hamer      63,000 500,000  563,000

Denis Connery (resigned 5 November 2008)    38,831   38,831

Peter Wood (resigned 31 March 2009)     10,000   10,000

John Richardson      14,083   14,083

Brian Duckworth (resigned 3 August 2009)    85,500   85,500

Robert Barr      12,500   12,500

The share incentive plan shares comprise 5,957 Partnership shares (2008: 1,140) and 596 Matching shares (2008: 113). The mid market price 
of the Company’s shares at 30 June 2009 was 24.6p. The range of the share price during the year was 330.0p to 6.8p.

TOTAL EMOLUMENTs
The emoluments (excluding pension arrangements) of directors were as follows:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Executive directors’ remuneration        1,392 1,449

Non-executive directors’ fees        213 187

Gains made on share-based payments       133 532

         1,738 2,168
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
                    Compensation 
     Salary  for loss     2009  2008
     and fees  of office Bonus Benefits Total Total
     £‘000 £’000 £‘000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive directors      

Lawrie Haynes resigned 5.1.09    204 — — 7 211 453

Robert Hartley resigned 14.4.09    162 253 — 9 424 266

David Wilton    85 — — 4 89 —

Denis Connery resigned 5.11.08    55 245 — 9 309 220

Paul Hamer    265 — 81 13 359 —

Non-executive directors      

Peter Wood (Chairman) resigned 31.3.09   90 — — — 90 85

John Richardson    35 — — — 35 35

Brian Duckworth (Chairman 1.4.09 - 3.8.09)   55 — — — 55 35

Robert Barr    33 — — — 33 32

     984 498 81 42 1,605 1,126

* Paul Hamer’s bonus of £81,000 will be paid during the year ended 30 June 2010.

Lawrie Haynes resigned from the Board on 5 January 2009. Denis Connery resigned from the Board on 5 November 2008. Robert Hartley 
resigned from the Board on 14 April 2008.

Peter Wood resigned as Chairman and as a member of the Board on 31 March 2009.  Brian Duckworth assumed the role of Chairman on 31 
March 2009 in an interim capacity until such point that the Board made a long term appointment. Brian Duckworth resigned as a member of 
the Board on 3 August 2009 upon the appointment of Mike McTighe as Chairman. 

The main elements of benefits provided are consistent with industry norms and include a fully expensed motor car or car allowance, medical 
insurance and relocation costs as appropriate. Benefits are valued for the purposes of remuneration at the cash cost to the Company or at the 
amount assessed to income tax on the director. 

Directors’ Pensions

The following table sets out each executive director’s pension benefits for the year ended 30 June 2009:

         Money  Money
                       purchase  purchase
                 contribution  contribution
         for the for the
          year to  year to
                        30 June  30 June
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Lawrie Haynes        1 67

Robert Hartley        29 34

Denis Connery        9 28

Paul Hamer        39 - 

David Wilton        15 -

The non-executive directors are not party to any pension arrangements.
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share Incentive Plan (sIP)

The Group operates an HMRC approved all-employee SIP in which Lawrie Haynes and Robert Hartley participated saving the 
maximum of £125 per month permitted under the regulations. David Wilton participates in the SIP saving £100 per month.  
Matching shares are allocated on a 1 for 10 basis for each Partnership share purchased by the employee. Shares are 
purchased on a monthly basis. During the year Lawrie Haynes purchased 1,320 Partnership shares and was allocated 132 
Matching shares, Robert Hartley purchased 3,867 Partnership shares and was allocated 386 Matching shares. David Wilton 
purchased 771 Partnership shares and was allocated 77 Matching shares. The average purchase price was 275p.

Since 30 June 2009 David Wilton has purchased 2,120 Partnership shares and has been awarded 211 Matching shares under 
the SIP, at an average price of 18.9p per share. Otherwise there has been no change in the directors’ interests in shares or 
options granted by the Company between 30 June 2009 and 21 October 2009.

DIRECTORs’ sHARE INCENTIvE sCHEMEs
LTIP

Awards under this plan are subject to earnings per share growth targets, the EPS condition is set out on page 59 or the 
performance conditions set out below. 

Long term incentive compensation is included in remuneration in the year in which it crystallises, normally three years after 
the date of the original award.

       
     Earliest Market  Number      Number 
   Award  vesting price at of shares Granted Lapsed Vested of shares 
   date date  award date 2008 in year in year in year 2009

Lawrie Haynes  10.10.2007   10.10.2010 454.8p 73,653 — 73,653 — —

Robert Hartley  12.10.2005   12.10.2008 342.5p 19,708 — — 19,708 —

   04.10.2006   04.10.2009 369.5p 24,357 — 1,353 23,004 —

   10.10.2007   10.10.2010 454.8p 21,436 — 8,336 13,100 —

Denis Connery  12.10.2005   12.10.2008 342.5p 18,978 — — 18,978 —

   04.10.2006   04.10.2009 369.5p 20,298 — 4,511 15,787 —

   10.10.2007   10.10.2010 454.8p 17,369 — 9,649 7,720 —

Paul Hamer  17.04.2009   17.04.2012  — 500,000 — — 500,000

David Wilton  17.04.2009   17.04.2012  — 400,000 — — 400,000

On 17 April 2009, the remuneration committee made awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan. Paul Hamer, Chief Executive 
Officer was awarded 500,000 ordinary shares and David Wilton, Group Finance Director was awarded 400,000 ordinary shares. 
The performance condition under the 2009 Awards is based on the Company reaching a share price target equal to or greater 
than 60p over a three year period from 17 April 2009 to 16 April 2012. The share price at the end of the performance period 
will be measured by reference to the average share price over the period 16 March 2012 to 16 April 2012. 

On behalf of the remuneration committee

Robert Barr

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

30 October 2009
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Independent Auditors’ Report

We have audited the financial statements of White Young Green Plc for the year ended 30 June 2009 which comprise the Consolidated Income 
Statement, the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Company Statement of 
Recognised Income and Expense, and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

REsPECTIvE REsPONsIBILITIEs OF DIRECTORs AND AUDITORs

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 51, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Sections 495 to 
497 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 June 2009 and of 
the group’s loss and Group’s and parent company’s cash flows for the year then ended

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Emphasis of matter: going concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosure concerning the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The matters explained in Note 1 of the Notes to the accounts relating to the refinancing and 
the conditions associated with the completion of the new banking facilities and conversion of debt to new equity indicate the existence of 
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do 
not include the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion: 

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006

• the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement with respect to Rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the disclosure and Transparency 
Rules issued by the financial Services Authority is consistent with the financial statements and 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us or 

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

• the directors’ statement, set out on page 56, in relation to going concern and

• the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined 
Code specified for our review.

I J Morrison (senior statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Leeds, 30 October 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2009
     Before    Before  
     exceptional Exceptional  exceptional Exceptional 
     and other and other  and other and other
     items items Total  items items Total
     2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Continuing operations       

Revenue    261,629 — 261,629 282,108 — 282,108

Operating expenses   3 (244,649) (140,634) (385,283) (255,712) (4,194) (259,906)

Operating (loss)/profit   3 16,980 (140,634) (123,654) 26,396 (4,194) 22,202

Finance costs   5 (4,868) (374) (5,242) (5,354) — (5,354)

(Loss)/profit before tax    12,112 (141,008) (128,896) 21,042 (4,194) 16,848

Tax credit / (charge)   7 (2,912) 3,466 554 (4,969) 2,558 (2,411)

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders   9,200 (137,542) (128,342) 16,073 (1,636) 14,437

(Loss)/earnings per share       

Basic   8 17.6p (263.6p) (246.0p) 31.6p (3.2p) 28.4p

Diluted   8 17.7p (264.1p) (246.4p) 30.4p (3.1p) 27.3p

Dividend per share       

Interim – proposed and paid   9 — — — 3.2p — 3.2p

Final – proposed   9 — — — 6.3p — 6.3p

     — — — 9.5p — 9.5p

Paid   9 6.3p — 6.3p 8.6p — 8.6p

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Income Statement. 
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Balance Sheets
as at 30 June 2009        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
      Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets     

Goodwill     11 43,472 115,625 — —

Other intangible assets     12 12,699 15,203 — —

Property, plant and equipment     13 13,854 14,517 — —

Investments     14 — — 42,142 60,918

Deferred tax assets     15 275 1,933 — —

Derivative financial instruments     22 13 506 13 506

       70,313 147,784 42,155 61,424

Current assets     

Work in progress     16 41,189 48,041 — —

Trade and other receivables     17 64,076 81,621 36,161 105,657

Tax recoverable      3,919 2,260 — —

Cash and cash equivalents      10,896 17,427 359 359

       120,080 149,349 36,520 106,016

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables     18 (72,399) (79,977) (1,061) (6,764)

Current tax liabilities      (704) (1,490) (218) (238)

Financial liabilities     21 (7,298) (1,756) — (240)

       (80,401) (83,223) (1,279) (7,242)

Net current assets      39,679 66,126 35,241 98,774

Non-current liabilities     

Financial liabilities     21 (88,946) (83,874) (88,256) (82,352)

Retirement benefit obligation     31 (4,126) (1,843) — —

Deferred tax liabilities     15 (3,586) (4,127) — —

Provisions, liabilities and other charges    19 (30,056) (3,680) — —

       (126,714) (93,524) (88,256) (82,352)

Net (liabilities)/assets      (16,722) 120,386 (10,860) 77,846

Shareholders’ equity     

Share capital     23 2,648 2,583 2,648 2,583

Share premium account     24 22,324 21,614 22,324 21,614

Merger reserve     24 17,900 51,599 17,900 51,599

Hedging and translation reserve     24 2,985 5,616 13 506

Retained earnings     24 (62,579) 38,974 (53,745) 1,544

Total shareholders’ (deficit) / equity     (16,722) 120,386 (10,860) 77,846

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of these Balance Sheets.

The accounts were approved by the Board of directors on 30 October 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Paul Hamer   David Wilton
Chief Executive Officer  Group Finance Director
30 October 2009   30 October 2009
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Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2009
        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
      Note £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000

Operating activities     26    

Cash generated from/(used in) operations     12,454 30,998 8,097 (31,296)

Interest paid      (5,322) (5,304) — —

Tax paid      (435) (4,833) — —

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities   6,697 20,861 8,097 (31,296)

Investing activities     

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment    671 4,247 — —

Purchases of property, plant and equipment     (6,372) (6,476) — —

Purchases of businesses in prior and current years    (7,985) (29,538) (5,914) —

Purchases of intangible assets (computer software)    (989) (1,409) — —

Cash balances acquired with businesses     — 1,643 — —

Dividends received      — — — 5,000

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities   (14,675) (31,533) (5,914) 5,000

Financing activities     

Net proceeds on issue of ordinary share capital     775 192 775 192

Equity dividends paid      (3,251) (4,364) (3,251) (4,364)

Repayments of borrowings      (94,341) (1,242) (94,312) (1,197)

Draw down of loan facilities      94,605 31,665 94,605 31,665

Repayments of obligations under finance leases     (1,627) (6,519) — —

Purchase of own shares for Employee Benefit Trust    (776) (622) — —

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities   (4,615) 19,110 (2,183) 26,296

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (12,593) 8,438 — —

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    17,042 8,604 359 359

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     4,449 17,042 359 359

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of these Cash Flow Statements. 
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 30 June 2009
   
 
 
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders     (128,342) 14,437 (22,804) 2,840

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax    (2,138) 6,102 — —

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes    (1,449) 584 — —

(Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges      (493) 201 (493) 201

Tax on items taken directly to equity     214 (525) — —

Total recognised income and expense for the year    (132,208) 20,799 (23,297) 3,041

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of these statements of recognised income and expense.
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Notes to the Accounts
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOuNTING
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations endorsed by the European union (Eu) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception of 
certain items which are measured at fair value as disclosed in the principal accounting policies set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of accounts in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results 
ultimately may differ from those estimates.

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 
June each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The Group has recorded a category for ‘exceptional and other items’ in the income statement in 2009. In 2008, the Group did not record any 
exceptional items and the ‘other items’ disclosed in 2008 represented the amortisation of certain acquired intangible assets and research and 
development tax credits relating to prior years. These other items have been excluded from the 2009 definition of exceptional items as they 
are recurring in nature.  The exceptional items accounting policy can be found in the significant accounting policies in the notes to the 
accounts.

As a result of the risk of potential future covenant breaches, the Company announced in February 2009 that it had entered into negotiations 
with its main lenders, Lloyds TSB Banking Group plc, Fortis Bank uK Branch and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (the Banks). Since June 2009, 
the Banks have deferred testing of the covenants, agreed on a monthly basis.

Since that time, the Company has been in extensive discussions with the Banks and has considered various means of re-balancing its capital 
structure and reducing the Company’s level of net borrowings. The proposed restructuring involves the conversion to equity of a proportion of 
the Group’s bank borrowings together with three year borrowing facilities. The Board believes that this debt to equity conversion and the 
refinanced facilities would provide a material strengthening of the Company’s capital structure and financial position.

This proposed restructuring comprises:

• a conditional placing of new ordinary shares to the Banks in exchange for the conversion of a proportion of the Company’s outstanding bank 
borrowings. The new ordinary shares subject to the placing to the Banks would represent, in aggregate, approximately 60.5% of the enlarged 
issued share capital of the Company;

• a conditional issue of unlisted preference shares, with the Banks being issued preference shares in the form of ‘A’ preference shares and ‘B’ 
preference shares;

• the gift by the Banks to the new employee benefit trust of the new ’B‘ preference shares for the purpose of enabling senior executive 
management to benefit from the new ’B‘ preference shares in due course;

• the new employee benefit trust acquiring new ordinary shares as would represent approximately 24.5% of the enlarged issued share capital 
of the company;

• the refinanced facilities, including term debt and working capital facilities and bonding facilities, that would be provided by the Banks;

• should the restructuring be approved by shareholders, the cancellation of the admission of the ordinary shares to the Official List and to 
trading on the London Stock Exchange’s market for listed securities and to apply for admission to trading on AIM; and

• as necessary, a conditional waiver of the requirements of Rule 9 of the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

As part of the proposed banking facilities the Group would be required to meet certain financial covenant tests which will be tested at 
quarterly intervals over the term of the facilities.

MATERIAL uNCERTAINTIES

The heads of terms for the proposed restructuring are not legally binding although they have been approved by the credit committee of each 
Bank. Further, the Banks have agreed to defer testing of certain financial covenants until the day after the Extraordinary General Meeting 
relating to the proposed restructuring, or 14 December 2009, whichever is the earlier. 

Whilst the heads of terms have been approved by the credit committee of each Bank, the refinanced facilities are not currently committed and 
there remains the risk that the Banks could seek to renegotiate the agreed heads of terms or the proposed covenants. Should any further 
negotiations with the Banks prove unsuccessful then the Group may have insufficient liquidity shortly thereafter and may be unable to satisfy 
its existing financial covenants and/or service its existing borrowings. 

The provision of the refinanced banking facilities is conditional on the completion of the proposed restructuring (including the proposed 
conversion of part of the existing debt into equity). This requires shareholder approval at an Extraordinary General Meeting, by a majority of 
75% of those shareholders attending and voting (in person or by proxy). In the event that the necessary approvals are not obtained and the 
relevant resolutions are not passed, the refinanced banking facilities would not be made available and the Group would be required to re-enter 
negotiations with the Banks. Should these further negotiations prove unsuccessful then the Group would face being unable to satisfy its 
financial covenants and/or service its existing borrowings. 

The Board has concluded that the status of the heads of terms and the conditions relating to the proposed restructuring, including the need 
for the requisite shareholder approval, represent material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

However, after considering these uncertainties and in light of the recent forecasts of the Group, the Board has a reasonable expectation that 
the Group will be successful in finalising the proposed restructuring and for this reason considers it to be appropriate to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The financial statements do not include adjustments that would result if the Group 
was unable to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

REvENuE RECOGNITION
Revenue represents the value of work earned during the year on contracts by reference to total contract value and stage of completion. 

Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in 
full for estimated losses. Where the outcome of a contract cannot reasonably be foreseen, profit is taken on completion. When it is probable that 
total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Third party payments represent costs incurred by the Group on behalf of clients which are invoiced at no margin. Progress payments receivable in 
excess of the value of work executed on individual contracts are included in trade and other payables.

uNBILLED REvENuE

As described above revenue represents the value of work earned during the year by reference to the total contract value and stage 
completion. unbilled revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where 
invoicing exceeds the amount of revenue recognised these amounts are included in trade and other payables. When consumables are used, a 
charge is made to cost of sales.

ExCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMS

Items that are both material and non-recurring and whose significance is sufficient to warrant separate disclosure and identification within the 
consolidated financial statements are referred to as exceptional items and disclosed within their relevant business segment within note 3, 
segmental reporting. Items that may give rise to classification as exceptional items include, but are not limited to, significant and material 
restructuring closures and reorganisation programmes, asset impairments, and the profit or losses on the closure of offices. 

‘Other items’ which are recurring in nature but which warrant separate disclosure represent the amortisation of acquired intangibles. 

In the prior year ‘other items’ represented amortisation of acquired intangibles and research and development tax credits relating to prior 
years.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and 
tested for impairment at least annually by reference to the relevant cash-generating units (CGu) and is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous uK GAAP amounts subject to being 
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under uK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included 
in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal. 

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software licences that do not form an integral part of related hardware, are capitalised at cost 
and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic life. Intangible assets acquired through a business combination are initially 
measured at fair value and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives. Fair value of the acquired intangible assets is 
calculated based on the estimated future benefits the Group will derive from the asset acquired, discounted at an appropriate Weighted 
Average Cost of Capital (WACC). The useful economic lives used are as follows:

Computer software – 3 to 5 years

Order books – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGus) discounted at an 
appropriate rate.

PROPERTy, PLANT AND EquIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. The cost of an item of 
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bring the asset into use. Borrowing costs 
related to the purchase of fixed assets are not capitalised.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Short leasehold improvements  – equally over the life of the lease

Motor vehicles   – 30% per annum on net book value

Office furniture and equipment –  20 to 33.3% per annum on original cost

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, over 
the term of the relevant lease. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 

Assets under construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets commences when the assets 
are ready for their intended use.

LEASED ASSETS

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a 
finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received 
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

WORK IN PROGRESS

Work in progress is stated at cost plus attributable profits less foreseeable losses and progress payments received and receivable. Cost 
comprises direct staff costs and attributable overheads. Attributable profit is that proportion of the total profit currently estimated to arise over 
the duration of a contract, as earned at the balance sheet date. Work-in-progress is recognised when projects are assessed for contract 
progress and the proportion of contract work completed at the balance sheet date is determined in relation to the total contract works. 
Appropriate provisions are made for slow moving and irrecoverable work-in-progress.

CASH AND CASH EquIvALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash at bank and other 
short term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

TAx

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax along with any adjustments to prior year estimates.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
accounts and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred 
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

FOREIGN CuRRENCy TRANSLATION

Items included in the accounts of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated accounts are presented in Pounds Sterling, which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the income statement for the period, except for exchange 
differences arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet 
date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are 
recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.

INvESTMENTS IN SuBSIDIARy uNDERTAKINGS

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the Company’s Balance Sheet at cost less any provision for impairment in value. 
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED 
EMPLOyEE BENEFITS

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected unit Credit Method, with 
independent actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in 
which they occur. They are recognised outside the income statement and presented in the statement of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight line 
basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted 
for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to 
past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Short term compensated absences

A liability for short term compensated absences, such as holiday, is recognised in trade and other payables for the amount the Group may be 
required to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the balance sheet date.

DEFERRED AND CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

In respect of acquisitions for which part of the purchase consideration is payable during future accounting periods, the full amount of the 
deferred consideration is recognised immediately, except in respect of acquisitions for which part of the purchase consideration is determined 
by the profits generated by the acquired Company during future accounting periods. In such cases the contingent consideration is included in 
the accounts based on the best estimates of future profitability of the Company at this time. Estimates are revised as further and more certain 
information becomes available. Goodwill and deferred consideration are adjusted accordingly.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has adopted the provisions of IFRS8. During the period covered by this report, the Group managed its business primarily by 
reference to business segments. The five reported business segments are Engineering, Environmental, Planning and Transport, Management 
Services, Ireland and International.

SHARE-BASED PAyMENTS

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 (Share-based payments). In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been 
applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January 2005. There is no change in the 
treatment for equity instruments granted before 7 November 2002.

The Group issues equity-settled payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date 
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

The fair value of share options is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based 
on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. 

FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their amortised cost as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment is established where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the income statement and are 
added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. Borrowing costs have 
been treated as exceptional and other items.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their amortised cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group hedges its net 
investment in foreign operations via a foreign currency bank loan. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative 
purposes.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS CONTINuED 

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of directors, which provide written principles on the 
use of financial derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised 
directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement 
as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted 
transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred 
to net profit or loss for the period.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

DIvIDEND DISTRIBuTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s accounts in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

PROJECT CLAIMS

Project claims can be made as a consequence of disputes or shortcomings in project delivery and could impact upon the results of the Group. 
It is embedded in the Group’s culture that client relationships are developed so as to ensure client satisfaction. However, it is recognised that 
project claims are possible, and that these risks cannot completely be eliminated. In the event that such claims arise, in common with others 
operating in the sector, the Group has established professional indemnity insurance policies that are intended to protect against significant 
losses.

SIGNIFICANT JuDGEMENTS AND KEy SOuRCES OF ESTIMATION uNCERTAINTy

The preparation of the accounts requires the Group to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The directors base their estimates on 
historical experience and various other assumptions that they believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis for making judgements about the carrying value of the assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Areas of judgement and sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are:

•  Revenue recognition and the assessment of the percentage of contract completion achieved. The Group assesses contract progress and 
determines the proportion of contract work completed at the balance sheet date in relation to the total contract works. 

•  Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges. The Group performs impairment testing in accordance with the accounting policy 
described within the significant accounting policies in the notes to the accounts. The calculation of recoverable amounts requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions consistent with the most recent budgets and plans that have been formally approved by management.

•  Professional indemnity insurance. The Group operates a captive insurance company in the uK called Oakdale. This company provides 
reinsurance exclusively to certain companies within the Group. Provision is made on actuarial assessment of the reserve for future claims 
necessarily includes estimates as to the likely trend of future claims costs and as to the emergence of further claims subsequent to the year 
end. An actuarial review of claims is performed annually. To the extent that actual claims differ from those projected, the provisions could 
vary significantly.

•  For all defined benefit pension schemes, pension valuations have been performed using specialist advice obtained from independent 
qualified actuaries. Furthermore, the Group has performed a valuation of the potential outstanding liabilities and legal costs associated with 
the 1986 Scheme which is wound up and closed to future accruals.  In performing these valuations, judgements, assumptions and 
estimates have been made. The assumptions made have been disclosed in Note 31.

•  Work in progress and receivables valuation. The Group assess work in progress and trade receivables for exposure to losses. Provision is 
made in full for estimated losses.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
NEW IFRS STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT APPLIED

The IASB and IFRIC have issued additional standards and interpretations which are effective for periods starting after the date of these 
financial statements. 

The following standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

•  IAS 23, Borrowing costs (effective 1 January 2009). The amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the Eu. It requires 
an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes 
a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those 
borrowing costs will be removed. The Group will apply IAS 23 (Amended) from 1 July 2009.

•  IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of financial statements (effective for annual periods beginning  on or after 1 January 2009) is not expected to 
have any significant impact on the results of the Group although it will have a presentational impact.

•  IFRS 2 (Amendment) Share-based payments (effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) deals with vesting 
conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and performance conditions only. Other features of a 
share-based payment are not vesting conditions. All cancellations, whether by the Group or by other parties, will receive the same 
accounting treatment.

•  Amendment to IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009) addresses the liability versus equity classification of certain puttable financial instruments and 
instruments, or components thereof, which impose upon an entity an obligation to deliver a pro-rata share of net assets on liquidation.

•  IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and separate financial statements (effective for annual periods beginning  on or after 1 July 2009), is not 
expected  to have any significant impact on the results of the Group.

•  IFRS 3 (revised) Business combinations (effective for annual periods beginning  on or after 1 July 2009) will impact the calculation of 
consideration and goodwill for future acquisitions, as transaction costs will be expensed and some contingent payments will be re-measured 
at fair value through the income statement.

•  Amendment to IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement (effective for annual periods beginning  on or after 1 July 2008) 
prohibits designating inflation as a hedgeable component of a fixed rate debt and the inclusion of time value in the one-sided hedged risk 
when designating options as hedges.  

The following interpretations to existing standards are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

•  IFRIC 16, Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008) clarifies 
that only the functional currency of a parent entity creates the exposure to which an entity may apply hedge accounting and not its 
presentation currency. It also concludes that the hedging instruments may be held by any entity or entities within the Group and that IAS 
39 is applied to determine the amount to reclassify from the foreign currency translation reserve to profit or loss in respect of hedging 
instruments while IAS 21 is applied in respect of hedged items.

• IFRIC 17, Distribution of non cash assets to owners (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).

• IFRIC 18, Transfer of assets from customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009).

The following interpretation to existing standards are not yet effective and are not relevant to the Group’s operations:

•  IFRIC 13, Customer loyalty programmes (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008) clarifies that where goods and 
services are sold together with a customer loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty points or free products), the arrangement is a multiple-
element arrangement and the consideration receivable from the customer is allocated between the components of the arrangement using 
fair values.

• IFRIC 15, Agreements for construction of real estates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).

2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 
BuSINESS SEGMENTS

IFRS 8 requires segment reporting to be based on the internal financial information reported to the chief operating decision maker. The 
Group’s chief operating decision maker is deemed to be the Executive Committee comprising Paul Hamer (Chief Executive Officer), David 
Wilton (Group Finance Director), Graham Olver (Group Services Director and Company Secretary), Liz Zukowski (HR Director) and the 
managing directors of the business units: John Jenkins (Engineering), Neil Parison (International), Ray Moore (Ireland), David Crichton-Miller 
(Environment Planning Transport) and Clive Anderson (Management Services). Its primary responsibility is to manage the Group’s day to day 
operations and analyse trading performance. The Group’s segments are detailed below and are those segments reported in the Group’s 
management accounts used by the Executive Committee as the primary means for analysing trading performance. The Executive Committee 
assesses profit performance using profit before tax measured on a basis consistent with the disclosure in the group accounts.

The Group’s operations are managed and reported by business units (Bus) as follows:

Engineering, Management Services and Environment Planning Transport are skill based, operate mainly in Great Britain and address a range of 
different markets and clients.  There is no material reliance on specific clients or on types of project and the Bus are actively encouraged to 
make best use of their own skills whilst actively promoting, where applicable, the other skills within WyG, thereby maximising the opportunity 
to cross-sell.

The Bu in Ireland, which covers both Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland, is set up to provide clients with skills in Engineering, 
Management Services and Environment, Planning and Transport.  In effect, it replicates the organisational structure in Great Britain.  

The International Bu was originally established on the back of socio-economic service demand from major clients such as the Eu, World Bank 
and the uK Department for International Development.  It has established in-country operations in Poland, Russia, Romania, Bulgaria, Turkey, 
Abu-Dhabi, Kazakhstan and South Africa and, in addition to its traditional socio-economic service, now provides technical services into those 
markets utilising the skills available across the rest of the WyG business.

Segment consolidation is based on the same accounting principles as for the Group as a whole. Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing 
market prices.
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2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
BuSINESS SEGMENTS CONTINuED
Segmental information about these businesses is presented below:

       Environment
     Management  Planning &   Inter-
    Engineering Services Transport Ireland national Eliminations Group 
    2009 2009 2009 2009              2009 2009 2009 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000          £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 

Gross revenue   76,573 28,590 53,817 52,136 52,832 (2,319) 261,629

Inter-segment   (415) (85) (21) (1,798) — 2,319 —

External gross revenue   76,158 28,505 53,796 50,338 52,832 — 261,629 

       

Operating profit excluding exceptional and other items 2,079 3,246 6,334 3,771 1,550 — 16,980

Exceptional and other items   (37,279) (7,473) (10,790) (62,692) (22,400) — (140,634)

Operating loss   (35,200) (4,227) (4,456) (58,921) (20,850) — (123,654)

Finance costs         (5,242)

Profit before tax         (128,896)

Tax         554

Profit attributable to equity shareholders        (128,342)

Other information    

Additions to property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets   2,450 743 1,435 1,607 1,684 — 7,919 

Depreciation and amortisation   3,144 1,037 2,063 2,948 1,314 — 10,506

Balance sheet    

Assets    

Segment assets   27,673 24,531 48,023 42,701 43,498 — 186,426

Unallocated corporate assets    

Cash and cash equivalents         4,808

Taxation         464

Deferred tax assets         142

Derivative financial instruments         13

Group total assets         191,853

Liabilities    

Segment liabilities   (30,194) (8,270) (13,555) (22,799) (37,969) — (112,787) 

Unallocated corporate liabilities     

Bank overdrafts, loan notes and loans        (92,382)

Retirement benefit obligation         —

Deferred tax liabilities         (3,406)

Group total liabilities         (208,575)
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2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
PRIMARy REPORTING FORMAT – BuSINESS SEGMENTS CONTINuED

       Environment
     Management  Planning &   Inter-
    Engineering Services Transport Ireland national Eliminations Group 
    2008 2008 2008 2008              2008 2008 2008 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000          £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue

Gross revenue   97,459 35,373 55,791 53,646 45,506 (5,667) 282,108

Inter-segment   (2,668) (821) (518) (1,660) — 5,667 —

External net revenue   94,791 34,552 55,273 51,986 45,506 — 282,108 

       

Operating profit excluding exceptional and other items 5,277 4,238 7,921 6,878 2,082 — 26,396

Exceptional and other items   (802) (478) (1,280) (1,506) (128) — (4,194)

Operating profit   4,475 3,760 6,641 5,372 1,954 — 22,202

Finance costs         (5,354)

Profit before tax         16,848

Tax         (2,411)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders        14,437

Other information    

Additions to property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets   5,382 1,553 3,425 847 658 — 11,865 

Depreciation and amortisation   3,308 954 2,105 2,890 644 — 9,901

Balance sheet    

Assets    

Segment assets   62,876 33,132 57,673 91,722 47,526  292,929

Unallocated corporate assets    

Cash and cash equivalents         3,191

Deferred tax assets         507

Derivative financial instruments         506

Group total assets         297,133

Liabilities    

Segment liabilities   (31,111) (7,596) (11,205) (14,714) (25,952)  (90,578) 

Unallocated corporate liabilities     

Bank overdrafts, loan notes and loans        (82,618)

Retirement benefit obligation         

Deferred tax liabilities         (3,551)

Group total liabilities         (176,747)

Notes to the Accounts continued
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2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
The Group’s operations are primarily located in Great Britain, Ireland and Europe. The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales 
by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services, the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets, analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

         Additions to property, 
     Sales revenue by  Carrying amount  plant and equipment 
     geographical market  of segment assets  and intangible assets

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Great Britain    158,459 177,636 100,228 153,681 4,629 10,360

Ireland    50,338 54,682 42,701 91,722 1,607 847

Rest of Europe    29,862 33,353 43,498 39,994 1,683 658

Other    22,970 16,437 — 7,532 — —

unallocated corporate assets    — — 5,426 4,204 — —

     261,629 282,108 191,853 297,133 7,919 11,865

3. OPERATING EXPENSES
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Staff costs (Note 4)        131,059 131,197

Other external and operating charges       243,718 118,808

Depreciation        6,977 4,652

Amortisation of intangible assets        3,529 5,249

         385,283 259,906

Details of exceptional and other items charged in the year can be found in note 6

Operating (loss)/profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment       6,977 4,652

Amortisation of intangible assets        3,529 5,249

Impairment of goodwill        77,184 —

Loss/(Profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment      201 (858)

Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery       2,060 390

Operating lease rentals – other        7,389 5,035

Research and development        5,092 5,189

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts  20 6

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:  

 The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation      184 159

 Other services supplied pursuant to legislation      40 45

 Corporate finance services        164 126

 Tax services        28 79

         436 415
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Notes to the Accounts continued

4. STAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       Number Number Number Number

Technical      2,440 2,619 — —

Administrative      745 745 3 4

       3,185 3,364 3 4

The actual number of employees at 30 June 2009 (including executive directors) was:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       Number Number Number Number

Technical      2,069 2,697 — —

Administrative      699 771 2 4

       2,768 3,468 2 4

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries      111,734 113,616 217 187

Social security costs      15,320 14,031 20 18

Pension costs      4,005 3,550 — —

       131,059 131,197 237 205

In addition to the above permanent staff, the Group utilises the services of agency and temporary contract staff as circumstances require.

Details of directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

The directors have identified 18 (2008: 20) (Company 2009: 4; 2008: 4) key management personnel whose compensation was as follows:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Short term employment benefits      2,737 3,171 213 187

Post employment benefits      176 260 — —

Gains made on share-based payments     297 751 — —

       3,210 4,182 213 187

5. FINANCE COSTS
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Interest on bank loans, guarantees and overdrafts      4,731 4,593

Interest on obligations under finance leases       138 356

Interest on loan notes        3 46

Interest on defined benefit scheme liabilities       370 359

         5,242 5,354
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6. EXCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMS

The following is an analysis of the exceptional and other items arising within the Group during the period, all of which have been included in the  
Consolidated Income Statement.
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Employee termination costs        8,968 —

Office closure costs        20,602 —

Work in progress and trade receivables provisions      20,547 —

Professional indemnity claim provisions       5,650 —

Professional fees        3,440 —

Impairment of goodwill        77,184 —

Other restructuring costs        2,013 —

Finance costs        374 —

Exceptional items        138,778 —

Amortisation of acquired intangibles       2,230 4,194

Exceptional and other items        141,008 4,194

WyG has incurred significant exceptional costs in the financial year.  These exceptional costs arose predominantly from the restructuring of the 
Group, and relate to redundancies and office closure costs, the write-down of work in progress and trade receivables balances, prospective offer 
costs, fees arising on the refinancing, the impairment of goodwill and other general restructuring costs.

The Board has implemented measures to reduce headcount in the financial year. These headcount reductions have been across the entire Group, 
but concentrated in the Engineering and Irish business units.

WyG has announced the closure of 17 regional offices in the uK and Republic of Ireland.  A provision of £17.2m has been made as an exceptional 
cost in respect of vacant leasehold charges primarily made up of rent, rates and service charges payable by the Group over the remaining lease 
terms on vacated properties.  The Group is actively seeking to sub-let these properties.  In addition, the Group has provided £0.7m in respect of 
ongoing cost obligations in closed locations and £2.7m for asset write offs. 

When the half year results were announced on 25 February 2009, the Group reported an exceptional charge of £8m in respect of a provision 
against work in progress and trade receivables following a review of such balances.  At the year end a further review was undertaken as part of 
the overall review of the business unit balance sheets and the Board now considers it necessary to provide a further £12.5m in respect of such 
balances.  This review covered all receivable balances and was undertaken in the context of current market conditions and the Group  
restructuring.  Where appropriate, efforts will be made to recover as much of these balances as possible. 

The Group’s professional indemnity claim provision has been assessed on the likely scale of settlement payable by the Group. The amounts  
classified as exceptional items include those costs that cover the insurance deductible payable on all outstanding claims.  

The Group has incurred significant professional costs in connection with the refinancing.  These costs are treated as exceptional.

The Group has reviewed the value of the goodwill arising upon past acquisitions carried on its balance sheets. Following this review, the Group 
has reduced the value of goodwill carried on the balance sheet in respect of all the business units. This impairment charge is an accounting matter 
and does not represent a cash cost.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles was classified as ‘other items’ on the Income Statement last year. This year it has been included in  
exceptional and other items.
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7.TAX
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Current tax:  

 uK corporation tax on profits for the year at 28% (2008: 29.5%)     (2,206) 3,479

 Adjustments in respect of prior years       — (2,081)

 Overseas tax on profits for the year       335 1,289

         (1,871) 2,687

Deferred tax (Note 15):   

 Movement in deferred tax        1,317 (276)

         (554) 2,411

Tax on items charged to equity:   

 Deferred tax (charge)/credit related to share-based payments     (192) (361)

 Deferred tax (charge)/credit related to the actuarial gains and losses on retirement benefit schemes  406 (164)

         214 (525)

Tax for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

FACTORS AFFECTING THE CuRRENT TAx CHARGE FOR THE yEAR
The tax charge for the year is lower (2008: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the uK when applied to reported profit. The 
differences are explained below:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax        (128,896) 16,848

(Loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate of uK corporation tax rate of 28% (2008: 29.5%)  (36,089) 4,970

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes       4,563 290

Non-deductible acquired assets amortisation       17,526 1,237

Adjustments in respect of prior years       — (2,081)

Enhanced expenditure        (428) —

Fixed asset timing differences        781 —

Losses carried forward        9,706 —

Other temporary differences        (306) (1,014)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions     2,376 (715)

Total current tax (credit)/charge        (1,871) 2,687

Current year deferred tax – on amortisation of acquired intangibles     (505) (1,163)

Current year deferred tax – other        1,822 887

Total tax (credit)/charge        (554) 2,411

Notes to the Accounts continued
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8. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share being profit for the year   (128,342) 14,437

Adjustment relating to exceptional items       137,542 1,636

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted adjusted earnings per share    9,200 16,073

         2009 2008
         Number Number

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share    52,169,867 50,902,193

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:  

 Share options       (92,318) 112,460

 Shares to be issued in respect of acquisitions      — 1,892,929

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share    52,077,549 52,907,582

Earnings per share  

Basic       (246.0p) 28.4p

Diluted       (246.4p) 27.3p

Adjusted earnings per share  

Basic       17.6p 31.6p

Diluted       17.7p 30.4p

9. DIVIDENDS
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:  

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2008 of 6.3p (2007: 5.4p) per share    3,251 2,713

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of nil (2008: 3.2p) per share    — 1,651

         3,251 4,364

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of nil (2008: 6.3p) per share   — 3,251

10. HOLDING COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

The directors have taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not prepared a separate income statement for the 
Company. The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders includes a loss of £83,313,000 (2008: £2,840,000 profit) attributable to 
the Company.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

11. GOODWILL

          £’000

Cost 

At 1 July 2007         81,122

Exchange differences         4,991

Recognised on acquisition of businesses – current year       29,409

Recognised on acquisition of businesses – prior year       103

At 1 July 2008         115,625

Exchange differences         3,220

Recognised on acquisition of businesses – prior year       1,811

At 30 June 2009         120,656

Accumulated impairment losses 

At 1 July 2007, 1 July 2008         —

Impairment charge         (77,184)

Accumulated impairment losses at 30 June 2009       (77,184)

Net book value 

At 30 June 2009         43,472

At 30 June 2008         115,625

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications that it may have suffered an impairment. Goodwill is considered 
impaired to the extent that its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the value in use and the fair value less 
costs to sell of the CGu to which it is allocated. In the impairment tests of goodwill performed in 2009, the recoverable amount was 
determined based on the value in use calculations.

Management based the value in use calculations on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent three year financial plans approved by 
the Board including certain sensitivities, in which the principal assumptions were those regarding sales growth and changes in direct costs.

Cash flows for the years beyond the three year financial plans for the CGus to which significant amounts of goodwill were allocated were 
calculated as follows: cashflows in the fourth and fifth years and those thereafter were projected to grow at 2% per annum which does not 
exceed the long term growth rates in the principal end markets in the uK, Republic of Ireland and Europe.

Management applied discount rates to the resulting cashflow projections that reflect current market assessments of the time. Pre tax discount 
rates used in the annual impairment were 14%.

During the financial period, impairments totalling £77,184,000 were recognised in relation to the goodwill allocated across all CGus.

In all CGus there has been a deterioration in the markets which caused the impairment of £14,421,000 in International, £17,423,000 in 
Engineering, £2,592,000 in EPT, £2,394,000 in Management Services and £40,354,000 in Ireland.  

Management has assessed the sensitivity of the recoverable amounts to key assumptions to be as follows: a one percentage point increase in 
the pre-tax discount rate of 14% would reduce the recoverable amount by £6.2m; a one percentage point fall in operating margin across all 
business units would reduce the recoverable amount by £17.1m; and a one percentage point fall in the assumed long term growth rate of 2% 
would reduce the recoverable amount by £4.5m.

The carrying values of goodwill by both primary and secondary segments are as follows:

       Environment 
      Management Planning &   
     Engineering Services Transport Ireland International Total 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Great Britain    — 12,637 25,863 — — 38,500

Ireland    — — — 4,972 — 4,972

Rest of Europe    — — — — — —

Other    — — — — — —

     — 12,637 25,863 4,972 — 43,472
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12. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
        Total   
      Order  Customer  acquired Computer  
      books relationships intangibles software Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost        

At 1 July 2007     4,414 7,818 12,232 4,506 16,738

Additions     — — — 1,409 1,409

Acquired on business combinations     1,531 6,703 8,234 — 8,234

Exchange differences     305 264 569 92 661

Disposals     — — — (2,212) (2,212)

At 1 July 2008     6,250 14,785 21,035 3,795 24,830

Additions     — — — 1,021 1,021

Exchange differences     165 142 307 52 359

Disposals     — — — (270) (270)

At 30 June 2009     6,415 14,927 21,342 4,598 25,940

Amortisation       

At 1 July 2007     2,406 869 3,275 2,957 6,232

Charge for the year     2,803 1,391 4,194 1,055 5,249

Exchange differences     231 39 270 88 358

Disposals     — — — (2,212) (2,212)

At 1 July 2008     5,440 2,299 7,739 1,888 9,627

Charge for the year     729 1,501 2,230 1,299 3,529

Exchange differences     171 20 191 69 260

Disposals     — — — (175) (175)

At 30 June 2009     6,340 3,820 10,160 3,081 13,241

Net book value       

At 30 June 2009     75 11,107 11,182 1,517 12,699

At 30 June 2008     810 12,486 13,296 1,907 15,203

Where appropriate, intangible assets identified in business combinations have been recognised in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 
(Business combinations) and IAS 38 (Intangible assets). Intangible assets have only been recognised where they have identifiable future 
economic benefits that are controlled by the entity. It is probable that these benefits will flow to the entity and their fair value can be 
measured reliably. 

The useful lives for the intangible assets acquired during the year were assessed to be as follows:

Computer software  – 3 to 5 years

Order books  – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

There were no intangible assets in the Company (2008: nil).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
      Short   Office   
      leasehold  Motor  furniture and  Assets under  
      improvements vehicles equipment construction Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost     

At 1 July 2007     5,798 6,371 14,936 — 27,105

Additions     3,675 2,218 3,099 1,464 10,456

Acquired on business combinations     — 20 974 — 994

Exchange differences     88 72 598 — 758

Reclassifications     — 24 (24) — —

Disposals     (340) (6,019) (6,460) — (12,819)

At 1 July 2008     9,221 2,686 13,123 1,464 26,494

Additions     1,526 213 2,018 3,141 6,898

Exchange differences     50 40 324 — 414

Reclassifications     — (59) 45 — (14)

Disposals     (8) (1,815) (363) — (2,186)

At 30 June 2009     10,789 1,065 15,147 4,605 31,606

Accumulated depreciation     

At 1 July 2007     2,252 3,140 10,872 — 16,264

Charge for the year     937 1,225 2,490 — 4,652

Exchange differences     42 95 354 — 491

Reclassifications     — 24 (24) — —

Disposals     (340) (2,710) (6,380) — (9,430)

At 1 July 2008     2,891 1,774 7,312 — 11,977

Charge for the year     3,244 138 3,595 — 6,977

Exchange differences     31 24 168 — 223

Reclassifications     18 (43) 11 — (14)

Disposals     (8) (1,145) (258) — (1,411)

At 30 June 2009     6,176 748 10,828 — 17,752

Net book value     

At 30 June 2009     4,613 317 4,319 4,605 13,854

At 30 June 2008     6,330 912 5,811 1,464 14,517

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes an amount of £1,512,510 (2008: £3,245,000) in respect of assets 
held under finance leases. Depreciation charged in the year on these assets amounted to £1,320,987 (2008: £2,841,000).

The Company had no property, plant and equipment at either year end.  

Notes to the Accounts continued
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14. INVESTMENTS

The Group has reviewed the carrying value of the Company’s net assets as a result of the deterioration in certain of the Group’s markets. The 
resulting impairment was £77,184,000 (2008: £nil) of which £18,776,000 was applied to the investments below. The investments were written 
down to the estimated recoverable amount based on the impairment review performed on the Group’s goodwill. Note 11 details the value in use 
calculations.
        Company investment 
        in subsidiary undertakings

        Cost Provision value 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 July 2007       23,931 (269) 23,662

Movements in the year       37,256 — 37,256

At 1 July 2008       61,187 (269) 60,918

Impairment       — (18,776) (18,776)

At 30 June 2009       61,187 (19,045) 42,142

A provision of £58,408,000 has been recorded against receivables (note 17), being the remaining impairment losses which could not be 
allocated to the investments above.

The Group’s principal trading subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned, are:

Subsidiary  Country of incorporation Activity

WyG Engineering Limited  England and Wales Engineering consultants

WyG Environment Planning Transport Limited  England and Wales Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Management Services Limited  England and Wales Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG International Limited  England and Wales Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Ireland Limited  Republic of Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Environment and Planning (Ireland) Limited  Republic of Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Nolan Ryan Tweeds Limited  Republic of Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Engineering (Ireland) Limited  Republic of Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Engineering (NI) Limited  Northern Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Environmental & Planning (NI) Limited  Northern Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

WyG Nolan Ryan Tweeds (NI) Limited  Northern Ireland Multi-disciplinary consultants

The investment in all of the above companies are held through subsidiary undertakings.

On 1 July 2008 White young Green Consulting Limited changed its name to WyG Engineering Limited and White young Green Environmental 
Limited changed its name to WyG Environment Planning Transport Limited.

On 22 July 2008 Philip Downie and Associates Limited changed its name to WyG Engineering (NI) Limited.

On 21 July 2008 Hydrogeological and Environmental Services Limited changed its name to WyG Nolan Ryan (NI) Limited. This was then 
changed to WyG NI Tweeds Limited on 27 March 2009.

On 2 July 2008 White young Green Environmental (NI) Limited changed its name to WyG Environmental (NI) Limited and on 27 November 
2008 changed again to WyG Environmental and Planning (NI) Limited.
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15. DEFERRED TAX
The following are the principal deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior 
year:

   Accelerated   Tax  Retirement  Other    Deferred tax 
   tax Share-based  deductible  benefit Intangible temporary    assets not 
   depreciation payments goodwill obligations assets  differences Losses recognised Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax asset at 1 July 2007  23 1,463 — 1,140 — 135 — — 2,761

Deferred tax liability at 1 July 2007  (142) — (173) — (2,508) — — — (2,823)

   (119) 1,463 (173) 1,140 (2,508) 135 — — (62)

Credit/(charge) to income  65 (328) (55) (460) 1,163 (109) — — 276

Credit to equity  — (361) — (164) — — — — (525)

Acquisition of subsidiaries  — — — — (2,306) 460 — — (1,846)

Exchange differences  — — — — (37) — — — (37)

   (54) 774 (228) 516 (3,688) 486 — — (2,194)

Deferred tax asset at 1 July 2008  33 774 — 516 — 610 — — 1,933

Deferred tax liability at 1 July 2008  (87) — (228) — (3,688) (124) — — (4,127)

   (54) 774 (228) 516 (3,688) 486 — — (2,194)

Credit/(charge) to income  950 (582) (56) (173) 505 (253) 9,591 (11,299) (1,317)

Charge to equity  — (192) — 406 — — — — 214

Acquisition of subsidiaries  — — — — — — — — —

Exchange differences   — — — — (14) — — — (14)

   896 — (284) 749 (3,197) 233 9,591 (11,299) (3,311)

Deferred tax asset at 30 June 2009  896 — — 749 — 338 9,591 (11,299) 275

Deferred tax liability at 30 June 2009 — — (284) — (3,197) (105) — — (3,586)

   896 — (284) 749 (3,197) 233 9,591 (11,299) (3,311)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of any significant temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets where it is 
probable that these assets will be recovered.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries with a 
lower rate of corporation tax than that suffered in the uK, for which no deferred tax liabilities have been recognised, was £416,000 (2008: 
£3,249,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences as the Group is in a position to control the timing of their reversal 
and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at either year end.  
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16. WORK-IN-PROGRESS
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Work-in-progress      55,255 48,751 — —

Provision      (14,066) (710) — —

Net work-in-progress      41,189 48,041 — —

The value of work in progress comprises the costs incurred on a contract plus an appropriate proportion of overheads and attributable profit. Profit 
is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in full 
for estimated losses.

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year    

Amounts receivable on contracts      66,627 76,897 — —

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables    (9,178) (3,486) — —

Trade receivables – net      57,449 73,411 — —

Prepayments and accrued income      3,896 4,621 —  —

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings     — — 36,161 105,657

Other receivables      2,731 3,589 — —

       64,076 81,621 36,161 105,657

A provision for impairment losses of £58,408,000 has been recorded in the Company against the gross receivables of £94,569,000 resulting in 
a net receivable of £36,161,000 (see note 14).

At 30 June 2009 trade receivables of £19,289,000 (2008: £7,522,000) were considered for potential impairment. The amount provided for 
these balances was £9,178,000 (2008: £3,486,000). The allocation of the provision according to invoice due date is as follows:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Between 0 and 30 days      166 31 — —

Between 31 and 60 days      218 62 — —

Between 61 and 120 days      457 144 — —

Between 121 and 150 days      503 65 — —

Between 151 and 330 days      3,004 1,133 — —

Greater than 330 days      4,830 2,051 — —

       9,178 3,486 — —



White Young Green plc Annual Report 200988

Notes to the Accounts continued

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

At 30 June 2009 trade receivables of £31.4m (2008: £22.1m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent 
customers for whom there is no recent history of non-payment. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables according to invoice due date is 
as follows:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Between 0 and 30 days      10,107 11,167 — —

Between 31 and 60 days      6,063 3,822 — —

Between 61 and 120 days      4,596 3,062 — —

Between 121 and 150 days      1,976 423 — —

Between 151 and 330 days      5,407 3,046 — —

Greater than 330 days      3,229 600 — —

       31,378 22,120 — —

At 30 June 2009 trade receivables of £26.1m (2008: £51.3m) were neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling      37,908 53,384 — —

Euro      24,375 22,596 — —

Polish Zloty      3,149 340 — —

Other      1,195 577 — —

       66,627 76,897 — —

Movements on the Group position for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 July      3,486 1,971 — —

On acquisition of subsidiaries      — 574 — —

Provision for receivables impairment     6,164 1,800 — —

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable    (553) (918) — —

Exchange      81 59 — —

As at 30 June      9,178 3,486 — —

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in the income statement.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. There is no material difference between the carrying 
value and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not 
hold any collateral as security.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year    

Trade payables      14,372 12,267 — —

Payments received on account      29,619 28,795 — —

Social security and other taxes      8,214 12,196 — —

Other payables      5,107 3,002 — —

Accruals      14,310 16,845 661 450

Deferred consideration (note 20)      777 6,872 400 6,314

       72,399 79,977 1,061 6,764

19. PROVISIONS, LIABILITIES AND OTHER CHARGES 
           Group  
         vacant  
       Claims Redundancy Leasehold Total  
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At June 2007      2,785 — — 2,785

Additional provisions      1,896 — — 1,896

utilised during the year      (1,001) — — (1,001)

At June 2008      3,680 — — 3,680

Additional provisions      8,626 8,968 17,210 34,804

utilised during the year      (2,731) (5,697) — (8,428)

At June 2009      9,575 3,271 17,210 30,056

Professional indemnity claims

Provisions are made for current and estimated obligations in respect of claims made by contractors and the general public relating to accident 
or other insurable risks as a result of the business activities of the Group. These include claims held by the Group’s captive insurance company, 
Oakdale Insurance Company Limited. In the prior year accounts the provision for professional indemnity claims was presented within accruals 
as the liability was not considered significant for separate disclosure.

Redundancy

Provision is made for current estimated future costs of redundancy and ex gratia payments to be made where this has been communicated to 
those employees concerned.

Vacant properties

The Group has a number of vacant leasehold properties, with the majority of the head leases expiring within the next five years. Provision has 
been made for the residual lease commitments together with other outgoings, after taking into account potential sub-tenant arrangements 
and assumptions relating to later periods of vacancy.

There were no other provisions, liabilities and other charges held by the Company.

20. DEFERRED CONSIDERATION

       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 July      6,872 11,853 6,314 11,036

Shares issued in the year      — (1,661) — (1,661)

Amounts settled in cash/loan notes      (5,514) (9,411) (5,514) (9,039)

Released to goodwill      (400) (157) (400) (156)

Exchange differences      46 114 — —

Arising on acquisitions in the year      — 6,134 — 6,134

Arising on acquisitions made in previous years     (227) — — —

At 30 June      777 6,872 400 6,314

Deferred consideration is in respect of acquisitions for which part of the consideration is payable during future accounting periods in the form 
of shares or cash or loan notes, the majority of which is dependent on performance.
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21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current    

Bank overdrafts      6,447 385 — —

Obligations under finance leases      851 1,131 — —

Loan notes      — 240 — 240

       7,298 1,756 — 240

Non-current    

Bank loans      88,485 82,592 88,256 82,352

Obligations under finance leases      461 1,282 — —

       88,946 83,874 88,256 82,352

Financial liabilities are repayable as follows:    

On demand or within one year      7,298 1,756 — 240

In the second year      431 807 — —

In the third to fifth years inclusive      88,515 83,067 88,256 82,352

       96,244 85,630 88,256 82,592

ANALySIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES By CuRRENCy:
        Sterling Euro Total 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

30 June 2009   

Bank overdrafts       5,881 566 6,447

Bank loans       60,000 28,485 88,485

Obligations under finance leases       1,312 — 1,312

Loan notes       — — —

        67,193 29,051 96,244

30 June 2008   

Bank overdrafts       385 — 385

Bank loans       33,000 49,592 82,592

Obligations under finance leases       2,405 8 2,413

Loan notes       240 — 240

        36,030 49,600 85,630

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount and the present value of minimum lease payments does not 
differ materially to the minimum lease payments.

Obligations under finance leases comprise gross rental payments of £1.5m (2008: £2.7m) and future finance charges of £0.2m (2008: £0.3m).

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets.

The Group has issued bonds and guarantees to WyG International to the value of £30,978,000 (2008: £26,687,000) in the ordinary course of 
business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guarantees.
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including foreign currency risks, interest rate 
risks and credit risks.

Risk management is carried out by Group treasury under policies approved by the Board of directors. These principles are embedded in the 
Group Treasury and Cash Management Operating Guidelines and Procedures. The Board provides written principles for overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as currency exposure management, interest rate risk, working capital 
control and investment of excess liquidity.

FOREIGN CuRRENCy RISK

The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse affects on the Group’s financial performance, using 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures. Policy is to manage centrally the Group’s liquidity, funding and exposure to foreign 
currency risk in a manner which ensures straightforward administration, minimisation of risk and operational flexibility.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, where the net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. The Group 
hedges its long term investments in overseas assets through a loan of €33.0m with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Fortis Bank and The Royal Bank of 
Scotland plc.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than Pounds 
Sterling. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the Euro, though most of the Group’s trading is denominated in the currencies 
relevant to the local subsidiaries, thus matching the currency with its cost base. As a result the Group does not hedge everyday foreign 
currency transactions.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the local functional 
currency:

       Functional currency of Group operations

       Sterling Euro Sterling Euro
       2009 2009 2008 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling      — 338 — 60

Euro      (17,415) — (49,352) —

uS Dollar      — 630 — 136

Polish Zloty      — 2,612 — 2,070

Turkish Lira      — 46 — 12

Russian Rouble      — 183 — 508

Other      — 1,044 — 90

       (17,415) 4,853 (49,352) 2,876

At 30 June 2009 if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the 
year would not have been affected significantly as there is typically minimal Euro invoicing performed by those entities which report in 
Sterling, and all foreign exchange gains/losses arising on Euro denominated borrowings are hedged.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables and invoiced work performed 
for these parties.

Group policy for cash deposits is that only banks and institutions with an independently determined short-term credit rating of A1 and a long 
term credit rating of at least AA- (under Standard & Poors’ definitions) are used for investments.

The Group has a customer credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. At 30 June 2009 there were 
no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of each financial asset included on the 
balance sheet.

CASH FLOW AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings. Group policy is to monitor interest rate exposure on floating rate debt, with 
interest rate caps maintained through separate financial instruments on approximately 60% of its total long term borrowings.

The Group has agreed bank facilities with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Fortis Bank and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. The facilities are unsecured 
and comprised a total loan facility of £100.0m and a committed overdraft facilities of £5.0m and €4.0m. 

All facilities are repayable in February 2012. Sterling denominated loans bear interest at rates between 3% above LIBOR and the Euro 
denominated loans at 3% above EuRIBOR. At the year end the Group’s bank loans totalled £88.5m (2008: £82.6m), this comprises Sterling 
loans of £60m and Euro loans of €33.3m. The Group’s overdraft balance was £6.4m (2008: £0.4m) and the Group also had cash balances of 
£10.9m (2008: £17.4m).

The Group has agreed a committed facility with Lloyds TSB Asset Finance, secured on related assets. At 30 June 2009 £1.3m (2008: £2.4m) of 
finance leases were drawn down.
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

CASH FLOW AND INTEREST RATE RISK CONTINuED
The Group has entered into the following interest rate caps to cap the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as specified below:

Institution  Capped period Trade date Strike rate Notional amount

Lloyds TSB Bank plc  2 years July 2008 EuRIBOR 5.00% €10m

Lloyds TSB Bank plc  3 years December 2007 EuRIBOR 4.50% €5m

Fortis Bank  3 years July 2006 EuRIBOR 4.00% €10m

Fortis Bank  3 years July 2008 EuRIBOR 5.00% €20m

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc  3 years May 2007 LIBOR 6.00% £10m

The fair value of the interest rate caps entered into at 30 June 2009 is estimated at £13,000 (2008: £0.5m). These amounts are based on 
market-to-market valuations provided by the issuer of each instrument. All of these interest rate caps are designated and effective as cash 
flow hedges and the fair value thereof has been deferred in equity.

The Group does not take out interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk.

     Floating rate  Fixed rate   Floating rate  Fixed rate  
     liabilities liabilities Total liabilities liabilities Total
     2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling    65,881 1,312 67,193 33,625 2,405 36,030

Euro    29,051 — 29,051 49,592 8 49,600

     94,932 1,312 96,244 83,217 2,413 85,630

The weighted average interest rate for fixed rate borrowings was 4.8% (2008: 5.9%) and the weighted average period to maturity was 16 
months (2008: 30 months).

At 30 June 2009, if interest rates had been 300 basis-points higher/lower for the full financial year, with all other variables held constant, this 
would have resulted in a reduction to post-tax profits of £1.7m (2008: £1.1m), or increase in post-tax profits of £1.9m (2008: £1.7m) 
respectively.

FAIR vALuES
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are considered to be materially equivalent to their book value. Fair values 
have been calculated by reference to cash flows discounted at prevailing interest rates.

GROSS uNDISCOuNTED CASH FLOWS
An analysis of undiscounted contractual maturities for non derivative financial liabilities is set out below.

              Total
      Within   More than contractual 
      1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years maturity 
At 30 June 2009     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables     (103,405) — — — (103,405)

Bank loans     (3,097) (6,194) (91,582) — (100,873)

Bank overdrafts     (6,673) — — — (6,673)

Finance leases     (1,004) (508) (36) — (1,548)

      (114,179) (6,702) (91,618) — (212,499)

At 30 June 2008     

Trade and other payables     (82,880) (776) — — (83,656)

Bank loans     (4,130) (8,259) (90,851) — (103,240)

Bank overdrafts     (404) — — — (404)

Finance leases     (1,348) (961) (567)  (2,876)

      (88,762) (9,996) (91,418) — (190,176)
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23. SHARE CAPITAL
         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Authorised:  

100,000,000 (2008: 100,000,000) ordinary shares of 5p each     5,000 5,000

Issued and fully paid:  

52,964,456 (2008: 51,664,456) ordinary shares of 5p each      2,648 2,583

SHARES ALLOTTED DuRING THE yEAR
        Nominal Share Net 
        value premium consideration 
       Number £’000 £’000 £’000

On exercise of share options      1,300,000 65 710 775

24. RESERVES
    2009  2008

    Hedging &  Share   Hedging &  Share  
   Retained  translation  premium  Merger Retained  translation  premium Merger
   earnings reserve account reserve earnings reserve account reserve
Group   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 July   38,974 5,616 21,614 51,599 29,084 (687) 21,428 36,696

Retained (loss)/profit for the year  (128,342) — — — 14,437 — — —

Transfers  33,699 — — (33,699) — — — —

Dividends  (3,251) — — — (4,364) — — —

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined  
benefit pension schemes  (1,449) — — — 584 — — —

Tax on items taken directly to equity 214 — — — (525) — — —

Currency translation differences  — (2,138) — — — 6,102 — —

Gains on cash flow hedges  — (493) — — — 201 — —

Premium on issue of shares  — — 710 — — — 186 14,903

Employee benefits trusts  (2,424) — — — (242) — — —

At 30 June   (62,579) 2,985 22,324 17,900 38,974 5,616 21,614 51,599

    2009  2008

    Hedging &  Share   Hedging &  Share  
   Retained  translation  premium  Merger Retained  translation  premium Merger
   earnings reserve account reserve earnings reserve account reserve
Company   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 July   1,544 506 21,614 51,599 3,310 305 21,428 36,696

Retained profit for the year  (83,313) — — — 2,840 — — —

Transfers  33,699 — — (33,699) — — — —

Dividends  (3,251) — — — (4,364) — — —

Gains on cash flow hedges  — (493) — — — 201 — —

Premium on issue of shares  — — 710 — — — 186 14,903

Employee benefits trusts  (2,424) — — — (242) — — —

At 30 June   (53,745) 13 22,324 17,900 1,544 506 21,614 51,599

Retained earnings include shares held by the WyG plc Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) and the quEST. All costs relating to the EBT and the 
quEST are dealt with in the income statement as they accrue and both have waived their rights to receive dividends on the shares they hold. 

During 2008 the directors reconsidered the historical creation of a share premium account with respect to shares issued in consideration for 
acquisitions and identified in certain cases some amounts that should have been classified as merger reserves. The transfer represents the 
movements between the merger reserve and retained earnings as a result of the impairment of in the current year goodwill recorded in the 
year.
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25. STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

        Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders     (128,342) 14,437 (83,313) 2,840

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax    (2,138) 6,102 — —

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes    (1,449) 584 — —

(Loss)/gains on cash flow hedges      (493) 201 (493) 201

Share-based payments      (2,424) (242) (2,424) (242)

New share capital issued, net of expenses     775 15,264 775 15,264

Tax on items taken directly to equity     214 (525) — —

Equity dividends paid      (3,251) (4,364) (3,251) (4,364)

Net (reduction from)/addition to shareholders’ equity   (137,108) 31,457 (88,706) 13,699

Equity attributable to equity shareholders at beginning of year   120,386 88,929 77,846 64,147

(Deficit)/equity attributable to equity shareholders at end of year  (16,722) 120,386 (10,860) 77,846

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
       Group  Company

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit from operations      (123,654) 22,202 (77,941) 745

Adjustments for:    

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment    6,977 4,652 — —

 Amortisation of intangible assets      3,529 5,249 — —

 Impairment of goodwill/investments     77,184 — 77,184 —

 (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    201 (858) — —

 Share options (credit)/charge      (1,648) 1,214 — —

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital    (37,411) 32,459 (757) 745

 Decrease/(increase) in inventories     8,818 (4,666) — —

 Decrease/(increase) in receivables     22,267 (5,648) 8,854 (32,041)

 Increase in payables      18,780 8,853 — —

Cash generated from/(used in) operations     12,454 30,998 8,097 (31,296)

Interest paid      (5,322) (5,304) — —

Tax paid      (435) (4,833) — —

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities    6,697 20,861 8,097 (31,296)
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27. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT
      At    Other At 
      1 July  Cash   non-cash  30 June 
      2008  flows Acquisitions  items 2009
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents     17,427 (6,531) — — 10,896

Bank overdrafts     (385) (6,062) — — (6,447)

Bank loans due after one year     (82,592) (504) — (5,389) (88,485)

Loan notes due within one year     (240) 240 — — —

Finance leases and hire purchase contracts    (2,413) 1,627 — (526) (1,312)

      (68,203) (11,230) — (5,915) (85,348)

Add back cash in restricted access accounts    (3,412) 52 — — (3,360)

      (71,615) (11,178) — (5,915) (88,708)

The net debt has been restated to show the Oakdale and restricted WyG International balances.

Other non-cash movements represent currency exchange differences and finance lease creditor movements.

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
The Company and its subsidiary undertakings cross guarantee to the Group’s principal bankers the overdrafts, if any, of each Company 
covered by the guarantee. At 30 June 2009 the Group’s overdrafts amounted to £6,447,000 (2008: £385,000).

The Group has issued bonds and guarantees to WyG International to the value of £30,978,000 (2008: £26,687,000) in the ordinary course of 
business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guarantees.

29. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
At 30 June 2009, the Group had capital commitments outstanding of £nil (2008: £396,000). The Company had no capital commitments at 
either year end.

At 30 June 2009, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which 
fall due as follows:

       2009  2008

       Land and   Land and  
       buildings Other buildings Other
       £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year      6,744 2,032 5,345 204

In the second to fifth years inclusive     18,194 2,215 10,759 260

After five years      13,593 — 2,848 —

       38,531 4,247 18,952 464

The Company had such commitments at either year end. Leases of land and buildings are typically subject to rent review every five years.  
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Notes to the Accounts continued

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At 30 June 2009 outstanding options and awards to subscribe for ordinary shares of 5p each in the Company, granted in accordance with the 
rules of the relevant share option schemes, the Invested Bonus Plan and the LTIP were as follows:

    At    At  Exercisable  Exercisable 
   Exercise  1 July    30 June  at 30 June  at 30 June 
Exercise or vesting date  price 2008 Awarded Exercised Lapsed 2009 2008 2009

WYG plc Executive Share Option Scheme (1996)       

17.03.2003 – 17.03.2010  183.5p 40,500 — — (20,000) 20,500 40,500 20,500

11.04.2004 – 11.04.2011  201.0p 71,000 — — (14,000) 57,000 71,000 57,000

09.07.2006 – 09.07.2013  152.5p 97,000 — — (7,000) 90,000 97,000 90,000

    208,500 — — (41,000) 167,500 208,500 167,500

WYG plc LTIP        

12.10.2008  0.0p 267,240 — (256,379) (10,861) — — —

04.10.2009  0.0p 335,069 — (32,022) (86,982) 216,065 — —

10.10.2010  0.0p 614,029 — (15,793) (193,827) 404,409 — —

16.04.2012  0.0p — 900,000 — — 900,000 — —

    1,216,338 900,000 (304,194) (291,670) 1,520,474 — —

    1,424,838 900,000 (304,194) (332,670) 1,687,974 208,500 182,000

SHARE OPTIONS
The WyG plc Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) was previously available to executive directors and other senior management, though 
now no new options are to be granted under this scheme. All options are exercisable within a period of three to ten years from the date of 
grant provided the growth in earnings per share over the three year period from the date of grant exceeds the increase in RPI by 6%. If the 
options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, options are forfeited if the 
employee leaves the Group before the options vest. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in 
cash.

The options outstanding at 30 June 2009 had a weighted average exercise price of 173.6p and a weighted average remaining contractual life 
of 2.8 years.

Share options granted since 7 November 2002, which had not vested by 1 January 2005, attract a charge under IFRS. The fair value of these 
share options has been calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. 

LTIP AND INvESTED BONuS PLAN
The Group operates the WyG plc LTIP and the WyG plc Invested Bonus Plan (IBP) for the benefit of its executive directors and senior 
management. The WyG plc Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) holds shares in the Company to meet commitments granted to employees under the 
terms of the IBP and the LTIP.

The rights to acquire shares are exercisable after a period of three years from the date of grant. The performance criteria of the LTIP awards 
with vesting dates between 12 October 2008 and 10 October 2010 are based on the growth of the Group’s normalised EPS over a three year 
period compared to the percentage increase in RPI over the same period. The performance criteria of the LTIP award with a vesting date of 
16 April 2012 is based on the Company reaching a share price target over a performance period, measured by reference to the average share 
price over the period from 16 March 2012 to 16 April 2012. There are no performance criteria for the IBP. Furthermore, rights for both 
schemes are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group of their own accord before the rights vest.

The fair value of the rights to acquire shares has been calculated based on the value of the shares on grant adjusted for future dividend 
streams. No performance conditions were included in the fair value calculations.

At 30 June 2009 the EBT held 1,175,346 (2008: 56,453) shares with a cost of £668,000 (2008: £234,000) and a market value of £272,000 
(2008: £186,000). The total commitment awarded to date amounts to 173,020 shares under the IBP and 551,635 shares under the LTIP. The 
EBT has received interest free loans from the Company to finance the acquisition of these shares.

The Company also operates a quEST, a discretionary trust established for the benefit of the employees of the Group. At 30 June 2009 the 
quEST held 3,957 (2008: 3,957) shares with a cost of £3,000 (2008: £3,000) and a market value of £1,000 (2008: £13,000).

During the year the Group recognised total credits of £1,645,000 (2008: £1,214,000 charges) related to equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for equity-settled share-based payments exercised during the year was 
78.9p.

OTHER SHARE-BASED PAyMENT PLANS
The Group also operates the WyG Share Incentive Plan which is administered by the yorkshire Building Society (the administrator). The plan is 
open to all salaried employees who contribute through a monthly deduction from payroll. Shares are purchased by the administrator on the 
open market on a monthly basis within 30 days of the payroll deduction. A matching contribution of 10% is also made by WyG. This matching 
contribution is forfeited by the individual should they leave within three years of the payroll deduction.
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
DEFINED CONTRIBuTION SCHEMES
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for all uK qualifying employees with Scottish Equitable Plc. The assets of 
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £3,644,000 (2008: £3,422,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates 
specified in the rules of the plan. As at 30 June 2009, contributions of £271,000 (2008: £279,000) due in respect of the current reporting 
period had not been paid over to the scheme.

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group is in the process of winding up a former defined benefit scheme. The White young Consulting Group Limited Retirement Benefit 
Plan (1986) (the 1986 Plan) was a funded defined benefit scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay. The scheme was 
discontinued on 31 August 1996 and treated as paid up. The latest independent actuarial valuation was prepared at 30 June 2005, when the 
market value of the assets was £1.2m. The accrued liabilities totalled £1.6m and as such the assets were sufficient to cover 77% of its 
accrued liabilities.

The deficit arising under the MFR has been considered by the scheme actuary, the scheme trustees and the Group. The actuary has 
established a schedule of contributions for the Group to bring the 1986 Plan to an appropriate level of funding for MFR purposes. Group 
contributions to the 1986 Plan in the year were £nil (2008: £20,000). The liabilities of £500,000 as at 30 June 2009 represents the remaining 
associated wind-up costs of the Plan. The latest independent actuarial valuation for the WyD Pension Scheme was prepared at 1 July 2005, 
when the market value of the assets was £2.8m. The accrued liabilities totalled £7.3m. The scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme and 
was established to allow the restructure of employer’s pension arrangements for scheme members. Group contributions to the WyD scheme in 
the year were £600,000 (2008: £600,000).

For the purposes of IAS 19 disclosures, the WyD scheme is disclosed based upon the most recent actuarial valuation at 1 July 2005, updated 
to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the scheme at 30 June 2009. The 1986 Plan is disclosed 
based on the debt on the employer and associated wind-up costs as discussed above. 

The two schemes give rise to an overall net pension liability at 30 June 2009 of £4.1m (2008: £1.8m) as follows:

         2009 2008
         % %

Key assumptions used:    

Discount rate        6.2 6.7

Expected rate of salary increases        N/A N/A

Future pension increases        3.7 3.6

Inflation        3.7 4.1

Life expectancy at age 65:

 Men        88.8 87.2

 Women        91.2 89.6

Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Current service cost        (12) (38)

Interest cost        (370) (359)

Expected return on scheme assets        276 285

         (106) (112)

Of the charge for the year, a credit of £264,000 (2008: £247,000) has been included in operating expenses and a charge of £370,000 (2008: 
£359,000) has been included in finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the Statement of Recognised Income and 
Expense.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED
DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINuED
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit schemes is 
as follows:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations (WyD Scheme)      (6,780) (5,638)

Fair value of scheme assets (WyD Scheme)       4,474 4,248

Liability recognised in the balance sheet (WyD Scheme)      (2,306) (1,390)

Other pension liabilities        (1,820) (453)

         (4,126) (1,843)

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the current period were as follows:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

At 1 July        (5,638) (6,766)

Service cost        (12) (38)

Interest cost        (370) (359)

Actuarial (losses)/gains        (1,019) 984

Benefits paid         247 529

Charges paid        12 12

At 30 June        (6,780) (5,638)

Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current period were as follows:

         2009 2008
         £’000 £’000

At 1 July        4,248 4,299

Expected return on scheme assets        276 285

Actuarial losses        (391) (400)

Contributions from the sponsoring companies       600 605

Benefits paid         (247) (529)

Charges paid        (12) (12)

At 30 June        4,474 4,248
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED
DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINuED
The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

       Expected return  Fair value of assets

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       % % £’000 £’000

Equity instruments      8.1 8.2 1,596 1,759

Fixed interest instruments      4.3 5.0 2,548 2,116

Other assets      6.2 7.1 330 373

       5.8 6.5 4,474 4,248

The overall expected rate of return is based on the weighted average return on each asset category out of the total assets held in each plan. 

The five year history of experience adjustments is as follows:

      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations    (6,780) (5,638) (6,766) (9,201) (9,379)

Fair value of scheme assets     4,474 4,248 4,299 4,950 4,043

Deficit in the schemes     (2,306) (1,390) (2,467) (4,251) (5,336)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities:     

 Amount (£’000)     327 142 66 116 (21)

 Percentage of scheme liabilities (%)    5% 3% 1% 1% —

Experience adjustments on scheme assets:     

 Amount (£’000)     (391) (400) 260 (23) 87

 Percentage of scheme assets (%)    9% 9% 5% — 2%

The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid to the schemes during the current financial year is £600,000.

The 1986 Plan is not included in the 2009 experience history as the liability disclosed at 30 June 2009 represents the remaining associated 
wind-up costs of the Plan.

32. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Since the balance sheet date the Group has agreed terms for a proposed capital restructuring with its lenders.  Further details of this are given 
in note 1. There have been no other significant events since the balance sheet date. 

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2008 dividends of £4,364,000 were paid on behalf of the Company by WyG Engineering Limited. No inter company dividends were paid in 
2009 (2008: £4,000,000 and £1,000,000 were received from WyG Engineering Limited and WyG Environment Planning Transport Limited 
respectively).

The Company also financed £nil (2008: £13,412,000) of acquisitions on behalf of other Group companies. During the year in order to balance 
Group assets and liabilities denominated in Euros the Company subscribed for £nil (2008: £37,256,000) of additional share capital in WyG 
International Limited.

Intercompany balances between the respective companies reflect the above transactions.
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Guidance for Shareholders

The AGM of White young Green plc will be held at The village Hotel North Leeds, 186 Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS16 5PR on 11 
December 2009 at 3pm. As part of the Group’s commitment to communicate more clearly with shareholders, we have set out below 
explanations of the detailed formal business to be dealt with at the AGM.

RESOLUTIONS 1 TO 8 ORDINARY BUSINESS
These resolutions relate to matters commonly considered at AGMs of listed companies and are explained in the notes below.

RESOLuTION 1: REPORT AND ACCOuNTS
The directors are required to present to the meeting the accounts and Directors and Auditors’ Reports for the year ended 30 June 2009.

RESOLuTION 2: DIRECTORS’ REMuNERATION REPORT
The directors are required to present to the meeting the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2009.

RESOLuTIONS 3 TO 5 INCLuSIvE: APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
The Company’s Articles of Association require that any director appointed during the year shall hold office only until the next AGM and shall 
then be eligible for election. In accordance with these rules, Michael McTighe, David Wilton and Graham Olver are seeking election at this 
meeting.

Profiles of Michael McTighe, David Wilton and Graham Olver are provided in the Annual Report on pages 40 and 41 together with a profile of 
each of the other directors.

RESOLuTIONS 6 TO 7: RE-APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
On 31 July 2009, the Company announced that John Richardson would retire with effect from the AGM.  The Company has subsequently 
agreed with John Richardson that he will stay on until 31 December 2009. 

In accordance with best practice, directors who have served for more than nine years are required to seek annual re-election by shareholders.  
John Richardson has served on the Board since 1997 and will therefore be seeking re-election at this meeting.  

In light of the requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance and, in particular, the length of time for which John Richardson 
has been a member of the Board, the other directors have considered his ongoing independence with particular care. To satisfy the Board that 
the non-executive directors are able to exercise an independence of judgement, the nomination committee undertakes an annual review of 
directors’ interests in which all potential or perceived conflicts, including time commitments, length of service and other issues relevant to their 
independence are considered.  Based on the outcome of the review, the rest of the Board is of the view that John Richardson continues to 
demonstrate a strong independence of management in the manner in which he discharges his responsibilities as a director or the Company.  
Accordingly, in the absence of any other relevant issues, the other members of the Board have decided that notwithstanding his length of 
service with the Company he should continue to be regarded as an independent director.

The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of 
three, then the number nearest to but not more than one third to retire from office at every annual general meeting. In accordance with these 
rules, Robert Barr is retiring by rotation, and being eligible, is seeking re-election at this meeting.

Profiles of Robert Barr and John Richardson are provided in the Annual Report on pages 40 and 41 together with a profile of each of the other 
directors.

RESOLuTION 8: RE-APPOINTMENT AND REMuNERATION OF AuDITORS
The Company is required to appoint auditors at each meeting when accounts are presented. Resolution 8 proposes the re appointment of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and follows standard practice in giving authority to the Board to determine the remuneration of the auditors.

RESOLUTIONS 9 AND 10: SPECIAL BUSINESS
RESOLuTION 9:  CALLING GENERAL MEETINGS ON 14 CLEAR DAyS NOTICE
Section 307A of the the Companies Act 2006 provides that a general meeting of a “traded company” must be called by at least 21 days notice 
but may be called by at least 14 days notice if three conditions are met.  

The three conditions are:

(a) that the meeting is not an annual general meeting

(b)  that the company offers “the facility for shareholders to vote by electronic means accessible to all shareholders”. This condition is 
met if there is a facility to appoint a proxy by means of a website and

(c)  that shareholders have approved the holding of general meetings on 14 clear days notice by passing a special resolution at the 
previous Annual General Meeting or at a general meeting held since then.

The Directors consider it desirable that general meetings of the Company, other than the Annual General Meeting, can be called on at least 14 
clear days notice.  Resolution 9, which will be proposed as a special resolution, will implement this proposal and the authority of this 
Resolution will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.
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RESOLuTION 10: CHANGE OF COMPANy NAME 
Following the restructuring of the Company undertaken in 2008, the Directors consider it appropriate to change the name of the Company in 
order to align the name and branding of the Company with the other companies in the group. 

ACTION TO BE TAKEN

Enclosed is a form of proxy for use at the AGM. If you do not intend to be present at the AGM, please complete, sign and return the proxy 
form as soon as possible. In order for it to be valid, it must be received by the Registrars no later than 3pm on 9 December 2009. Any 
alterations made to this form should be initialled. A proxy may also be appointed by registering electronically by logging onto www.
capitashareportal.com. Full details of the procedures are given on that website.

If you are appointing more than one proxy you must indicate the number of shares in respect of which you are making this appointment, you 
should include the number in the box provided for your first named proxy and either obtain (an) additional proxy form(s) from the Registrars 
(+44 (0) 870 1623100) or you may photocopy this form. Please return all the forms together and tick the box to indicate each form is one of 
multiple instructions being given. Please take care when completing the number of shares; if the total number of shares exceeds the total 
being held by the member, all appointments may be invalid.

The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose shares are held on their behalf by another person and who have been 
nominated to receive communications from the Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (nominated persons). 
Nominated persons may have the right under an agreement with the registered shareholder who holds the shares on their behalf to be 
appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such a right, or do not wish to 
exercise it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the person holding the shares as to the exercise of voting 
rights.

If two or more valid forms of proxy are delivered in respect of the same share, the one which was delivered last (regardless of its date or the 
date of its execution) will be valid. 

Shareholders who return completed proxy voting forms may still attend the meeting instead of their proxies, and vote in person if they wish. 
In the event of a poll in which the shareholder votes in person, any proxy votes lodged with the Company by or on behalf of such shareholder 
will be excluded.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures 
described in the CREST manual. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate 
CREST message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previous 
appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by Capita Registrars (ID RA10) by no later than 3pm on 9 
December 2009. Please refer to the notes to the notice of the meeting for further information on proxy appointment through CREST.
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Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-fifth Annual General Meeting of White Young Green plc (the “Company”) will be held 
at The Village Hotel North Leeds, 186 Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS16 5PR on 11 December 2009 at 3pm for the following 
purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.  To receive and adopt the accounts for the year ended 30 June 2009 together with the report of the directors and the auditors thereon.

2. To receive and approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2009.

3. To appoint David Wilton as a director.

4. To appoint Graham Olver as a director.

5. To appoint Michael McTighe as a director.

6. To re-elect Robert Barr as a director.

7. To re-elect John Richardson as a director.

8.  To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, both of which will be proposed as special resolutions:

9.  That as permitted by section 307A of the Companies Act 2006 any general meeting of the Company (other than the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company) shall be called by notice of at least 14 clear days in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association 
of the Company provided that the authority of this Resolution shall expire on the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held in 2010.

10. That the name of the Company be and is hereby changed to “WyG plc”.

By order of the Board

Graham Olver
Secretary
Arndale Court
Headingley
Leeds LS6 2uJ
30 October 2009 
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Notes to Notice of Meeting

1.   A shareholder entitled to attend and vote may appoint another person, whether a shareholder or not, as his proxy to attend and vote 
instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice for use in connection with 
the business set out on page 102. The form of proxy and any authority under which it is executed, to be valid, must be lodged at 
Capita Registrars, Proxy Department, The Registry, Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4Tu not less than 48 hours before the 
time fixed for the meeting.

   Completion and return of the form of proxy and any authority under which it is executed will not preclude a shareholder from 
attending and voting at the meeting should he or she subsequently decide to do so. A shareholder is not entitled to attend and vote at 
the meeting (whether in person or by proxy) unless his name is entered in the register of members 48 hours before the time for 
holding the meeting and if the meeting is adjourned, a shareholder is not entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (whether in 
person or by proxy) unless his name is entered in the register of members 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting.

   A proxy may also be appointed by registered shareholders by logging onto www.capitashareportal.com. Full details of the procedures 
are given on the website. In the case of CREST members, a proxy can be appointed by utilising the CREST electronic proxy 
appointment service in accordance with the procedures set out below.

2.         CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the 
procedures described in the CREST manual.  CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members and those CREST 
members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) who will 
be able to take the appropriate actions on their behalf.

            In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message, (a “CREST 
Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in order with Euroclear uK & Ireland Limited’s (formally CRESTCo’s) specifications 
and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST manual. The message, regardless of 
whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in 
order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuers agent (ID RA10) by no later than 2pm on 2 December 2009. No 
such message received through the CREST network after this time will be accepted. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken 
to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the Crest Applications Host) from which the registrars are 
able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to 
proxies appointed by CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

            CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) should note that Euroclear uK and Ireland 
Limited does not make special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore 
apply in relation to the input of CREST proxy instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the 
CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s)), to procure that his 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) takes(s) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by 
means to the CREST system by a particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or 
voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST 
system.

3.         The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose shares are held on their behalf by another person and who have been 
nominated to receive communications from the Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 (“nominated 
persons”). Nominated persons may have a right under an agreement with the registered shareholder who holds the shares on their 
behalf to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such a right, 
or do not wish to exercise it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the person holding the shares as 
to the exercise of voting rights.

4.   Any member attending the general meeting is entitled, pursuant to section 319A of the Companies Act 2006 to ask any question 
relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting.  The Company will answer any such questions unless (i) to do so would 
interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information;  or (ii) the answer has 
already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question;  or (iii) it is undesirable in the interests of the company or the 
good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

5.          The following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company during normal business hours on any 
weekday (Saturday, Sunday and public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the meeting and on 11 
December 2009 at The village Hotel North Leeds, 186 Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS16 5PR  for at least 15 minutes before the 
meeting until the conclusion of the meeting:

  (a)  copies of the directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment; and 

  (b)  the register of the directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company.

6.   From the date of this notice and for the following two years the following information will be available on the Company’s website and 
can be accessed at www.wyg.com:-

  (i)  the matters set out in this notice of meeting;

  (ii)   the total numbers of shares in the Company and shares of each class, in respect of which members are entitled to exercise voting 
rights at the meeting;  and

  (iii)  the totals of the voting rights that members are entitled to exercise at the meeting in respect of the shares of each class.

   Any members’ statements, members’ resolutions and members’ matters of business received by the Company after the date of this 
notice will be added to the information already available on the website as soon as reasonably practicable and will also be made 
available for the following two years.
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7.  In order to attend and vote at this meeting you must comply with the procedures set out in notes 1 to 4 inclusive by the dates (if 
appropriate) specified in those notes.

8.  The right of members to vote at the Annual General Meeting is determined by reference to the register of members. As permitted by 
section 360B(3) of the Companies Act 2006 and Regulation 41 of the uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, shareholders (including 
those who hold shares in uncertificated form) must be entered on the Company’s share register at 2pm on 2 December 2009 in order to 
be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting.  Such shareholders may only cast votes in respect of shares held at such 
time.  Changes to entries on the relevant register after that time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or 
vote at the meeting.

9.  Biographical details of each Director who is being proposed for appointment or re-appointment by shareholders, including their 
membership of Board committees, are set out on pages 40 to 41 of the Annual Report.

10.  The total number of ordinary shares of 5 pence each in issue as at 30 October 2009, the last practicable day before printing this document 
was 52,964,456 ordinary shares and the total level of voting rights was 52,964,456.

11.  Pursuant to Chapter 5 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 (sections 527 to 531), where requested by either a member or members 
having a right to vote at the meeting and holding at least 5% of total voting rights of the Company or at least 100 members have a right 
to vote at the meeting and holding, on average, at least £100 of paid up share capital, the Company must publish on its website, a 
statement setting out any matter that such member or members propose to raise at the Annual General Meeting relating to the audit of 
the Company’s accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the Annual General 
Meeting.

  Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on its website it may not require the members making the request to pay any 
expenses incurred by the Company in complying with the request, it must forward the statement to the Company’s auditors no later than 
the time the statement is made available on the Company’s website, and the statement may be dealt with as part of the business of the 
Annual General Meeting.

  A member or members wishing to request publication of such a statement on the Company’s website must send the request to the 
Company using one of the following methods:

 • in hard copy form to the Company Secretary, Arndale Court, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2uJ  - the request must be signed by you; or

 • by fax to 0113 278 3487 marked for the attention of the Company Secretary.

  Whichever form of communication is chosen, the request must either set out the statement in full or, if supporting a statement sent by 
another member, clearly identify the statement which is being supported, and be received by the Company at least one week before the 
Annual General Meeting. 
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Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
                                                IFRS 

      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Results     

Revenue – gross     261,629 282,108 220,641 167,487 143,906

Revenue – net 1      213,927 232,110 176,535 132,854 116,328

Operating profit 2     16,980 26,396 19,560 13,670 11,312

Profit before tax 2     12,112 21,042 16,012 11,650 9,429

Profit attributable to equity shareholders    (128,342) 14,437 9,884 7,838 6,749

Dividend per share     — 9.5p 8.3p 7.2p 6.5p

Earnings per share 2     17.6p 31.6p 24.5p 20.0p 17.0p

PE ratio 2     1.3 10.4 18.4 17.8 17.6

Share price at 30 June     23.1p 330.0p 451.5p 355.5p 298.5p

1 after deducting revenue attributable to third parties on which the Group does not make a margin.
2 before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets and goodwill.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
                                                IFRS

      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goodwill and other intangibles     56,171 130,828 91,628 68,042 37,660

Property, plant and equipment     13,854 14,517 10,841 9,480 9,097

Work in progress     41,189 48,041 40,867 30,966 28,772

Receivables     68,283 86,320 68,352 55,455 42,018

Payables     (110,871) (91,117) (78,187) (59,752) (51,353)

      68,626 188,589 133,501 104,191 66,194

Shareholders’ equity     (16,722) 120,386 88,929 75,353 50,772

Net financial liabilities     85,348 68,203 44,572 28,838 15,422

      68,626 188,589 133,501 104,191 66,194



White Young Green plc Annual Report 2009
106

Information for Shareholders

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 
Annual Results 30 October 2009 

AGM 11 December 2009

Interim Results February 2010

SHARE PRICE
Information on our share price is available on the Company’s website, www.wyg.com and is also listed in a number of daily newspapers.

REGISTRAR
The registrar deals with all matters relating to the transfers of ordinary shares in the Company and with enquiries concerning holdings. The 
registrar is: Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4Tu, telephone: 0871 6640300.

The registrar’s website is www.capitaregistrars.com. This will give you access to your personal shareholding by means of your investor code 
which is printed on your share certificate or statement of holding. A range of services are available to shareholders including: setting up or 
amending dividend mandates; proxy voting and amending personal details. Most services require a user ID and password which will be sent to 
you by post once you have registered for this service on the site. 

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS
Shareholder communications can be received electronically rather than receiving hard copies by post. This offers shareholders an opportunity 
to receive company documentation quickly and in a user-friendly format while reducing costs and the consumption of natural resources.

To register for electronic communications, go to www.capitashareportal.com. you will need to register on this site first using your investor 
code and you will receive a user ID and password by post which can then be used to register for electronic communications.

WEBSITE
The White young Green plc website, www.wyg.com, includes an investor relations section which provides a wide range of information about 
the Company, including the latest regulatory news.
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This annual report demonstrates WYG’s on going commitment to 
environmental and green issues in that it has been produced by a 
printer (B & B Press) who’s entire manufacturing process is certified 
Carbon Neutral.

It is printed on LUMI which is manufactured from FSC certified 
sustainable mixed source fibres, in a mill which has ISO 9001, ISO 
14001 and is EMAS registered, using only vegetable based inks.
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